
Town of Lyman 
Select Board Regular Meeting Agenda 

Monday May 15th, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 
Welcome to the May 15th, 2023, Regular Meeting of The Lyman Board of Selectmen. 

This meeting is a public proceeding and is being recorded. 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 
a. Public Hearing regarding discontinuance of Old Kennebunk Road, or a portion of, by abandonment
b. Public Hearing regarding warrant articles 2-41 for Annual Town Meeting scheduled June 15th, 2023

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board.
b. Mail
c. Complaints

ITEM #3 MINUTES 
a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 5/1/2023.

ITEM #4 SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #49 in the amount of $24,070.09
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #48 (FY2023) in the amount of $77,006.19

ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. Stagecoach Road, discussion from last meeting, Updates from second opinion, land use attorney.
b. RFP – IT Remote Managed Services – Review RFPs, tabled from last meeting
c. Review quotes for Town Audit. Current contract expires June, 2023
d. Review Quotes for Propane 1-year contract. Current contract expires 4/2023, extended to May.
e. Franchise Agreement – Update from Tony Vigue

ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Road Commissioner –
b. Fire Chief –
c. CEO –
d. Parks & Recs – Request for approval to collect donations to purchase new playground equipment.
e. Tax Clerk – April 2023 Monthly Report
f. Treasurer – Expense Report May 11th, 2023
g. Town Hall Expansion Committee –
h. Other  -

ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Review/ approve added Warrant Article 42 & 43 for Annual Town Meeting June 15th, 2023

Schedule public hearing
b. Brian Dulong – Discussion regarding snowmobile club lease, see email
c. Michelle Feliccitti – Discussion regarding RFP for ARPA funded projects
d. Davis Road Lease exp 6/2023, request to renew, see email.
e. Rustic Dreams Catering Application Renewal, review/approve.
f. Appointment, review/approve committee application for Bunganut Committee

•William Single   • Michelle Feliccitti  •Karen Kane  •Holly Hart  •Kevin Veilleux



g. Appointment, review/approve committee application for IT Committee
•William Single   • Michelle Feliccitti   •Nigel Sampson

h. Resignation from Board of Assessment Review, Charles Harrison.
i. Appointment, review/approve deputy treasurer.

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
1.M.R.S.A §405 (A) Personnel Matters

OTHER 

ADJOURN 



1 

Town of Lyman 
Select Board 11 South Waterboro Rd 

Notice of Public Hearing Lyman, ME 04002 

The Select Board will hold a public hearing on May 15th, at 6:00pm located at the 

Lyman Town Hall for the purpose of presenting information regarding the 

discontinuance of Old Kennebunk Road, or a portion of, by abandonment.  

Old Kennebunk Road was / is now a town way approximately 66 feet wide beginning at the intersections 

of the Old North Berwick Road and running for a distance of approximately 2.58 miles in a generally 

Westerly direction to on or near the Alfred Town line, as shown more particularly on the Lyman Tax Maps 

Numbers 3 and 4, on file at the Lyman Town Hall, located at 11 Waterboro Lane, Lyman, Maine 

The Town of Lyman Select Board will vote whether to retain a public easement in the road. 

If the Town of Lyman Select Board vote to declare Old Kennebunk Road, or a portion of, discontinued by 

abandonment, the Town of Lyman will have no obligation to maintain, repair, or plow the road but the 

public will still have the right to travel over it unless the public easement is extinguished, as well. If the 

public easement is also extinguished, the Town of Lyman will have no obligation to maintain, repair, or 

plow the road and the public will not have the right to travel over it. Ownership of the road is generally 

presumed to revert to the abutting landowners to the centerline.  

Abutting property owners would have the right to maintain a road discontinued by abandonment and to 

form a road association or to enter private agreements to maintain, plow, and repair the road if it is 

discontinued by abandonment with or without a public easement. Abutting property owners have the 

right to establish private easements to provide access to their property if they do not already possess a 

private right of access. 

The Select Board will hold a public hearing on these matters on May 15, 2023 at 6:00 p.m. at the Lyman 

Town Hall. The Select Board will hold a vote to discontinue Old Kennebunk Road, or a portion of, by 

abandonment at its regular meeting following the public hearing on May 15, 2023.  

Right to Appeal 

A person affected by a vote to declare a town way discontinued by abandonment may appeal the decision 

by filing a written appeal request, pursuant to 23 M.R.S.A. § 3028-A(7) within 10 days of the vote as 

follows:   

I. With the municipal clerk for an appeal of a vote by the municipal officers in a municipality with
a board of appeals authorized to hear the appeal;

II. With the county clerk for an appeal of a vote by the municipal officers in a municipality that
does not have a board of appeals authorized to hear the appeal; or

III. With the county clerk for an appeal of a vote by the county commissioners.

ITEM #1: (a.) Public Hearing - Old Kennebunk Road



2 

Town of Lyman 
Select Board 11 South Waterboro Rd 

Notice of Public Hearing Lyman, ME 04002 

Within 15 days after receiving a written appeal request filed pursuant to this subsection, the municipal 

clerk or county clerk shall schedule a public hearing on the appeal before the municipal board of appeals 

or county commissioners and provide written notice of the hearing date to the municipal officers or 

county commissioners and the person filing the appeal request. The public hearing must occur no more 

than 30 days after the appeal request is received.   

A person aggrieved by the decision of the Lyman Board of Appeals may appeal the decision to the Superior 

Court in the county where the town way is situated, pursuant to the Maine Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 

80B. 

The select board regular meeting is scheduled to follow after the public hearing on Monday May 

15th, 2023  

Town Of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd  

Lyman ME 04002 

Select Board 

selectboard@lyman-me.gov 

Tel. (207)-247-0642 

Fax. (207-499-7563 

mailto:selectboard@lyman-me.gov


Town of Lyman 
Select Board 11 South Waterboro Rd 

Notice of Public Hearing Lyman, ME 04002 

The Select Board will hold a public hearing on May 15th, at 6:00pm located at the 

Lyman Town Hall for the purpose of presenting information regarding warrant 

articles 2-41 for the Annual Town Meeting scheduled for June, 2023 

Town Of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd  

Lyman ME 04002 

Select Board 

selectboard@lyman-me.gov 

Tel. (207)-247-0642 

Fax. (207-499-7563 

ITEM #1: (b.) Public Hearing Annual Town Meeting Warrant

mailto:selectboard@lyman-me.gov




















TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE 
SELECT BOARD FY 2024 PROPOSED SALARY CHANGES 

Due to inflation of costs for services, we are anticipating potential increases for Fiscal Year 24: 

Town Est Operating increase:  $422,759 (Paving, Plowing, Salt & Sand, Mowing, Waste Removal {transfer 

station} etc.) 

County increase: $32,573 

School increase: $93,746 

TOTAL EST INCREASE (town operating only):   $549,077 

EST MIL RATE INCREASE:   $.83 

The Board has been charged with implementing a Town Manager for FY 24 in accordance with the new charter voted 

on by the Lyman Residents in November 2022. The Residents of Lyman have also voted to have a salary survey 

completed and the Board has been charged with implementing a plan. As a result, the Board was faced with an 

estimated total increase across all salaries and benefits of approximately $153,790. 

Town Est increase with Salaries, Benefits & Operating:  $702,866 

EST MIL RATE INCREASE:   $1.07 

The Board decided to level fund the Salaries & Benefits to reduce the burden on the tax 

payers while still implementing the requests of the tax payers to have a Town Manager. Given the results of the salary

survey the board was tasked with developing a plan that would allow for the organizational restructuring of the new 

charter and have the least impact on Lyman taxpayers. To achieve this goal the Board has proposed the following to 

salaries and benefits. 

SELECT BOARD CLERK:  CONSOLIDATE THIS POSITION WITH THE TOWN MANAGER.   The Town Manager

responsibilities are very similar to this position.  Our survey consultants stated that this job description would be the 

most challenging because having a Town Manager and a Select Board Clerk is virtually non-existent.   All responsibilities 

currently held by the Select Board Clerk will become the responsibility of the Town Manager. 

TREASURER VS. FINANCE DIRECTOR:  CONTINUE WITH THE POSITION OF TREASURER.  In a Town Manager run

entity the Treasurer Title is usually held by the Town Manager.   The entity then has a position called Finance Director in 

lieu of.   In the proposed Salary Structure, the Treasurer is listed as a level 9 whereas the Finance Director is listed as a 

level 13.  In an effort not to increase the salaries & benefits more the Board decided to leave this position as is. 

DEPUTY TOWN CLERK:  COVER THIS WITH IN HOUSE PERSONNEL.  The Board took a look at these duties, and

how they are currently being covered, and decided to continue covering this using in-house personnel instead of hiring 

an additional staff member.  

TOWN CLERK:   CONSOLIDATE THIS POSITION WITH THE TOWN MANAGER.   The Town Clerk position will go from

Elected to Appointed on July 1, 2023.   No one has been appointed as the Town Clerk to date.  The Board has looked at 

these duties and consolidated the Town Clerk Title and responsibilities with the Town Manager.  Assistance will be given 

by Deputies named by the Town Manager to see these duties come to fruition. 

With a consolidation plan: 

Town Est increase with Salaries, Benefits & Operating:  $528,527 

EST MIL RATE INCREASE:   $.80 



FY 2023 APPROVED BUDGET and FY 2024 PROPOSED BUDGET COMPARISON

PROPOSED

ACCOUNT 2022/2023 2023/2024 BUDGET

BUDGET BUDGET COMMITTEE

SALARIES
Town Manager 0 100,755 100,755

Select Board Secretary 53,235 0 0

Treasurer 62,534 62,534 62,534

Tax Collector 51,851 55,751 55,751

Admin Clerk 45,728 51,578 51,578

Deputy TC/TC 7,095 0 0

Assessor 76,125 75,750 75,750

Code Enforcement Officer 78,706 65,000 65,000

Code Enforcement Assistant 27,300 27,300 27,300

Town Clerk 56,850 0 0

Ballot Clerks 6,529 8,478 8,478

Town Meeting Moderator 340 340 340

Registrar 3,410 6,000 6,000

Planning Board 3,316 3,580 3,580

Appeals Board 450 373 373

Recreation Director 3,960 3,960 3,960

Transfer Station 91,745 123,121 123,121

Eco Maine Rep 998 1,000 1,000

Road Commissioner 37,905 37,905 37,905

GA Director 3,394 3,394 3,394

Animal Control Officer 7,458 7,458 7,458

Health Officer 452 455 455

Extra Time Pay 4,700 7,500 7,500

Select Board 26,015 26,015 26,015

SALARIES   TOTAL 650,096 668,247 668,247

BENEFITS
FICA 49,766 51,199 51,199

Health 193,795 151,887 151,887

Dental 5,518 4,414 4,414

Life No Med 0 120 120

457 B Employer Match 18,120 12,614 12,614

MPERS Employer Match 26,958 29,583 29,583

PTO Buyout 4,500 4,500 4,500

Training 4,070 9,515 9,515

Memberships & Dues 645 1,895 1,895

Elections Training 0 120 120

Training Trans Station 500 500 500

BENEFITS  TOTAL 303,871 266,347 266,347

GENERAL ADMIN
Contract Svcs Equip - Professional Svcs 65,956 64,008 64,008

Contract Svcs Other - Memberships & Dues 8,517 9,071 9,071

Contract Svcs Other - Other 6,642 4,760 4,760

Utilities - Communications 7,750 10,464 10,464

Supplies - Supplies 9,383 10,211 10,211

Page 1 of 6



FY 2023 APPROVED BUDGET and FY 2024 PROPOSED BUDGET COMPARISON

PROPOSED

ACCOUNT 2022/2023 2023/2024 BUDGET

BUDGET BUDGET COMMITTEE
Supplies - Postage 9,000 8,220 8,220

Adver, Print, Forms - Advertising 4,500 4,500 4,500

Adver, Print, Forms -  Forms 9,700 8,910 8,910

Adver, Print, Forms - Town Report 6,000 2,000 2,000

Adver, Print, Forms - Tax Bills 3,100 3,105 3,105

Other - Mileage/Travel 4,888 7,366 7,366

Committees Expense 0 3,500 3,500

GENERAL ADMIN TOTAL 135,436 136,115 136,115

ELECTIONS  
Contract Svcs Other - Other 12,147 9,339 9,339

Supplies - Supplies 0 1,126 1,126

Supplies - Postage 0 1,702 1,702

Adver, Print, Forms - Advertising 0 980 980

Other - Mileage/Travel 0 414 414

ELECTIONS TOTAL 12,147 13,561 13,561

GEN ADMIN INSURANCE NON EMPLOYEE
Contract Svcs Insurance - Insurance Prop & Cas 18,244 20,068 20,068

Contract Svcs Insurance - Insurance Workers Comp 14,106 18,790 18,790

Contract Svcs Insurance - Unemployment 5,000 5,000 5,000

Contract Svcs Insurance - Volunteer 78 120 120

GEN ADMIN INS (non employee) TOTAL 37,428 43,978 43,978

CONTINGENCY
Contract Svcs Other - Contingency 0 2,500 2,500

CONTINGENCY TOTAL 0 2,500 2,500

ANIMAL WELFARE
Contract Svcs Other - Animal Welfare 6,957 6,957 6,957

Other - Mileage/Travel 2,000 1,500 1,500

ANIMAL WELFARE TOTAL 8,957 8,457 8,457

HEALTH & HUMAN SERVICES
 General Assistance

Contract Svcs Other - Professional Svcs 1,000 1,000 1,000

 Social Services

Social Services - Misc 1,086 1,131 1,131

HEALTH & HUMAN SVC TOTAL 2,086 2,131 2,131

ROADS
Repairs & Maint - Contracted Services 0 1,000 1,000

Repairs & Maint - Roads/Construction 160,500 199,000 199,000

Repairs & Maint - Roads/Resurfacing 391,000 475,000 475,000

Repairs & Maint - Roads/Repairs & Maint 94,400 139,350 139,350

Utilities - Communications 250 0 0

Roads Increase 89,450 0 0

ROADS TOTAL 735,600 814,350 814,350

BLDGS & GROUNDS CARE & MAINT
 Town Hall

Page 2 of 6



FY 2023 APPROVED BUDGET and FY 2024 PROPOSED BUDGET COMPARISON

PROPOSED

ACCOUNT 2022/2023 2023/2024 BUDGET

BUDGET BUDGET COMMITTEE
Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Professional Svcs 10,710 9,660 9,660

Repairs & Maint - Buildings & Grounds 9,425 3,700 3,700

 Recreation

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Professional Svcs 4,250 1,390 1,390

Repairs & Maint - Buildings & Grounds 3,990 1,850 1,850

 Bunganut

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Professional Svcs 600 660 660

Repairs & Maint - Buildings & Grounds 0 700 700

 Transfer Station

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Professional Svcs 1,500 2,620 2,620

Repairs & Maint - Buildings & Grounds 500 1,150 1,150

BLDGS & GROUNDS MOWING
 Town Hall

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Mowing 5,850 0 0

 Recreation

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Mowing 6,989 0 0

 Bunganut

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Mowing 27,220 0 0

 Roads

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Mowing 11,500 11,500 11,500

Town, Rec, Bunganut

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Mowing 0 50,142 50,142

BLDGS & GROUNDS PLOWING
 Town Hall

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Plowing & Sanding 5,200 4,640 4,640

 Recreation

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Plowing & Sanding 800 1,200 1,200

 Bunganut

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Plowing & Sanding 750 700 700

 Transfer Station

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Plowing & Sanding 3,500 3,000 3,000

 Roads

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Plowing & Sanding 526,260 642,400 642,400

BLDGS & GROUNDS WASTE SERVICES
 Town Hall

Contract Svcs Waste - Waste Services 1,300 1,820 1,820

 Recreation

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Waste 2,600 2,600 2,600

Contract Svcs Waste - Porta Potties 4,200 4,440 4,440

 Bunganut

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Waste 2,940 2,940 2,940

Contract Svcs Waste - Porta Potties 2,100 3,375 3,375

 Roads

Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Waste 1,000 1,200 1,200

Contract Svcs Waste - Porta Potties 300 340 340

BLDGS & GROUNDS ENERGY

Page 3 of 6



FY 2023 APPROVED BUDGET and FY 2024 PROPOSED BUDGET COMPARISON

PROPOSED

ACCOUNT 2022/2023 2023/2024 BUDGET

BUDGET BUDGET COMMITTEE
 Town Hall

Utilities - Propane 3,984 3,984 3,984

Utilities - Electricity 8,000 8,500 8,500

 Recreation

Utilities - Electricity 1,420 2,500 2,500

 Bunganut

Utilities - Electricity 4,000 4,500 4,500

 Transfer Station

Utilities - Electricity 6,700 9,000 9,000

 Roads

Utilities - Electricity 14,500 8,500 8,500

BLDGS & GROUNDS SIGNAGE
 Recreation

Supplies - Signs 500 500 500

 Bunganut

Supplies - Signs 500 500 500

 Transfer Station

Supplies  - Signs 500 500 500

 Roads

Supplies  - Signs 4,000 5,000 5,000

BLDGS & GROUNDS TOTAL 677,588 795,511 795,511

TRANSFER STATION
Contract Svcs Waste - Prof Svcs 2,700 2,980 2,980

Contract Svcs Waste - Prof Svcs Can Rental 2,400 2,400 2,400

Contract Svcs Waste - Tipping 172,197 166,250 166,250

Contract Svcs Waste - Tipping Wood 39,750 43,750 43,750

Contract Svcs Waste - Tipping Recycle 7,350 10,650 10,650

Contract Svcs Waste - Hauling 23,800 33,125 33,125

Contract Svcs Waste - Hauling Wood 31,500 27,125 27,125

Contract Svcs Waste - Hauling Recycle 8,225 11,100 11,100

Contract Svcs Waste - Hauling Metal 0 10,500 10,500

Contract Svcs Waste - Hauling Waste Oil 2,300 2,500 2,500

Repairs & Maint - Equipment 8,100 13,330 13,330

Utilities - Fuel 0 2,880 2,880

Utilities - Communications 3,500 4,000 4,000

Supplies  - Supplies 1,450 750 750

Supplies  - Personal Protective Gear 1,500 3,000 3,000

Other - State Fee's 500 500 500

Other - Health & Wellness 500 500 500

TRANSFER STATION TOTAL 305,772 335,340 335,340

PARKS & REC
 Recreation

Repairs & Maint - Equipment Repairs 900 950 950

Utilities - Fuel 0 100 100

Advert, Print, Forms - Advertising 500 200 200

Page 4 of 6



FY 2023 APPROVED BUDGET and FY 2024 PROPOSED BUDGET COMPARISON

PROPOSED

ACCOUNT 2022/2023 2023/2024 BUDGET

BUDGET BUDGET COMMITTEE
Other - Rec Programs 6,860 6,860 6,860

Other - Misc 250 250 250

 Bunganut

Utilities - Communications 4,800 600 600

PARKS & REC TOTAL 13,310 8,960 8,960

RESERVES 
Computer 10,000 10,000 10,000

Town Hall 10,000 10,000 10,000

Revaluation 18,688 18,674 18,674

So. Waterboro Rd 0 50,000 50,000

Capital Improve 15,000 15,000 15,000

Resident Disaster Relief 5,000 5,000 5,000

Kennebunk Pond 10,000 0 0

Fire Hydrants 4,000 4,000 4,000

Benefits 7,715 7,715 7,715

Charter Commission 1,000 1,000 1,000

GMFR Vehicle 50,000 60,000 60,000

GMFR Facility 16,000 16,000 16,000

GMFR Building 14,000 14,000 14,000

RESERVES TOTAL 161,403 211,389 211,389

OUTSOURCED GEN ADMIN
 Town Hall

Contract Svcs Prof - Professional Svcs 56,500 54,500 54,500

Contract Svcs Prof - Legal Svcs 32,700 34,200 34,200

Contract Svcs Prof - Audit Svcs 5,500 5,500 5,500

Contract Svcs Prof - Town Hall Phase 2 0 50,000 50,000

 Cemeteries

Contract Svcs Outsourced - Other 11,500 8,500 8,500

 Planning

Contract Svcs Prof - Professional Svcs 500 500 500

 Bunganut

Contract Svcs Outsourced - Other 41,000 41,000 41,000

Outsourced Gen Admin Total 147,700 194,200 194,200

Outsourced - Other
Library 128,678 141,270 141,270

Historical Society 5,000 5,000 5,000

PSAP Fee's 39,594 44,119 44,119

OUTSOURCED OTHER TOTAL 173,272 190,389 190,389

OUTSOURCED GMFR
Contract Svcs Outsourced - GMFR Personnel 384,804 435,968 435,968

Contract Svcs Outsourced - GMFR Contract 177,246 194,223 194,223

 OUTSOURCED GMFR TOTAL 562,050 630,191 630,191

CIP
Equipment - Computer Equipment 3,975 23,530 23,530

Equipment - Office Equipment 12,275 1,595 1,595

Page 5 of 6



FY 2023 APPROVED BUDGET and FY 2024 PROPOSED BUDGET COMPARISON

PROPOSED

ACCOUNT 2022/2023 2023/2024 BUDGET

BUDGET BUDGET COMMITTEE
Equipment - Other Town Hall 3,720 5,410 5,410

Equipment - Other Recreation 0 900 900

Equipment - Other Bunganut 0 5,000 5,000

Equipment - Other Transfer Station 300 7,900 7,900

OTHER CIP TOTAL 20,270 44,335 44,335

TOTAL 3,946,985 4,366,001 4,366,001

Page 6 of 6



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget Comm
Dept:  101 - SALARIES 

11 - Town Hall
10 - 101 Salaries - Town Manager 100,755 100,755 100,755

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

100,755

10 - 102 Salaries - Select Board Secretary 0 0 0
10-01-05 39,293 48,182 45,667 34,475 47,771 35,078 53,235

0

10 - 103 Salaries - Treasurer 62,534 62,534 62,534
10-01-01 48,073 46,381 50,879 54,849 59,556 62,440 62,534

62,534

10 - 105 Salaries - Tax Collector 55,751 55,751 55,751
10-01-02 47,712 48,547 48,651 49,604 49,382 49,641 51,851

55,751

10 - 106 Salaries - Admin Clerk 51,578 51,578 51,578
10-01-07 0 0 20,000 7,751 30,979 29,467 45,728

51,578

10 - 107 Salaries - Deputy TC/TC 0 0 0
10-01-03 6,495 5,708 6,625 6,336 6,720 2,960 7,095

0

10 - 115 Salaries - Assessor 75,750 75,750 75,750
10-01-04 42,449 42,710 43,298 9,082 71,418 58,993 76,125

75,750

10 - 141 Salaries - Code Enforcement Officer 65,000 65,000 65,000
10-01-20 67,428 68,803 68,760 69,996 69,788 80,086 78,706

65,000

10 - 142 Salaries - Code Enforcement Assistant 27,300 27,300 27,300
10-01-30 0 0 0 0 27,300 9,764 27,300

27,300

13 - Elections
10 - 181 Salaries - Town Clerk 0 0 0

10-01-10 47,724 47,697 48,651 48,578 49,381 49,381 56,850

10 - 182 Salaries - Ballot Clerks 8,478 8,478 8,478
10-01-16 4,080 1,918 6,000 5,650 4,504 3,422 6,529

8,478

10 - 183 Salaries - Town Meeting Moderator 340 340 340
10-01-21 313 0 319 319 324 324 340

340

Board Vote Budg Comm Vote

P/T   1300 HRS

process absentees day before election, town, meeting training (include minimum increase)

@ Minimum Wage

1 @ 

1 @ 1950 Hrs @

1 @ 1950 Hrs

1 @ 

1 @ 

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

Page 1 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

10 - 184 Salaries - Registrar 6,000 6,000 6,000
10-01-22 2,601 2,601 3,200 3,200 3,248 3,248 3,410

6,000

17 - Planning
10 - 146 Salaries - Planning Board Clerk 0 0 0

10-01-11 4,994 4,994 5,094 5,469 5,170 1,511 0

10 - 147 Salaries - Planning Board 3,580 3,580 3,580
10-01-12 1,624 1,663 1,656 3,210 3,057 2,275 3,316

3,580 

18 - Appeals Board
10 - 148 Salaries - Appeals Board 373 373 373

10-01-13 380 6 388 61 400 24 450

373

21 - Recreation
10 - 127 Salaries - Recreation Director 3,960 3,960 3,960

10-01-23 3,642 3,642 3,715 3,715 3,771 3,771 3,960

3,960

31 - Transfer Station
10 - 131 Salaries - Transfer Station 123,121 123,121 123,121

10-01-19 53,235 48,928 49,639 51,727 75,153 62,260 91,745

50,981

72,140

10 - 132 Salaries - Eco Maine Rep 1,000 1,000 1,000
10-01-24 918 0 936 0 950 0 998

1,000

51- Roads
10 - 151 Salaries - Road Commissioner 37,905 37,905 37,905

10-01-08 0 0 0 36,100 36,100 37,905

37,905

71 - GA 10 - 171 Salaries - GA Director 3,394 3,394 3,394
10-01-06 3,122 3,122 3,184 3,184 3,232 3,232 3,394

3,394

72 - ACO 10 - 175 Salaries - Animal Control Officer 7,458 7,458 7,458
10-36-02 6,861 6,597 6,998 7,103 7,103 7,458

7,458

99 - Not Specified10 - 179 Salaries - Health Officer 455 455 455

Stipend increase due to increase of certifying petitions

1 @ 

1 @ 

1 @ 

1 @ 

35 hrs @7  @ Minimum (Chair plus $1) increased 

@ 

1 @ 

1 Manager @ 2080

6 employees, 4160 hours 

Page 2 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

10-01-17 417 417 425 425 431 431 452

455

10 - 191 Salaries - Extra Time Pay 7,500 7,500 7,500
10-01-59 4,700 34 4,700 1,205 4,700 1,107 4,700

7,500

10 - 199 Salaries - Select Board 26,015 26,015 26,015
10-01-54 23,930 23,930 24,410 24,940 24,778 24,778 26,015

5,655

Selectman @ 5,090

Selectman @ 5,090

Selectman @ 5,090

Selectman @ 5,090

Dept:  101 - SALARIES   TOTAL 585,216 527,398 650,096 668,247 668,247 668,247 Jessica/Tom 4-1-0 18,151 2.79% 668,247 3-2-0 Brad/Amber

Dept:  102 - BENEFITS
99 - Not Specified

20 - 201 Benefits - FICA 51,199 51,199 51,199
10-01-90 35,735 30,751 35,126 29,408 44,089 40,405 49,766

51,199

99 - Not Specified
20 - 210 Benefits - Health 151,887 151,887 151,887

10-65-03 121,000 107,372 135,000 99,891 149,500 133,730 193,795

151,887

20 - 211 Benefits - Dental 4,414 4,414 4,414
10-65-01 3,300 2,992 3,500 2,558 3,750 3,590 5,518

4,414

20 - 214 Benefits - Life no Med 120 120 120
N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

120

20 - 230 Benefits  - 457 B Employer Match 12,614 12,614 12,614
10-01-63 12,900 6,156 12,000 4,589 15,028 10,606 18,120

12,614

20 - 231 Benefits - MPERS Employer Match 29,583 29,583 29,583
10-01-64 0 0 0 6,244 24,043 16,072 26,958

29,583

20 - 250 Benefits - PTO Buyout 4,500 4,500 4,500
10-01-62 4,500 0 4,500 0 4,500 0 4,500

4,500

11 - Town Hall
20 - 280 Benefits - Training 9,515 9,515 9,515

10-10-11 2,000 654 2,340 555 2,000 1,365 4,070

360

280

The Personnel Policy allows for a 6% match.

MMA annual conference (Tax Collector Request $120, Admin Clerk $120, Town Clerk $120)

Tax Collector Classes  (4) @ $55  and 1 vital records class

1 @ 

Chair @ 

7.65 % of total salaries

Calendar Year amounts.   First six months we know the cost the last six months are cost plus 10%

Calendar Year amounts.   First six months we know the cost the last six months are cost plus 10%

Personnel Policy states Life Insurance up to 1X salary.   For those that take the Health it is part of the package.  This is for those 
who don't

Page 3 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

280

220

120

60

1,375

220

4,000

Assessing Property Tax School 250

500

550

220

Town Manager classes/meetings 1,000

ACO 80

2023 budget

20 - 290 Benefits - Memberships & Dues 1,895 1,895 1,895
10-10-12 500 461 400 362 370 785 645

150

40

50

50

60

45

120

15

235

75

20

1,000

MACA - Higgins 35

2023 budget

Town Manager

Was Previously under Gen Admin Operating separated from Town Dues

MGFOA - Maine Government Finance Officers Association  1 @ $45 (Lemay)

MMTCTA - Maine Municipal Tax Collectors and Treasurers Association   $30 (Bellerose, Weiss, Lemay, Hutchins)

YCTCCA - York County Town and City Clerks Association   1 @ $15 (Weiss)

IAAO - Internal Association of Assessing Officers    1 @ $235 (Gonska)

MBTA - Maine Better Transportation Associ  1 @ $75 (Nikel)

CMAAO - Central Maine Association of Assesing Officers

Other (i.e. Committee's) 10 classes

MTCCA - Maine Town & City Clerks Assoc   $30 (Bellerose, Weiss, Hutchins, Gagne, Harrison)

MBOIA - Maine Building Officials and Inspectors   1 @ $40 (Charland)

MIAAO - Maine International Association of Assessing Officers 1 @ $50

MAAO - Maine Association of Assessing Officers  1 @ $50

MLGHRA - Maine Local Government Human Resources Association  2 @   $30 (Lemay & Gagne)

Elections Conference  -  (1) 2 days 2 nights stay (MOVED TO 102-13-20-280)

Clerk Classes - (2) @ $60  

MTCCA Annual Networking Day 

MMA Training Board of Selectmen   (25 Classes, 5 each, 5 Select members) @$55

MMA Training Zoning Board of Appeals (4 Classes)

Assessing Training/Classess

Code Enforcement Training (and assistant)

SelectBoard Clerk 4 classes @ $55

Treasurer Classes  (4) @ $55

Admin Assist Classes  (4) @ $55 and 1 vital records class

Page 4 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

31 -  Elections Training
20 - 280 Benefits - Training NEW 0 120 120 120

120

31 - Transfer Station
20 - 280 Benefits - Training 500 500 500

50-25-34 150 0 0 0 500 500

500

Dept:  102 - BENEFITS  TOTAL 243,780 206,554 303,871 266,347 266,347 266,347 Jessica/Tom 4-1-0 (37,525) -12.35% 266,347 3-2-0 Michelle/Brad

Dept:  110 - GENERAL ADMIN 
11 - Town Hall

32 - 310 Contract Svcs Equip - Professional Svcs 64,008 64,008 64,008
10-10-02 25,000 24,376 25,500 36,937 49,500 28,425
10-10-04 650 627 650 786 1,865 910
10-35-32 0 0 0 0 0 34,090
10-35-31 0 0 0 0 0 656

Total 25,650 25,003 26,150 37,723 51,365 64,081 65,956

21,500

25,000

TBD:  Remote access 350

700

TBD:  Server Cloud Backup Service (Trio & NAS Servers) 2,500

550

300

6,108

720

Mail Chimp package ($60 per month) 720

You Tube Premium 300

1,863

200

Color Base Contract 882

Color Cost per Copy - Annual 270

PRINTER

900

70

575

500

2023 budget

Base contract @ 15,000 copies

Cost per  Copy  (contractual with Kyocera) @ .02500 @ 20,000

COPIER

BW Base contract 

BW Cost per  Copy  

Base contract 

Cost per  Copy  - Annual

KYOCERA (moved from 10-10-24)

Gov.Gov (domain name)

Virtual Meeting Software

Office 365   (23 Licenses)  $493 @ 6 months $525 @ 6 months

Adobe Pro (2 licenses) EST

Trio (EST)

TBD : Monthly Services  23 Laptops/Desktops, 2 servers, 6 network devices, monitoring, updates, antivirus

TBD :  Web Hosting

Elections Conference  -  (1) 2 days 2 nights stay (MOVED FROM  102-11-20-280)  Select Board Clerk

Page 5 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

39 - 315 Contract Svcs Other - Memberships & Dues 9,071 9,071 9,071
10-10-12 7,700 7,384 8,234 7,413 8,264 7,656 8,517

1,871

7,200

2023 budget

39 - 399 Contract Svcs Other - Other 4,760 4,760 4,760
10-10-22 6,000 4,048 6,000 3,661 6,000 2,664 6,642

2,660

600

Storage Unit Rent 1,500

2023 budget

50 - 580 Utilities - Communications 10,464 10,464 10,464
10-10-25 6,000 6,226 6,500 6,429 10,600 7,349 7,750

GWI Office Phones & Internet w/ 200 mb internet ($650 per estimated current $608 7%) plus added a fax line 7,800

2,664

2023 budget

60 - 610 Supplies - Supplies 10,211 10,211 10,211
10-10-01 4,000 4,841 4,000 3,933 5,000 6,013
10-10-06 5,000 5,259 5,000 4,977 1,000 2,145
10-10-13 4,020 762 2,000 0 1,000 85

TOTAL 13,020 10,862 11,000 8,910 7,000 8,242 9,383

et. al. like below 7,500

Planning Board Findings (CEO Requested)

Verizon:   4 Cell phones (1 new transfer station) +2 mobile devices with connection ($153 plus new $40 plus 7%) plus gig 
increase

Southern Maine Planning 

Maine Municipal Association 

Liens, Lien Release  (@$19 per) (Tax Clerk Request)  70 @ $38

Page 6 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

Printer Cardriges

Receipt Paper Rolls

Calculator Paper Rolls

Paper

Pens

Pencils

Folders

Highlighters

Envelopes

Toilet Paper

Paper Towels

Hand Soap

Cleanser

Code Books

MMA Directory

H20

Assessing Requested (books reference materials etc.) 650

Tax Clerk Requested 1,154

Codes Requested 600

Town Clerk Requested (binders, protector sleeves, MMA Directory) 102

Town Clerk Requested (Labels for dog reminder notices) 35

Town Clerk Requested Toner 2 X 85 170

2023 budget

60 - 650 Supplies - Postage 8,220 8,220 8,220
10-10-03 6,000 5,821 7,000 7,541 5,200 5,641 9,000

1,200

640

420

360

600

Planning Board Notices (Code Requested) 1,800

Absentee Ballots (MOVED TO ELECTIONS)

Memory Sticks (elections)  MOVED TO ELECTIONS

Ballots from Printer (MOVED TO ELECTIONS

Moved Tax Billing postage to Tax Billing

30 Day  notices (Tax Clerk Request)  $8 @ 150

Liens (Tax Clerk Request)  $8 @ 80

BMV Reports (Tax Clerk Request)  $8 @ 52

45 Day Notices $8 @ 35

Checks  (1,000)

Page 7 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

400

2,000

600

200

2023 budget

80 - 810 Adver, Print, Forms - Advertising 4,500 4,500 4,500
10-10-05 3,000 2,077 3,000 4,175 4,000 1,582 4,500

2,460

2,040

0

0

2023 budget

80 - 830 Adver, Print, Forms -  Forms 8,910 8,910 8,910
10-10-15 1,300 3,912 5,000 3,022 4,000 3,895 9,700

0

600

165

1,500

5,460

85

200

900

2023 budget

Misc 

Book Binding for Vital Statistics

Dog License postcards

Misc Electrical application forms & Building permit placards

Transfer Station Stickers

Tax Clerk Request

Town Clerk Requested (absentees, nomination 12 ads x $70) MOVED TO ELECTIONS

Town Clerk Requested unlicensed dogs

Purchase Orders

Checks

1099's , W2's

Assessing requested  - PTS & Val Update Letters

Town Clerk requested (dog reminders, town reports, monthly reports)

Town Clerk requested for Elections (absentee's, memory sticks, ballots) MOVED TO ELECTIONS

et. al.

Notices that need to be publicly posted per MRSA ( approx @ $170 ea for portland press )

Codes Request

Reminder Notice (Tax Clerk Request)

Tax Clerk Requested

Page 8 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

80 - 850 Adver, Print, Forms - Town Report 2,000 2,000 2,000
10-10-09 5,000 4,579 5,000 5,087 5,500 4,380 6,000

2,000

80 - 860 Adver, Print, Forms - Tax Bills 3,105 3,105 3,105
10-10-28 1,300 544 1,300 889 3,030 2,356 3,100

550

475

1,400

480

200

2023 budget

90 - 910 Other - Mileage/Travel 7,366 7,366 7,366
10-10-23 4,200 2,462 4,200 2,416 3,000 3,095 4,888

CEO 2,000

850

Treasurer 1,560

1,850

791

105

120

25

65

2023 budget

19 - Committees
90 - 999 Misc - Misc 3,500 3,500 3,500

3,500

Registrar Posting

Items needed for several committees  (i.e. advertising,other services etc)

Ordinance Review

I/T Committee

Buildings and Grounds

Conservation

ETC as per Town Charter

Town Report (approx 250)

Tax Bills

Tax Bill Insert

Tax Bill Postage

MTCCA Annual Networking Day lodging

Town Clerk Requested (classes in Augusta, Waterville, Bangor, Posting & Post office 1155 X .625) plus tolls

Postage for 2'nd Installment Reminders

Printing of 2'nd Installment

At Federal Rate

Tax Clerk requested (based on 8 classes in Augusta including Admin Clerk)

Assessing requested - post covid - in person classes, workshops, meetings, etc increasing (includes lodging for property school)

Town Clerk Requested Meal reimbursement 3 @ $35

Health Officer 

Page 9 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

Dept:  110 - GENERAL ADMIN TOTAL 107,959 110,940 135,436 136,115 136,115 136,115 Jessica/Dave 4-0-0 679 0.50% 136,115 5-0-0 Dave/Michelle

Dept:  115 - ELECTIONS

13 - Elections
39 - 399 Contract Svcs Other - Other 9,339 9,339 9,339

10-10-07 7,000 3,415 7,750 8,391 7,825 3,779 12,147

3,065

Accessible Voting / Electronic Ballot     4  Elections 400

500

2,712

1,600

600

20

442

60 - 610 Supplies - Supplies 1,126 1,126 1,126
NEW 0 0 0 0 0 0

114

1,012

60 - 650 Supplies Postage 1,702 1,702 1,702
NEW 0 0 0 0 0 0

1,118

244

340

60 - 670 Supplies Signs 0 0 0
NEW 0 0 0 0 0 0

80 - 810 Adver, Print, Forms - Advertising 980 980 980
NEW 0 0 0 0 0 0

980

90 - 910 Other - Mileage/Travel
NEW 0 0 0 0 0 0 414 414 414

240

70

104

Dept:  115 - ELECTIONS TOTAL 7,825 3,779 12,147 13,561 13,561 13,561 Jessica/John 4-0-0 1,414 11.64% 13,561 5-0-0 Michelle/Brad

Dept:  117 - GENERAL ADMIN INSURANCE SERVICES (non employee)

99 - Not Specified
38 - 325 Contract Svcs Insurance - Insurance Prop & Cas 20,068 20,068 20,068

10-65-02 14,500 13,438 15,500 15,131 16,585 15,451 18,244

20,068

38 - 326 Contract Svcs Insurance - Insurance Workers Comp 18,790 18,790 18,790
10-65-04 5,000 13,768 5,500 9,952 12,500 12,535 14,106

4,950

@ 10%

July - Dec 2023  

Town Clerk Requested (absentees, nomination 14 ads x $70)

Elections Conference 2 night hotel 120 X 2 =$240

Elections Conference Meals     2 x $35

Elections Conference (166 round trip @ .625)

Ballots from Printer   $85 x 4 elections

Parking Attendants:  2 people 12 hours

Dymo Lables  (MOVED TO 110-13-60-610)

Signs (MOVED TO 110-13-60-670)

Ballots 3 elections 9,000 ballots 2500 X 3 election   1500 X 1 election

email address for electronic ballots for 4 elections.  

Dymo Lables  (MOVED FROM 110-13-30-399) 

Meals  (MOVED FROM 110-13-30-399)

Signs

Absentee Ballots (1,300 ballots @ .86 for 2 oz. for 4 elections)

Memory Sticks (elections)  4 elections  

Changing Venues Dave Riles bring voting equipment back and forth 4 elections $400 

Meals (MOVED TO 110-13-60-610)

U-Haul    $150 X 4 elections

Memory Sticks, programming and rental

Lease additional machine

Page 10 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

5,425

8,415

2023 budget

38 - 327 Contract Svcs Insurance - Unemployment 5,000 5,000 5,000
10-65-05 2,900 2,060 5,291 4,656 6,000 2,161 5,000

5,000

38 - 328 Contract Svcs Insurance - Volunteer 120 120 120
N/A 0 0 0 0 0 78

120

Dept:  117 - GENERAL ADMIN INSURANCE SERVICES (non employee) TOTAL 35,085 30,147 37,428 43,978 43,978 43,978 Jessica/Dave 4-0-0 6,551 17.50% 43,978 5-0-0 Michelle/Dave

Dept:  119 - CONTINGENCY

11 - Town Hall
90 - 999 Other - Misc 2,500 2,500 2,500

2,500

History Budget Spent

FY 2023 0 0

FY 2022 0 0

FY 2021 8,000 4,602

FY 2020 8,000 4,295

FY 2019 8,000 8,000

FY 2018 8,000 4,524

FY 2017 8,000 1,056

FY 2016 8,000 1,906

FY 2015 8,000 7,829

FY 2014 8,000 2,492

FY 2013 2,000 1,907

FY 2012 2,000 817

FY 2011 2,000 0

FY 2010 2,000 63

FY 2009 0 0

Dept:  119 - CONTINGENCY 0 0 0 2,500 2,500 2,500 John/Jessica 4-0-0 2,500 #DIV/0! 2,500 4-1-0 Amber/Michelle

Dept:  125 - ANIMAL WELFARE

72 - ACO
39 - 381 Contract Svcs Other - Animal Welfare 6,957 6,957 6,957

10-36-01 6,039 6,038 6,039 6,038 6,039 6,038
10-36-03 0 0 0 375 350 125

Total 6,039 6,038 6,039 6,413 6,389 6,957

6,607

350

2023 budget

39 @ $2 plus new boards and committees

Shelter:    $1.46 per capita @ 4525

Clinic

Jan - Jun 2024 with  10  % increase

For unseen and unplanned items.  This past year the Select Board could have used this money for downed trees at Bunganut, 
Broken Picnic Tables, Traffic Cones for the Road because of severe storm damage.  There was a water issue at Bunganut field

Adjustment in Jan of 2024 for underpayment july - dec

Page 11 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

90 - 910 Other - Mileage/Travel 1,500 1,500 1,500
10-36-23 2,000 904 2,000 956 2,000 361 2,000

1,500

Dept:  125 - ANIMAL WELFARE TOTAL 8,389 6,524 8,957 8,457 8,457 8,457 Dave/John 4-0-0 (500) -5.58% 8,457 5-0-0 Michelle/Brad Vicky out

Dept:  128 - HEALTH & HUMAN SVC GENERAL ASSISTANCE

71 - GA
39 - 310 Contract Svcs Other - Professional Svcs 1,000 1,000 Jessica/Dave 4-0-0 1,000 5-0-0 Brad/Michelle Vicky out

60-71-99 2,500 1,010 2,500 570 2,500 328 1,000

1,000

Dept:  129 - HEALTH & HUMAN SVC SOCIAL SERVICES

75 - Social Services
91 - 999 Social Services - Misc 1,131 1,131 John/Jessica 4-0-0 1,131 5-0-0 Michelle/Brad Vicky out

70-70-15 0 0 0 0 1,086 1,086 1,086

1,131

2023 budget

Dept:  128 & 129 - HEALTH & HUMAN SVC TOTAL 3,586 1,414 2,086 2,131 2,131 2,131 45 2.16% 2,131

Dept:  131 - ROADS

51 - Roads
37 - 310 Repairs & Maint - Sign Intallation 1,000 1,000 1,000

NEW 0 0 0 0 0 0

1,000

40 - 481 Repairs & Maint - Roads/Construction 199,000 199,000 199,000
40-15-01 268,392 267,309 307,096 302,546 251,000 138,480 160,500

67,000

75,000

12,000

Deer Hill reclaim 3600' 45,000

2023 budget

40 - 482 Repairs & Maint - Roads/Resurfacing 475,000 475,000 475,000
40-15-02 252,000 238,601 200,000 198,841 316,500 229,234 391,000

70,000

75,000

90,000

Mast Rd 99,000

Williams Rd 96,000

Sign Installation

At Federal Rate

LifeFlight

Grasshopper Ln

Williams Rd reclaim

Day Rd reclaim 450'

Grasshopper Ln

John St

Day Rd

Page 12 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

45,000

2023 budget

40 - 483 Repairs & Maint - Roads/Repairs & Maint 139,350 139,350 139,350
40-15-03 95,000 95,002 100,000 97,527 168,100 117,800 183,850

250

4,200

21,000

13,000

4,000

25,000

10,000

20,000

41,900

2023 budget

50 - 580 Utilities - Communications 0 0 0
N/A 0 0 0 0 0 250

2023 budget

Dept:  131 - ROADS TOTAL 735,600 485,514 735,600 814,350 814,350 814,350 Jessica/John 4-0-0 78,750 10.71% 814,350 5-0-0 Michelle/Amber

Dept:  141 - BLDGS & GROUNDS CARE & MAINT

11 - Town Hall
31 - 310 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Professional Svcs 9,660 9,660 9,660

10-10-06 5,000 5,259 5,000 4,977 7,650 6,212
10-10-21 800 576 800 832 792 832
10-10-27 1,600 766 995 492 550 523

Total 7,400 6,601 6,795 6,301 8,992 10,710

600

840

Cleaning Services General ($475 @ 12) 5,700

Deep Clean 2x a year 1,200

General Maintenance 

Security System :   Annual contract $492 parts, service etc extra

Rugs : Twice a month at $35.00

Sweeping

Cold Patch

Culverts & Ditching

Brush Cutting

Tree Removal

Deer Hill

Shore Rd. Assoc

Striping Crosswalks (includes transfer station, town hall & library)

Striping

Page 13 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

Rugs (2 x a year) 700

Additional vacuuming ($50 @ 52 wks) (resolved) 0

Fire Extinguishers Inspection 120

Windows service 2x a year 500

Misc Repairs (moved to 40-410)

2023 budget

40 - 410 Repairs & Maint - Buildings & Grounds 3,700 3,700 3,700
10-10-16 2,025 850 850 30 1,200 1,660
10-60-02 8,000 7,776 8,000 4,411 8,000 7,214

Total 10,025 8,626 8,850 4,441 9,200 9,425

1,500

200

Pest Services 350

Fire Extinguishers replacements or recharge 150

Misc Repairs (broken toilet etc) 1,500

2023 budget

21 - Recreation
31 - 310 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Professional Svcs 1,390 1,390 1,390

80-30-06 0 0 0 0 1,500 580 4,250

600

0

90

700

2023 budget

40 - 410 Repairs & Maint - Buildings & Grounds 1,850 1,850 1,850
80-32-17 2,000 9,514 2,500 2,670 2,500 2,605 3,990

Bark Mulch 550

Paint 100

Misc. Items 200

Sod and Soil 1,000

2023 budget

Rod's Electric (Generator)

Pest Control (adding playground)

Locking and Unlocking of Gate ($10 per day)

Bacteria Analysis  (3X) @ $30

Misc Repairs

Haley's for HVAC (FY 23 $1,200)

Page 14 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

22 - Bunganut
31 - 310 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Professional Svcs 660 660 660

80-30-13 600 160 600 479 550 600

600

60

2023 budget

40 - 410 Repairs & Maint - Buildings & Grounds 700 700 700

Misc Repairs 700

31 - Transfer Station
31 - 310 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Professional Svcs 2,620 2,620 2,620

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 1,500

2,500

Fire Extinguishers Inspection 120

2023 budget

40 - 410 Repairs & Maint - Buildings & Grounds 1,150 1,150 1,150
50-25-08 1,500 3,743 1,000 1,460 1,690 500

Misc Repairs 1,000
Fire Extinguishers replacements or recharge 150

2023 budget

Dept:  142 - BLDGS & GROUNDS MOWING

11 - Town Hall
31 - 370 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Mowing 0 0 0

10-60-01 4,500 5,850
partial (see plowing)

21 - Recreation
31 - 370 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Mowing 0 0 0

N/A 5,376 6,989
was previously listed under town hall
and the ballfield was listed under 85-85-85

Chadbourne Field - Clean up Spring

Pest Control 

Pest Control 

MOVED TO 142-90-31-370

MOVED TO 142-90-31-370

Chadbourne Field - Clean up Fall

Bacteria Analysis  (2X) @ $30

Page 15 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

22 - Bunganut
31 - 370 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Mowing 0 0 0

85-85-85 20,500 9,535 20,500 21,689 22,683 26,030 27,220
the above numbers include chadbourne

51 - Roads
31 - 370 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Mowing 11,500 11,500 11,500

40-15-03 11,500 11,500
partial previously in with all rep &maint

11,500

90 - Undefined
31 - 370 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Mowing 50,142 50,142 50,142

26,900

23,242

Dept:  143 - BLDGS & GROUNDS PLOWING

11 - Town Hall
31 - 360 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Plowing & Sanding 4,640 4,640 4,640

10-60-01 6,000 5,045 6,000 5,405 5,000 4,490 5,200

4,000

640

2023 budget

21 - Recreation
31 - 360 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Plowing & Sanding 1,200 1,200 1,200

80-32-16 720 435 720 350 750 700 800

Bunganut Ballfield - Soil Test

Road Side Mowing - was previously listed under roads

Plowing & Sanding parking lot

Sanding and shoveling walkways (FY 22 $520, $735 FY21, $665 FY20, $630 FY19) 16 Storms

Bunganut Ballfield - Fertilizer 5x (one time with grub control)

Bunganut Ballfield - Aerate 3x

Bunganut Ballfield - Lime

Bunganut Ballfield - Clean up Fall

Bunganut Ballfield - Overseed

Bunganut Ballfield - Clean up Spring

Town Hall

Chadbourne Field

Bunganut Park

Year 1 of 5.   July to Nov (5 months)

Year 2 of 5.  Mar to Jun (4 months) with 8% COLA

MOVED TO 142-90-31-370

Turning off water in Fall and turning on in Spring Bunganut (moved from 80-30-06)

Bunganut Ballfield - Mowing Inside 36 mowings

Bunganut Ballfield - Mow banking & lot 26 times

Bunganut Ballfield - Mowing Outside fence to roadway

Bunganut Ballfield - Mowing Outside Spectator Lawn

Chadbourne Field - Fertilize Playground 3X (1x with grub control)

Chadbourne Field - Soil Test

Chadbourne Field - Mow Playground 12 times

Chadbourne Field - Mow field & parking area 12x

Chadbourne Field - aerate playground area

Page 16 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

1,200

2023 budget

22 - Bunganut
31 - 360 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Plowing & Sanding 700 700 700

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 750

700

2023 budget

31 - Transfer Station
31 - 360 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Plowing & Sanding 3,000 3,000 3,000

50-25-39 3,000 2,270 3,000 1,235 3,000 3,140 3,500

3,000

51 - Roads
31 - 360 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Plowing & Sanding 642,400 642,400 642,400

40-15-04 431,700 408,472 466,700 449,458 467,750 469,572 526,260

450,000

Mixing of sand & salt (Dayton Snow Fighters)  4000 yds @ 9.85 39,400

150,000

3,000

2023 budget

Dept:  145 - BLDGS & GROUNDS WASTE SERVICES

11 - Town Hall
31 - 330 Contract Svcs Waste - Waste Services 1,820 1,820 1,820

10-10-06 0 0 0 0 1,300 775 1,300

Trash Removal from Town Hall 52 weeks ($35) 1,820

2023 budget

21 - Recreation
31 - 330 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Waste 2,600 2,600 2,600

80-32-02 3,000 2,310 3,000 1,875 3,000 2,760 2,600

2,600

2023 budget

35 - 331 Contract Svcs Waste - Porta Potties 4,440 4,440 4,440
80-32-03 3,100 1,330 3,100 1,680 3,200 2,575 4,200

Contractual (yr 1 of 5)  plus sanding (Dayton Snow Fighters)

SALT (1500  ton)  $100 (FY 2022 was $58  FY 2023 $78)

Fuel Surcharge (if exceeds $6.00 per gallon)

Trash Removal Kennebunk Pond & Chadbourne year round ($25)

Kennebunk Pond $75.00 (16 storms)

Snowshoeing & Sledding

Page 17 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

2,220

2,220

2023 budget

22 - Bunganut
31 - 330 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Waste 2,940 2,940 2,940

80-30-04 1,000 935 1,000 925 1,200 1,735 2,940

1,820

1,120

2023 budget

35 - 331 Contract Svcs Waste - Porta Potties 3,375 3,375 3,375
80-30-05 1,800 1,465 1,800 1,245 2,500 975 2,100

595

1,700

680

400

2023 budget

51 - Roads
31 - 330 Contract Svcs Bldgs & Grounds - Waste 1,200 1,200 1,200

50-25-26 500 1,995 700 837 700 887 1,000

1,200

35 - 331 Contract Svcs Waste - Porta Potties 340 340 340
N/A 0 0 0 0 0 300

340

2023 budget

Dept:  147 - BLDGS & GROUNDS ENERGY

11 - Town Hall
50 - 510 Utilities - Propane 3,984 3,984 3,984

10-10-17 3,500 1,162 3,500 2,079 4,000 2,274 3,984

3,984

2023 budget

50 - 560 Utilities - Electricity 8,500 8,500 8,500
10-10-30 4,000 2,693 4,000 3,150 4,000 4,255 8,000

Road Side pick up of trash

Porta Potties at Salt Shed 1 R ($85) 4 months

Propane (est 1,600 gals @ 2.49) current pricing is $1.799

Kennebunk Pond 1 R ($85) 12 months 1 H ($100) 12 months

Trash removal Pond (7 months - 28 weeks @ $65) or Dumpters

Trash removal Field (7 months - 28 weeks @$40) or Dumpters

Bunganut Ball Field 1 R ($85) 7 months

Bunganut Town Park 5 ($85) R 4 months

Bunganut Town Park 1 H ($100) 4 months

Chadbourne Field 1 R ($85) 12 months 1 H ($100) 12 months

Bunganut Town Park 2 ($85) R 4 months

Page 18 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

8,500

2023 budget

21 - Recreation
50 - 560 Utilities - Electricity 2,500 2,500 2,500

80-32-20 300 273 300 200 325 493 1,420

2,500

Kennebunk Pond Lighting (new)

2023 budget

22 - Bunganut
50 - 560 Utilities - Electricity 4,500 4,500 4,500

Electricity 80-30-16 420 415 450 475 550 565
Concession Stand 80-30-20 350 241 350 200 375

Ballfield 80-30-26 650 826 650 742 800 553
Total 1,420 1,482 1,450 1,417 1,725 4,000

4,500

2023 budget

31 - Transfer Station
50 - 560 Utilities - Electricity 9,000 9,000 9,000

50-25-13 3,000 2,411 3,000 3,133 3,000 4,343 6,700

9,000

2023 budget

51 - Roads
50 - 560 Utilities - Electricity 8,500 8,500 8,500

40-15-08 6,500 6,115 6,500 5,834 7,000 5,338 14,500

8,500

KW prior $.064494  as of 1/1/23  $.126400

Added Security & Lighting

Standard and unit costs $350 per month

KW prior $.064494  as of 1/1/23  $.126400

KW for st. lights less than TH or Trfs

Standard prior $35.47  as of 1/1/23   $52.16

KW prior $.064494  as of 1/1/23  $.126400

Standard prior $35.47  as of 1/1/23   $52.16

KW prior $.064494  as of 1/1/23  $.126400

Standard prior $35.47  as of 1/1/23   $52.16

Standard prior $35.47  as of 1/1/23   $52.16

KW prior $.064494  as of 1/1/23  $.126400

Concession Stand (using more than have in the past)  

Page 19 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

2023 budget

Dept:  148 - BLDGS & GROUNDS SIGNAGE

21 - Recreation
60 - 670 Supplies - Signs 500 500 500

80-32-12 200 46 200 67 200 409 500

500

22 - Bunganut
60 - 670 Supplies - Signs 500 500 500

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 500

500

31 - Transfer Station
60 - 670 Supplies  - Signs 500 500 500

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 500

500

51 - Roads
60 - 670 Supplies  - Signs 5,000 5,000 5,000

40-15-05 3,000 1,779 3,000 2,401 3,500 3,703 4,000

5,000

Dept: 141-148 - BLDGS & GROUNDS 580,641 555,198 677,588 795,511 795,511 795,511 John/Jessica 4-0-0 117,923 17.40% 795,511 5-0-0 Dave/Michelle

Dept:  150 - TRANSFER STATION

31 - Transfer Station
35 - 310 Contract Svcs Waste - Prof Svcs 2,980 2,980 2,980

Refrigerants 50-25-11 0 2,333 1,500 1,878 2,500 1,923 2,700

2,500

480

2023 budget

35 - 349 Contract Svcs Waste - Prof Svcs Can Rental 2,400 2,400 2,400
Can Rental 50-25-10 600 600 600 3,250 2,400 1,400 2,400

2,400

2023 budget

35 - 350 Contract Svcs Waste - Tipping 166,250 166,250 166,250
Tipping 50-25-03 100,000 121,247 100,000 89,884 164,616 125,788 172,197

166,250

2023 budget

Refrigerants  (FY 2022 $1922.50)

Can Rental: $50.00 per container currrently have 4

Tipping:  1900 Tons @ $87.50 (from 79.50)  was figuring 2166 ton but it has leveled off

Fuel Hauling - Gas for Backhoe ($40  12 trips)

Page 20 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

35 - 351 Contract Svcs Waste - Tipping Wood 43,750 43,750 43,750
Wood Tipping 50-25-23 18,250 18,408 20,000 26,029 38,000 23,495 39,750

43,750

2023 budget

35 - 352 Contract Svcs Waste - Tipping Recycle 10,650 10,650 10,650
Recycle Tipping 50-25-41 0 0 0 2,935 7,350 6,385 7,350

9,450

1,200

2023 budget

35 - 355 Contract Svcs Waste - Hauling 33,125 33,125 33,125
Hauling 50-25-02 18,600 40,425 21,000 25,005 23,800 26,505 23,800

16,625

16,500

2023 budget

35 - 356 Contract Svcs Waste - Hauling Wood 27,125 27,125 27,125
Bulky Hauling 50-25-25 17,500 5,425 17,500 30,100 31,500 18,725 31,500

16,625

10,500

2023 budget

35 - 357 Contract Svcs Waste - Hauling Recycle 11,100 11,100 11,100
Recycle Hauling 50-25-30 7,000 7,021 7,000 10,500 15,225 5,775 8,225

6,300

4,800

2023 budget

35 - 359 Contract Svcs Waste - Hauling Metal 10,500 10,500 10,500
NEW 7,175

5,250

4,500

750

35 - 358 Contract Svcs Waste - Hauling Waste Oil 2,500 2,500 2,500
Waste Oil Hauling 50-25-05 1,000 1,569 1,000 2,050 2,000 2,308 2,300

2,500

2023 budget

Tipping:  500 Tons @ $87.50 (from 79.50)

Recycle:   210 Tons @ $45 (from $35)

95 @ $175.00 per Container 

95 @ $175.00 per Container

36 @ $175.00 per Container

FY 2021 $2,051   FY 2022 $2,308

North Coast Svc TV's Monitors etc  (added $100 per trip for fuel surcharge & $70 per hour after first 1/2 hour) 1 X a month

55 @ $300.00 per Container (estimated contract ends 3/4/24)

35 @ $300.00 per Container (estimated contract ends 3/4/24)

16 @ $300.00 per Container (estimated contract ends 3/4/24)

30 @ $175.00 per Container

15 @ $300.00 per Container (estimated contract ends 3/4/24)

Other Misc Hauling (i.e. Berwick Iron & Metals) 5 trips

Page 21 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

40 - 450 Repairs & Maint - Equipment 13,330 13,330 13,330
50-25-22 300 3,533 3,000 4,189 9,100 5,147 8,100

3,500

5,000

1,000

3,830

2023 budget

50 - 570 Utilities - FUEL 2,880 2,880 2,880
NEW 0 0 0 0 0 0

2,880

50 - 580 Utilities - Communications 4,000 4,000 4,000
50-25-15 700 884 700 1,562 3,250 2,077 3,500

4,000

60 - 610 Supplies  - Supplies 750 750 750
Stickers 50-25-09 600 641 700 0 700 675

Office Supplies 50-25-19 750 504 750 392 750 1,114
Total 1,350 1,145 1,450 392 1,450 1,450

750

2023 budget

60 - 690 Supplies  - Personal Protective Gear 3,000 3,000 3,000
50-25-36 1,000 99 1,000 0 1,000 1,357 1,500

3,000

90 - 920 Other - State Fee's 500 500 500
50-25-17 450 767 450 479 450 499 500

500

90 - 930 Other - Health & Wellness 500 500 500 500
50-25-37 500 388 500 0 500 70 500

500

Dept:  150 - TRANSFER STATION TOTAL 303,141 230,416 305,772 335,340 335,340 335,340 Jessica/John 4-0-0 29,568 9.67% 335,340 5-0-0 Dave/Michelle

Dept:  161 - PARKS & REC

21 - Recreation
40 - 450 Repairs & Maint - Equipment Repairs 0 900 950 950 950

650

300

2023 budget

Office Supplies

Jackets, Gloves, Shirts, etc.

Rink Liner

Ice Rink Parts

Loader Backhoe Maintenance & misc parts

CIA Salvage Greases & repairs containers each year

Remaining additional electronic needs 

Compactor Maintenance (current year charge was $3483) 10% increase

Phone & Internet

Stickers (see Department 110)

Backhoe (avg 40 gals a month) @ $6.00

Page 22 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

50 - 570 Utilities - FUEL 100 100 100
NEW 0 0 0 0 0 0

100

80 - 810 Advert, Print, Forms - Advertising 200 200 200
80-32-23 700 488 700 0 500 500

200

90 - 940 Other - Rec Programs 6,860 6,860 6,860
80-32-18 4,000 1,087 4,000 1,381 4,000 3,089 6,860

Fairy House Building

  Less Fee's paid by users

  Less Fee's paid by users

Thanksgiving Craft

6,860

2023 budget

90 - 999 Other - Misc 250 250 250

Concert in the Park

Other programs 

TOTAL

Summer Hiking

Fall Tea Party

Pumpkin Decorating

Visit with Santa, craft, tree lighting

Pottery & Arts

Ice Skating

Memorial Day Parade

Memorial Day Weekend Hike

Kit flying and making

Vitrual 5K

Paddle Boarding

STEM Program

Snow Shoeing/Hike

Snowman Making

St. Patrick's Day Activity to go

Lean to plant seedlings

Easter Egg Hunt (or take home)

Snowblower donated for use for the skating season

Page 23 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

80-32-04 300 76 100 303 1,825 1,102 250

250

22 - Bunganut

50 - 580 Utilities - Communications 600 600 600
80-30-10 450 1,171 850 673 1,275 451 4,800

600

Dept:  161 - PARKS & REC TOTAL 7,600 4,642 13,310 8,960 8,960 8,960 Jessica/John 4-0-0 (4,350) -32.68% 8,960 5-0-0 Dave/Michelle

Dept:  171 - RESERVES EQUIPMENT

99 - Not Specified
95 - 970 Reserves - Town Reserves 10,000 10,000 John/Jessica 4-0-0 10,000 4-1-0 Michelle/Dave

Computer 10-90-01 5,000 0 5,000 5,000 15,000 15,000 10,000

10,000

Current Balance 4/12/23 10,528 

NEW Reserves - Transfer Station 0 0 0
Compactors

0

Current Balance 4/12/23 0 

Dept:  173 - RESERVES BUILDING

99 - Not Specified
95 - 970 Reserves - Town Reserves 10,000 10,000 Jessica/John 4-0-0 10,000 5-0-0 Michelle/Amber

Town Hall 10-90-03 5,000 62,779 5,000 5,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

10,000

Current Balance 4/12/23 23,156 

Dept:  175 - RESERVES CONTRACT SERVICES 

99 - Not Specified
95 - 970 Reserves - Town Reserves 18,674 18,674 Jessica/Dave 4-0-0 18,674 5-0-0 Michelle/Dave

Revaluation 10-90-11 50,000 94,966 5,000 5,000 21,668 21,668 18,688

18,674

Current Balance 4/12/23 69,387 

Dept:   - RESERVES SO WATERBORO RD

99 - Not Specified
95 - 970 Reserves - Town Reserves 50,000 50,000 Dave/John 4-0-0 50,000 4-1-00 Michelle/Amber

50,000

Current Balance 4/12/23 50,480 

Dept:  177 - RESERVES MISC

99 - Not Specified
95 - 970 Reserves - Town Reserves 32,715 32,715

Capital Improve 10-90-02 15,000 0 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000
Resident Disaster Relief 10-90-21 0 0 0 0 5,000 5,000 5,000

Kennebunk Pond 10-90-25 0 0 0 0 10,000 10,000 1,000
Fire Hydrants 10-90-14 1,500 1,500 0 0 4,000 4,000 4,000

Estimated at $200,000:    Year 4 of 10

Misc Items needed (i.e. snowshovels)

Phone 

Compactors are about $20,000 each ZERO as projected rev move for FY23 is $43K

Page 24 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

Benefits 7,715
Charter Commission 1,000

Total 16,500 1,500 15,000 15,000 34,000

15,000 Dave/Jessica 4-0-0 15,000 5-0-0 Michelle/Brad
5,000 Dave/Jessica 4-0-0 5,000 5-0-0 Dave/Brad

0 0
4,000 Dave/Jessica 4-0-0 4,000 5-0-0 Amber/Dave
7,715 John/Dave 4-0-0 7,715 5-0-0 Michelle/Amber

Health 30,000.00

Dental 575.00

Mpers 8,000.00

5 Year 7,715.00 

1,000 Jessica/Dave 4-0-0 1,000 4-1-0 Amber/Brad

Dept:  179 - RESERVES GMFR

91 - GMFR
95 - 978 Reserves - GMFR Reserves 90,000 90,000

Vehicle 10-90-10 40,000 47,793 40,000 40,000 50,000 50,000
Facility 10-90-12 16,000 6,000 0 0 16,000 16,000

Building 10-90-13 0 0 0 0 14,000 14,000
Total 56,000 53,793 40,000 40,000 80,000 80,000

Vehicle 60,000 Jessica/Dave 4-0-0 60,000 5-0-0 Michelle/Brad
Facility 16,000 Jessica/Dave 4-0-0 16,000 5-0-0 Michelle/Brad
Building 14,000 Jessica/Dave 4-0-0 14,000 5-0-0 Michelle/Brad

Dept:  171 THRU 179 - RESERVES TOTAL 160,668 160,668 161,403 211,389 211,389 211,389 49,986 30.97% 211,389

Dept: 181 - OUTSOURCED GEN ADMIN

11 - Town Hall
33 - 310 Contract Svcs Prof - Professional Svcs 54,500 54,500 54,500

Tax Maps 10-14-04 0 0 4,000 3,750 4,000 3,800
Assessing 10-35-35 0 0 0 16,738 70,000 14,896

CEO 10-35-37 0 0 0 0 0 1,442
Total 0 0 4,000 20,488 74,000 56,500

29,000

4,500

1,000

20,000

2023 budget

33 - 320 Contract Svcs Prof - Legal Svcs 34,200 34,200 34,200
10-35-14 15,000 4,693 15,000 16,671 10,000 21,348 32,700

15,000

Legal Services Assessing 2,000

10,000

700

5,000

1,500

2023 budget

James Thomas GIS Solutions

Town Business

Legal Services FOAA and Land Use

Legal Services for ZBA hearings

Tony Vigue - assisting with franchise agreement with Spectrum

Murphy Appraisal Assessing services

Fire Hydrants    Current Bal 4/12/23 $16,530

Benefits Reserve    Current Bal 4/12/23 $7,728

CHARTER COMMISSION -    Current Bal 4/12/23 $1,002

TBD : Additional I/T Services

Capital Improvement    Current Bal 4/12/23 $106,940

Resident Disaster Relief    Current Bal 4/12/23 $7,400

Kennebunk Pond    Current Bal 4/12/23 $4,422

Legal Services  Planning Board

Legal Services  Ordinance Review Committee

Page 25 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

33 - 323 Contract Svcs Prof - Audit Svcs 5,500 5,500 5,500
10-35-24 5,500 5,500 5,500 5,500 5,500 5,500 5,500

5,500

90 - 981 Other HR Job Study 0 0
5,000 5,000 5,000

90 - 982 Other TH Feasibility 0 0
10,000 370 9,631

15 - Cemetaries
37 - 399 Contract Svcs Outsourced - Other 8,500 8,500 8,500

10-38-02 5,000 6,907 7,200 7,200 9,500 9,500 71,500

3,500

5,000

2023 budget

17 - Planning
33 - 310 Contract Svcs Prof - Professional Svcs 500 500 500

10-35-36 0 0 0 0 500 0 500

500

22 - Bunganut
33 - 310 Contract Svcs Prof - Professional Svcs 0 0 0

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

2023 budget

37 - 399 Contract Svcs Outsourced - Other 41,000 41,000 41,000
80-30-25 35,000 35,000 37,000 36,000 37,000 37,000 41,000

41,000

31 - Transfer Station
33 - 310 Contract Svcs Prof - Professional Svcs 0 0

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

General Expenses:  Flags, Equipment Maint, chains etc.

Contractual Agreement with Sanford / Springvale Y (year 2 of 3)

20 Revolutionary War Veteran Markers

Contractual through FYE 2023

Page 26 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

2023 budget

51 - Roads
33 - 310 Contract Svcs Prof - Professional Svcs

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

2023 budget

11 - Town Hall
33 - 310 Contract Svcs Prof - Professional Svcs 50,000 50,000 50,000

HR Job Study 10-35-38 0 0 0 0 5,000 0
Town Hall Feasibility 10-35-39 0 0 0 0 10,000 370

Air Quality and Filtration Study 0 0 0 0 0
Total 0 0 0 0 15,000 0

50,000

Dept:  181  OUTSOURCED GEN ADMIN 181,500 99,225 165,831 194,200 194,200 194,200 John/Jessica 4-0-0 28,370 17.11% 194,200 5-0-0 Michelle/Amber

Dept: 185 - OUTSOURCED OTHER

95 - Library
37 - 399 Contract Svcs Outsourced - Other 141,270 141,270 141,270

45-10-35 110,853 110,853 115,273 115,273 120,942 120,942 128,678

141,270

Town Hall Next Phase

SALARIES/BENEFITS ACCOUNTS:

  Salaries/Hourly Wages for All Employees

  Accountant/Legal/Tax Filing/etc. Costs

  Librarian Professional Assoc. Dues

  Insurances for Building/Liability/D&O/Others

  Miscellaneous Expenses

TOTAL OPERATIONAL EXPENSES:    $26,910

  Yard Car/Lawn/Snow Removal & Sanding

  Rubbish & Book Removal

  Postage & Mailing Expenses

  Promotional/Advertising Printing Costs

  Computer Equipment/Hardware

  Computer Software/Updates

  Library Materials & Supplies

  Building Maintenance & Repaires

  Equipment Maintenance, Upkeep & Repairs

  Telephone

  Electricity

  HVAC/Propane

  Subscriptions (E-Books/Card Catalog/ILL/etc.)

TOTAL PROGRAMMING ACCOUNTS:    $14,750

OPERATIONAL ACCOUNTS:

  Contracted Cleaning Services

  Janitorial Supplies

PROGRAMMING ACCOUNTS:

  Books, CD's etc.

  Magazines

  Programs for Children, Students & Adults

Page 27 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

2023 budget

99 - Not Specified
90 - 999 Contract Svcs Outsourced - Other 5,000 5,000 5,000

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 5,000

5,000

99 - Not Specified
37 - 399 Contract Svcs Outsourced - Other 44,119 44,119 44,119

PSAP 10-35-20 32,580 32,580 35,838 35,838 38,010 38,010 39,594

44,119

2023 8.75 0.35 

2022 8.40 0.48 

2021 7.92 0.72 

2020 7.20 0.24 

2019 6.96 0.24 

2018 6.72 

2023 budget

PSAP:   Contractual ($9.75 per capita EST) @ 4525

TOTAL SALARIES/BENEFITS ACCOUNTS:    $99,210

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT ACCOUNT:    $400

Lyman Historical Society

  Fed & State Taxes 

  MMA Health Insurance

  Workers' Comp. Insurance

  MMA Annual Dues

Page 28 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

Dept:  185 - OUTSOURCED OTHER 158,952 158,952 173,272 190,389 190,389 190,389 Jessica/Dave 4-0-0 17,117 9.88% 190,389 4-0-1 Michelle/Brad

Dept: 186 - OUTSOURCED GMFR

91 - GMFR
37 - 391 Contract Svcs Outsourced - GMFR Personnel 435,968 435,968 435,968

35-35-03 244,915 244,903 316,153 316,153 372,705 372,705 384,804

435,968

37 - 392 Contract Svcs Outsourced - GMFR Contract 194,223 194,223 194,223
35-35-02 150,957 150,957 160,579 160,579 162,542 162,542 177,246

194,223

Dept: 186 - OUTSOURCED GMFR 535,247 535,247 562,050 630,190 630,190 630,191 Jessica/Dave 4-0-0 68,141 12.12% 630,191 5-0-0 Michelle/Brad

Dept: 191 - OTHER CIP 

11 - Town Hall
70 - 710 Equipment - Computer Equipment 23,530 23,530 23,530

10-10-08 0 0 0 0 33,674 47,910 3,975

2,300

Mapping GIS program

3,000

  Hosting 3,000

1,680

1,550

1,550

4,250

1,550

1,550

1,550

1,550

0

2023 budget

70 - 730 Equipment - Office Equipment 1,595 1,595 1,595
10-10-24 1,500 2,041 1,500 1,480 9,100 18,892 12,275

1,595

TRIO Server Replacement (purchased 9/2018.  Dell support will expire on the machine Oct 2023)

Selectmen Laptop Replacement

Selectmen Laptop Replacement

Selectmen Laptop Replacement

CEO Laptop Replacement

Incidentals (broken computer etc) emergencies

  15  Paid staff no email address:  recommending 20

  37 Unpaid staff no email address:

Email address through the website ($7 per person per month)

Assessor Laptop Replacement

Replace two Kyocera printers in the front office (they are currently 7 years old and parts are becoming scarce)

On-line Payment processing

  Setup

Selectboard Clerk Laptop Replacement

Page 29 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

2023 budget

70 - 790 Equipment - Other 5,410 5,410 5,410
N/A 0 0 0 0 0 3,720

3,000

1,960

450

2023 budget

21 - Recreation
70 - 790 Equipment - Other 900 900 900

80-32-15 6,000 3,447 6,000 3,332 8,000 7,818 0

900

22 - Bunganut
70 - 710 Equipment - Computer Equipment 0 0 0

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

70 - 790 Equipment - Other 0 0 0
80-30-15 1,000 2,397 1,000 0 23,900 4,400 0

90 - 999 Other - Other 5,000 5,000 5,000
80-30-15 1,000 2,397 1,000 0 23,900 4,400 0

3,000

2,000

31 - Transfer Station
70 - 710 Equipment - Computer Equipment 0 0 0

N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

70 - 790 Equipment - Other 7,900 7,900 7,900
N/A 0 0 0 0 0 300

1,500

6,000

400

51 - Roads

Camera (no one knows where it is) the septic, pump septic, & add riser

Tools

Meeting Room (i.e. State flag, framing, paint etc)

Intall camera's in the vault (i.e. stolen ballots from 2010/2011)

Map Racks (2)

Poison Ivy mitigation Chadbourne

Slab under Recycle Compactor to be replaced

Trees maintenance

Picnic Tables (7) replace from Storm

Page 30 of 31



AS OF:   April 24, 2023
Prior Acct Number 2020 2020 2021 2021 2022 2022 2023 2024 2024 Increase 2024

Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Actual Budget Requested Board (Decrease) Percent Budget CommBoard Vote Budg Comm Vote

TOWN OF LYMAN

BUDGET FOR FY 2024

70 - 710 Equipment - Computer Equipment
N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

70 - 790 Equipment - Other 0 0
N/A 0 0 0 0 0 0

Dept: 191 - OTHER CIP 98,574 83,419 20,270 44,335 44,335 44,335 Jessica/Dave 4-0-0 24,065 118.72% 44,335 5-0-0 Dave/Amber

TOTAL 3,572,263 3,100,813 3,965,116 4,366,001 4,366,001 4,366,001 400,885 10.11% 4,366,001

Page 31 of 31



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday May 1st, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Selectboard members present: Ralph “Rusty” Blackington (Chair), Jessica Picard, John Tibbetts, David Alves 
Selectboard members absent: Thomas Hatch (Vice Chair) 

ITEM #1 SPECIAL OFFERS/ PRESENTATIONS 
None 

ITEM #2 HEARING OF DELEGATIONS / PUBLIC INPUT 
a. Public Input – Public in attendance will have up to 5 minutes to address the Board.

Please use the podium to address the board.
Carol Baker-Roux – States to the board her concerns regarding the personnel salaries budget. She
was disappointed in the board’s decision to consolidate salaries to come up with a Town Managers
salary. She would have rather the board put the salary options to the voters instead.
Don Hernon – States he is asking the select board to vote on the planning board ordinance
amendment proposed for contract zoning. The planning board would like the select board to put
this amendment on the town warrant for the Annual Town meeting in June. The amendment covers
some changes to contract zoning, primarily removing the language “but not limited to” to avoid the
perception that anything can be allowed under contract zoning and rather focuses on uses that are
allowed in other areas of the town or provide an overall benefit to the Town.

b. Mail     ZBA letter (Tabled from last meeting) Letter reviewed in agenda packet.
c. Complaints

• John Mead – (Tabled from last meeting) Letter reviewed

ITEM #3 MINUTES 
a. Review / Approve meeting minutes 4/18/2023.

David Alves – Makes a motion to approve. Jessica Picard seconds. Motion passes: 4-0-0

ITEM #4 Bun SIGN WARRANTS 
a. Payroll Warrant #46 in the amount of $25,162.92

John Tibbetts – Motions to approve. David Alves seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0
b. Accounts Payable Warrant #47 (FY2023) in the amount of $593,881.89

David Alves – Motions to approve. Jessica Picard seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0

ITEM #5 UNFINISHED BUSINESS 
a. ARPA funding – Scope of work for RFPs due May 1st. Discuss putting RFPs out to bid

Ralph Blackington – Asks the board if there is anything that may need more urgent work to be
completed before they determine a date to open the bids.
David Alves – States most of the work for the lakeside will probably have to get done later in the
season given the scope of work. But otherwise, the Park can be opened and operated in May.
The board discusses scheduling opening the bids and agrees on June 5th at their regular meeting.
The board also discusses coordinating site walks for bidders.

b. Planning Board – Request for Ordinance Amendment for Town Vote (Tabled from last meeting)
David Alves – States in the past, ordinances had been passed without taking into consideration of
citizen participation. He would like to see the process with the Ordinance Review Committee be
utilized to get as much voter participation as possible before changing ordinances. He would rather
see changes go to voters in November where there is a higher turn out of voters rather than annual
town meeting which has a lower turn out. The revised charter outlines a process for ordinance

DRAFT
ITEM #3: (a.) Minutes



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday May 1st, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 2 of 5 

amendments to help support more awareness of these changes before voters. The contract zoning 
language has been brough to Town Council and MMA for review and both parties told the Town this 
was a non-emergent amendment, and the Town did not need to take immediate action to make the 
changes. He asks the Code Enforcement Office for their opinion of the contract zoning.  
Brenda Charland – States in the way the ordinance is written now she doesn’t believe there is any 
danger of creating a problem. The current zoning ordinance for contract zoning requires approval 
from both the Planning Board and the Select Board, which gives two bodies of protection for the 
Town. She’s aware there has been a lot of discussion regarding contract zoning across the state. She 
can see a potential issue with contract zoning in that it weakens your zoning ordinances by allowing 
something that normally would not be allowed. Things can happen that aren’t well defined because 
it is so subjective. She would recommend meeting with the Ordinance Review Committee if this 
were something they would review.  
Jessica Picard – Makes a motion to place the contract zoning amendment warrant proposal 
submitted by the planning board to the warrant for June 2023 Town Meeting.  
John Tibbetts – Seconds the motion.  
Jessica Picard – States the planning board has been tasked with this for over a year and she feels 
okay with putting this in front of the people at Town Meeting.  
Ralph Blackington – States he agrees with the Code Enforcements Officers point of view.  
Motion fails: 2-2 (Jessica Picard, John Tibbets in favor; David Alves, Ralph Blackington opposed) 

c. Stagecoach Road, discussion from last meeting, no further updates waiting on Town Attorney.
Lindsay Gagne – States there has been an update recently. Town Council reviewed this issue earlier
this afternoon. They advised because there is evidence from the Town Warrant in 1921 that
discontinues this road, and pursuant to state statute that prior to 1965 an easement does not get
automatically retained, this road was abandoned with no easement. The interest reverts
automatically to the abutters, there are no deeds necessary to claim ownership of the land to the
centerline. Although this may make for a civil issue between some property owners, it was done
during a time it was legal to do so and the property owners would have to come to some sort of an
agreement to reconcile passage.
Brenda Charland – States she has been approached by property owners requesting building permits
and would like to have some guidance or clarification on how to deal with these requests. She
requests a second opinion from a land use attorney.
David Alves – Makes a motion to get a second opinion of a land use attorney
John Tibbetts – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0

Jessica Picard – Makes a motion to take Item #5, (f) out of order. 
John Tibbetts – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0 

f. YMCA contract revisions, updates and park management rules, review and approve
Lindsay Gagne – Explains Town Council and the insurance underwriters both reviewed the language
originally added by the YMCA regarding liability. They both agreed the language in there was okay to
use but asked to change “additionally named insured” to “additionally insured”.  Also included is a
draft of Park Management Rules and some options for a fee structure, which the board will need to
decide what they want to charge for park use. It may make sense to focus more on collecting data for
this season in efforts to gain a better perspective of how the park performs.
Andy Orazio – States he can work with the board and make adjustments for any sort of tracking the
board prefers.

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday May 1st, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 3 of 5 

Jessica Picard – Suggests keeping the fees per car for simplicity and increasing the seasonal pass. She 
agrees with focusing efforts to collect data.  
Andy Orazio – Asks if the park passes are transferable to others in the same household.  
Jessica Picard – States the gate attendant could handle this case by case. If they know the address of 
the passholder is the same but they come in a different car we could verify it’s the right household.  
There is some discussion with the board, and they agree to a fee of $20 per car and $100 per 
seasonal pass for non-residents. Weekly will remain at $50. Senior Citizen will remain at $10 per car 
between 4p-7p and Pines Rentals will remain at $250 per day. 
Jessica Picard – Makes a motion to approve the Management agreement as outlined by Town 
Council and Park Management rules with the updated fee structure. 
John Tibbetts – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0 

d. IT Committee – approve a statement of purpose. (Tabled from last meeting)
Jessica Picard – Motions to approve the project statement for IT Committee and Bunganut
Committee
John Tibbetts – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0

e. Bunganut Committee – approve statement of purpose. (Tabled from last meeting)
Motioned to approve above (d.)

f. YMCA contract revisions, updates and park management rules, review and approve
Move out of order and discussed above.

g. Dumpster for Bunganut Park – review/approve quotes for services
Jessica Picard – Asks if the dumpster should be on a concrete pad.
Ralph Blackington – States he has been told by other waste management companies it is okay to
place anywhere.
Jessica Picard – Makes a motion to go with CIA Salvage for the seasonal dumpster rental at
Bunganut.
John Tibbetts – Seconds the motion.
David Alves – Asks how CIA has been doing.
John Tibbetts – States he hasn’t heard of any issues recently.
Jessica Picard – Verifies the dumpster can be locked to ensure it’s not being used other than for
park use.
Motion passes: 4-0-0

h. RFP – Architect Engineer Services – discuss next steps
David Alves – Suggests talking to the low bidder, maybe inviting them to a meeting. Perhaps they
can review with the board their insights of the scope and plan and what we’re not seeing that could
be addressed.
Jessica Picard – Suggests checking the references they provided.
After board discussion, a workshop is scheduled for May 16th, 2023 at 6:00pm

i. RFP – IT Remote Managed Services – discuss next steps
Lindsay Gagne – Explains there were eight RFPs submitted. Two companies are based out of Maine,
the other six are based out of other states. The companies out of state covered the services in the
scope of work in the RFP, however there was no detailed information how these companies would
facilitate in-house support, such as, if it would be through a third party or another branch office.
There are some details pertaining to charges for in-house support and additional services. Some are
hourly rates; some are charges per day. Bean data offers block time and proposed an all inclusive
price. The block time includes in-house support and additional hours for services. We bought 240
hours from the current contract with Bean Data and historically use approximately 220 hours a year.
Burgess Technology out of Bath offers a base fee for the scope of services in the RFP then there are

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday May 1st, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 4 of 5 

additional charges per hour for in-house supports and consultations. The board may want to look at 
how many hours we know we’ve used with Bean Data to help figure what those additional services 
might cost us with Burgess Technologies.  
Jessica Picard – Motions to table this item until next meeting to continue reviewing the 
information. 
David Alves – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 4-0-0 

ITEM #6 DEPARTMENT AND COMMITTEE REPORTS 
a. Road Commissioner – none
b. Fire Chief – none
c. Tax Clerk – none
d. CEO – none
e. Treasurer – Expense Report 4/27/2023 – reviewed in agenda packet.
f. Town Hall Expansion Committee – none
g. Other  -

ITEM #7 NEW BUSINESS 
a. Board approval for deputy clerk access to vault.

Jessica Picard – Motions to give deputy clerk Holli Hutchins access to the vault.
John Tibbets – Seconds the motion.
Ralph Blackington – Asks if she should she use the lock box, or we issue a key
Jessica Picard – Agrees to streamline and use the lock box. She will have a vault code
Motion Passes: 4-0-0

b. Review and approve Warrant for Annual Town Meeting June 15th, 2023
Jessica Picard – Makes a motion to approve the warrant for annual town meeting June 15th, 2023
John Tibbetts – Seconds the motion.
Brenda Charland – Asks if the board will add the amended zoning map.
Lindsay Gagne – States the board can add the zoning map by May 15th if they want to add any
changes to the warrant.
Brian Dulong – Asks if the snowmobile registration article is in the warrant. It’s verified it is.
Motion passes: 4-0-0

c. Appointment, review/approve committee application for Bunganut Committee
•William Single   • Michelle Feliccitti  •Karen Kane  •Holly Hart
Jessica Picard – Suggests since the Bunganut Committee and IT committee now have a general

purpose we should try to recruit more volunteers on both of these committees. The board agrees to
table both committees.

d. Appointment, review/approve committee application for IT Committee
•William Single   • Michelle Feliccitti   •Nigel Sampson
Tabled to recruit more volunteers, see above.

e. Appointment, review/approve committee application for Parks & Recs Committee
•Jonna Johnson   • Clair Campbell
Jessica Picard – Motions to appoint Donna Johnston and Claire Campbell to the Parks and Recs
Committee
David Alves – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 3-0-1 (John Tibbetts away from meeting)

f. Appointment, review/approve committee application for Comprehensive Plan Committee
•Don Hernon   • John Tibbetts
The board discusses tabling this until we can get more volunteers to apply for the committee.

DRAFT



Town of Lyman 

Select Board Regular Meeting Minutes 

Monday May 1st, 2023 – Lyman Town Hall 

Page 5 of 5 

g. Appointment, review/approve committee application for Ordinance Review Committee
•Don Hernon   • John Tibbetts
Jessica Picard – Asks if there is a member not attending the ORC if the ORC has one or more seats
open.
Lindsay Gagne – States there is one seat open that we know of and if the ORC wants to address
other members’ attendance they may want to come to the Select Board to discuss the issue.
John Tibbetts – States he is rescinding his application from both the comprehensive plan committee
and Ordinance Review Committee.
Jessica Picard – Makes a motion to appoint David Dulong to the Ordinance Review Committee
John Tibbetts – Seconds the motion. Motion passes: 3-1-0 (Ralph Blackington, Jessica Picard, John
Tibbets in favor; David Alves opposed)

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

OTHER 

ADJOURN 

Jessica Picard – Makes a motion to adjourn. John Tibbetts seconds. Motion passes: 4-0-0 

__________________________________________ 
Ralph “Ralph” Blackington (Chair) 

__________________________________________ 
Thomas Hatch (Vice Chair) 

_____________________________________________ 

David Alves 

_____________________________________________ 

Jessica Picard 

_____________________________________________ 

John Tibbetts 

I, Lindsay Gagne, Clerk to the Select Board of the Town of Lyman, Maine, do hereby certify that the foregoing document consisting 
of 5 pages are the original minutes of the Board of Selectmen Regular Meeting dated May 1st, 2023 

_____________________________________ 

Lindsay Gagne

DRAFT



ITEM #4: (a) Pay Roll Warrant





ITEM #4: (b.) AP Warrant













RFP IT Remote Managed Services 

Open Sealed Bids 4-18-2023 

RFP’s received 

1. Bean Data (Gray, ME)

$61,492 all inclusive

2. Burgess Technology (Bath, ME)

$49,543 plus other charges

3. All About IT (Houston, TX)

$31,080 plus other charges

4. Soft Stages Technology (Malvern, PA)

$34,200 plus other charges

5. Marco Technologies (Middletown, PA)

30,960 plus other charges

6. Communication Square, LLC (Sheridan, WY)

$32,400 plus other charges; RFP did not include on-site support

7. SPN (Fairfax, VA)

$61,240 plus other charges

8. Golden Five (San Pedro, CA

$96,000 plus other charges

ITEM #5: (B.) RFP Remote Managed Services, bids received. 



1. Bean Data (Gray, ME)

Submitted 4/14/2023

bbean@beandata.com

(207)-200-6770

44 Shaker Rd

Gray, ME 04039

Annual Cost = $36,892 

Initial startup cost none 

Plus pre purchased hours (240) $24600 

Total Annual cost $65,692 

(Remote managed services, web hosting services, domain registration, server cloud 

backup, Microsoft 365, prepurchase of service hours block time.) 

Historically we bought 240 hours of block time and used approximately 220 hours a year. 

Block time is time used for any services beyond what’s outlined in the contract) 

2. Burgess Technology (Bath, ME)

Submitted 4/14/2023

mrice@btsmaine.com

(207)-443-9554

6 Oak Grove Ave

Bath, ME 04530

Annual Cost = $49,543 

Initial Start up = Free 

(includes bizgaurd guardian managed services plan costs; barracuda appliance managed 

backup costs; sentinel one costs, barracuda email security suite costs, Microsoft 

government E3 licensing, artic wolf managed detection and managed risk) 

Plus added services 

150/hour for On-Site Services during regular hours 

180/hour for consulting and software development 

225/hour for emergency after hours work 

RFP did not include support for Audio/Video recording and/or AV equipment services.  

Initial IT Assessment at no charge. 

mailto:bbean@beandata.com
mailto:mrice@btsmaine.com


3. All About IT (Houston, TX)

Submitted 4/10/2023

rfp@aaitpro.com

(866)-322-6606

5718 Westheimer Suite 1000

Houston, TX 77057

Annual Cost = $31,080 

Initial Start up = No Cost 

(Remote managed services, licensing costs, vulnerability tests, other admin support) 

Plus added services 

95/hour for on-site services 

On site support does not detail if this is through a third party or other option.  

4. Soft Stages Technology (Malvern, PA)

Submitted 4/14/2023

rfp@softstages.com

(484)-321-8314 Ex:180

20 Mystic Lane

2nd Floor

Malvern, PA 19355

Annual Cost =   $34,200 

Initial Start up = No Cost 

(Remote managed services including 10 hours a month of on-site services.) 

Plus added services 

50/hour for on-site services beyond the 10 hours a month 

On site support does not detail if this is through a third party or other option. 

mailto:rfp@aaitpro.com
mailto:rfp@softstages.com


5. Marco Technologies (Middletown, PA)

Submitted 4/12/2023

rj.curran@marconet.com

(717)-781-4966

1501 Fulling Mill Rd

Middletown, PA 17057

Annual Cost = $30,960 

With initial startup cost = $4,245 

Total first year = $35,205 

Option to extend an additional three years. Contract includes option for Marco to 

increase costs at 10% each year if they choose to do so.) 

Additional users/devices = 104/month 

?On Site support is provided, no hourly rate is described or detail if this would be 

through a third party.  

RFP did not include: Web hosting supports, AV tech supports 

6. Community Square, LLC (Sheridan, WY)

Submitted 4/17/2023

maham.asad@communicationsquare.com

(772)-210-1040 Ex: 712

30 N Gould St, Ste 20333

Sheridan, WY 82801

Annual Cost = $32,400 

Initial Start up = $4,000 

Total First year = $36,400 

(Help desk support for user workstations including remote agent based monitoring, 

updating OS with the latest security patches and software versions, data protection 

from virus, malware and cyber attacks, setup monitor and manage user data backups 

and restore when needed, remote serves for network devices) 

On-site support not included in RFP 

mailto:rj.curran@marconet.com
mailto:maham.asad@communicationsquare.com


7. SPN (Fairfax, VA)

Submitted 4/17/2023

daryl.davies@spnsolutions.net

(301)-237-5315

10565 Fairfax Blvd, Suite 203

Fairfax, VA 22030

Annual Cost = $61,240 

Initial Start up = $4,400 

Total first year = $67,640 

(Remote managed services, licensing costs, vulnerability tests, other admin support) 

Plus added services 

120/hour for on-site services 

137/hour for after hours on-site services 

137/hour for on-site services on holidays 

On site support does not detail if this is through a third party or other option. 

8. Golden Five (San Pedro, CA)

Submitted 4/17/2023

nitin.saxena@goldenfive.net

(213)-631-5660

1379 Park Western Dr. STE 572

San Pedro, CA 90732

Annual Cost = $96,000 

Initial Start up = $3,000 

Total first year = $99,000 

(Remote managed services, IT remote support, support desk via chat, email or phone, 

daily network system and server health checkups) 

Plus added services 

800/ per on-site visit (8 hours support with ravel included) 

Added email and/or devices will incur an added cost 

On site support does not detail if this is through a third party or other option.  

mailto:daryl.davies@spnsolutions.net
mailto:nitin.saxena@goldenfive.net


PROPOSAL FOR AUDIT SERVICES 

TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE 

ITEM #5: (c.) Quotes for auditing services 



PROPOSAL TO PROVIDE AUDIT SERVICES 

TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE 

Submitted by: 

MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 
PO Box 313 

Levant, Maine 04456 
Telephone: (207) 884-6408 

Contact Person: 

Mindy J. Cyr, CPA 
maineaudits@gmail.com 

Proposal submitted: December 22, 2022 

mailto:maineaudits@gmail.com


Table of Contents 

Letter of Transmittal  4 

Firm Background 5 

Engagement Staffing  6-7

Summary of Audit Procedures 8-9

References  10 

Proposed Fee  11 



Maine Municipal Audit Services, PA

Mindy J. Cyr, CPA 

PO Box 313, Levant, Maine 04456 
Phone: (207) 884-6408 Email: maineaudits@gmail.com 

Town of Lyman 
11 S. Waterboro Road 
Lyman, Maine 04002 

Thank you for the opportunity to submit the following proposal to provide audit services to the Town of 
Lyman for the years ended June 30, 2024 through June 30, 2028. If chosen as the auditor for the Town, we 
feel that we will work well with your staff and provide the Town with an efficient, thorough, well-presented 
audit in a timely manner.  

The auditing services provided will include an independent auditors’ report and audited financial 
statements for the Town in conformance with the standards established by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board. We will conduct the audit to satisfy the requirements of the State of Maine 
Department of Audit and all other State and Federal compliance laws and regulations.  

The following sections of this proposal outline our experience and qualifications and the approach we 
take during an audit.  

Thank you for considering our firm for your auditing needs. If you have any questions or would like any 
additional information please feel free to contact me by phone (207) 884-6408 or email at 
maineaudits@gmail.com.  

Yours truly, 

Mindy J. Cyr, CPA 
Principal 

mailto:maineaudits@gmail.com


MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 

Firm Background 

The firm Maine Municipal Audit Services, PA was established in 2011 to provide accounting and 
auditing services to municipalities throughout the state. Currently, the firm provides services to 
approximately 50 municipalities from the New Hampshire border to Aroostook County.  

Maine Municipal Audit Services, PA is independent of the Town of Lyman, Maine as defined by 
the U.S. General Accounting Office’s Government Auditing Standards and generally accepted 
auditing standards.  

The firm and the partner to be assigned to the Town’s audit are properly licensed to practice as 
certified public accountants in the State of Maine. Maine Municipal Audit Services, PA is a 
professional corporation incorporated in the State of Maine.  

The firm of Maine Municipal Audit Services is a small firm with one shareholder – Mindy J. Cyr, 
CPA and is based in Levant, Maine. We anticipate utilizing the following professional staff on 
the Town’s audit engagement:  

Partner 1 

The firm has established a reputation of providing quality work in a time-sensitive manner. We 
strive to provide our clients with a prompt report and are successful in most cases.  We 
welcome questions throughout the year and are committed to being available to our clients. 
We feel that our role as the town’s auditor is more than showing up to your office once a year. 
We have assisted our clients in a variety of professional services throughout the year – for 
example: 

• Assisting in development of proper internal control systems and procedures.
• Consulting in computer software implementation.
• Bank and tax collection reconciliation problem resolution.
• Creating or revising chart of accounts.

All professional staff working on governmental audits obtains forty hours of continuing 
professional education annually, with at least twenty-four of those hours dedicated to 
governmental auditing. 



MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 

Engagement Staffing 

The following individual will be the partner assigned to the audit of the Town of Lyman, Maine. 
All staff working on audits are licensed to practice as Certified Public Accountants in the State of 
Maine and specialize in governmental accounting and auditing.  

Mindy J. Cyr, CPA is the firm’s managing partner and is involved from start to finish on all of the 
firm’s audit engagements. She is responsible for overall planning and performing the 
engagement. Her direct involvement with the audit ensures an efficient and thorough 
engagement. Mindy’s resume can be found on the following page.  



MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 

Engagement Staffing 

Mindy J. Cyr, CPA 
Levant, Maine 

Managing Partner 

Summary: 

Twenty years of governmental accounting and auditing experience, from planning audits to 
issuing audit reports to consulting on computer software and internal control systems. 

Professional History: 

2011-Current – Maine Municipal Audit Services, PA – Founding and Managing partner. 
2002-2011 – Hollingsworth & Associates, CPA, PA – Senior Audit Manager. 

Education: 

Husson University – M.S. in Business Administration – 2007 
Husson University – B.S. in Accounting – 2003 

Continuing Professional Education: 

Maine Board of Accountancy requires all licensees to complete 40 hours of continuing 
professional education every year. Mindy has completes all 40 with 32 of those hours being 
related to governmental auditing and accounting each year.  

License: 

Certified Public Accountant – State of Maine 

Professional Associations: 

Member of the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. 
Member of the New England Peer Review. 



MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 

Summary of Audit Procedures 

The audit will be an audit of the town’s financial accounts and records in accordance with 
generally accepted auditing standards and the standards for financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. The 
objective of our audit is to determine whether the financial statements prepared under GASB 
standards present fairly the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of the town. 

We follow an efficient, thorough and systematic audit approach.  

In planning and performing the audit for the Town of Lyman we will: 

• Obtain an understanding of your accounting system and internal control structure.
• Identify and assess risk factors of the town.
• Evaluate and test a sample of controls.
• Verify account balances.
• Evaluate physical security and access to computer programs and data files.
• Assist in financial statement preparation.
• Issue the following reports:

o Independent Auditors’ Report on the fair presentation of the financial
statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. We will provide;
 Six (6) bound copies and an electronic copy in pdf format.

o The annual financial reporting requirements to the State of Maine Department
of Audit in compliance with Title 30-A, M.R.S.A § 5823.

o A letter to management on any reportable conditions found during the audit. A
reportable condition shall be defined as a significant deficiency in the design or
operation of the internal control structure which could adversely affect the
town’s ability to record, process, summarize, and report financial data consistent
with the assertions of management in the financial statements.

o A report to the Board of Selectmen informing it of;
 The auditors’ responsibility under the generally accepted auditing

standards.
 Significant accounting policies.



MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 
Summary of Audit Procedures 

(Continued) 

 Disagreements with management.
 Major issues discussed with management prior to retention or

reappointment.
 Significant audit adjustments.
 Difficulties encountered in performing the audit.
 Any other issues, adjustments, or concerns encountered during the

auditing process.
• Adjusting entries and a beginning trial balance for the general ledger accounts will be

provided.



MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 

References 

We take pride in our relationships with our clients. We strive to be available whenever there is 
a question or need for assistance throughout the year. Similar engagements (5) to the Town of 
Lyman are listed below: 

Vittoria Stevens, Town Manager 
Town of Bradford 
PO Box 26 
Bradford, Maine 04410 
(207) 327-2121

Benjamin Breadmore, Town Manager 
Town of Holden 
570 Main Road 
Holden, Maine 04429 
(207) 843-5151

Suzanne Cole, Tax Collector 
Town of Levant 
PO Box 220 
Levant, Maine 04456 
(207) 884-7660

Cynthia Grant, Town Manager 
Town of Newburgh 
2220 Western Avenue 
Newburgh, Maine 04444 
(207) 234-4151

Lisa Young, Treasurer 
Town of Cushing 
39 Cross Road 
Cushing, Maine 04563 
(207)354-2375



MAINE MUNICIPAL AUDIT SERVICES, PA 

Proposed Fee 

Our proposed fee is based on cooperation from your personnel and the assumption that 
unexpected circumstances will not be encountered during the audit. If significant additional 
time is necessary, we will discuss it with you and arrive at a new fee estimate before additional 
costs are incurred.  

Five-year contract beginning the year ending June 30, 2024 – the year ending June 30, 2028 

$ 6,000 /year 



Budget proposed for FY 2024 

1600 gallons at 2.49/ per gallon (or max  $3,984) 

Champagne’s Energy Current Contract 10/1/2022 to 4/30/23 

1.799/ per gallon 

Quotes received 

Chapagne’s Energy 

1.799/ per gallon 

Contract 5/1/23 – 4/30/24 

Down East Energy 

1.649/ per gallon 

Contract season 2023 – 2024 

JP Carrol 

Was asked for a price quote. They did not submit a quote. 

ITEM #5: (d.) Quotes - Propane 



From: Trudelle, Steven <strudelle@downeastenergy.com> 
Sent: Monday, April 17, 2023 7:57 AM
To: Selectmen Board Clerk <selectboard@lyman-me.gov>
Subject: Propane price 2023/24

Good Morning Lindsay. DownEast Energy is offering 1.649 for propane. Season 2023/24 Thank you

Steve Trudelle
TSR
207-838-6899

mailto:strudelle@downeastenergy.com
mailto:selectboard@lyman-me.gov


COMMERCIAL SUPPLY AGREEMENT

Dear 

On behalf of Champagne’s Energy, thank you for this opportunity to submit the following supply 
agreement for your consideration. Since 1908, we have always had enough product to deliver 
to our customers. We have over 3 million gallons of our own oil and propane storage.

Based upon annual consumption of                   gallons of , we are pleased to 
present the following agreement option. The option is for the upcoming heating season and, if 
accepted, shall apply to all deliveries made during the period from (“Agreement 
Start Date”) to (“Agreement End Date”).

AGREEMENT SUMMARY

Product, volume and pricing:
Product: 
Gallons: 
Price: $     per gallon

This is a firm fixed price agreement based on the product, volume and pricing listed above. 
This is a “take or pay” provision - in all events, you are obligated to take delivery of the 
Specified Product and Gallons by the Agreement End Date and pay for them at the Agreement 
Price within the terms of the Agreement.

Even if you do not take delivery of any portion of the Specified Gallons before the 
Agreement End Date, you are obligated to pay for such gallons at the Agreement Price. 
After the Agreement End Date, Champagne’s Energy will have no obligation to deliver 
the remaining Specified Gallons. In the event that all gallons are delivered before the 
Agreement End Date, pricing for all additional gallons will then revert to the prevailing 
market price as described and the account shall remain on automatic delivery.

The following payment terms and agreement terms apply to all Options described above 
unless otherwise stated.

PAYMENT TERMS: Account balance is due in full within 30 days of date of each delivery. 
To avoid a late charge, payment in full must be made within 30 days of the date of 
delivery. Late charges will be added on amounts unpaid for 30 days or more computed 
at a periodic rate of 1.5% (an annual percentage rate of 18%) and calculated from the 
date of delivery.

Account # 

844 Old Post Road
Arundel, ME 04046

(207) 283-1518
www.champagnesenergy.com

Page 1 of 3CE-006



Account # 

844 Old Post Road
Arundel, ME 04046

(207) 283-1518
www.champagnesenergy.com

AGREEMENT TERMS:

1. All pricing options described above require “automatic” delivery unless Champagne’s Energy,
in its sole discretion, determines otherwise.

2. The Customer shall purchase all requirements for such products from Champagne’s Energy
for the period from the Agreement Start Date to Agreement End Date.

3. This agreement is subject to adherence to the terms and conditions within Champagne’s
Energy’s Commercial/Residential Credit application and adherence to the terms and
conditions stated herein. If the specific credit terms of the credit application are not met,
product pricing according to the terms of the agreement may be terminated by Champagne’s
Energy in its sole discretion. Any price or delivery change because of non-adherence to the
credit terms will be done without further notification to Customer. Champagne’s Energy is not
responsible for any damages resulting from nondelivery of products as a result of Customer’s
failure to comply with the terms of this agreement or the terms of the credit application.

4. Pricing does not include any local, state or federal taxes and/or fees existing or imposed
during this agreement, nor does it include any costs associated with procuring a letter of
credit or any other type of performance bond.

5. Fees, state and local taxes will be assessed, in accordance with Champagne’s Energy’s Terms
and conditions referred to below. These fees may include a Hazmat Fee, and any tank rental /
minimum usage fee that are applicable during the term of this agreement. Please inquire with
the local office on any questions relating to fees, and or the latest fee schedule.

6. This agreement pertains only to customer delivery locations/storage tanks that have
been identified and accepted by Champagne’s Energy on or before the date noted on this
correspondence. All storage tanks and related equipment must meet all local, state and federal
codes and specifications.

7. Champagne’s Energy is not responsible for damage or loss to Customer resulting from failure
to make deliveries due to inaccessibility of fill locations, Customer’s failure to adhere to
credit terms, strikes, accident, fire, war, any Act of God or other causes beyond Champagne’s
Energy’s reasonable control. Additionally, we will not be responsible for damages for failure to
deliver fuel and/or services to vacant, unattended or premises that are not readily accessible
to our employees.

8. In the absence of Champagne’s Energy receiving this supply offer signed by the Customer on
or before 12pm                         (“Offer Period”), Champagne’s Energy reserves the right, in its
sole discretion, to rescind this offer without notification to the Customer.

9. In the event of significant market changes as determined by Champagne’s Energy in its sole
discretion, Champagne’s Energy reserves the right to rescind this agreement at any time
during the Offer Period without notification to the Customer.

Page 2 of 3CE-006



Account # 

844 Old Post Road
Arundel, ME 04046

(207) 283-1518
www.champagnesenergy.com

 10. In the event of a breach or attempted cancellation of this agreement, Customer shall be liable
to Champagne’s Energy for any and all damages arising from such breach or attempted
cancellation, including but not limited to any and all attorney’s fees and costs incurred by
Champagne’s Energy in enforcing this agreement to the fullest extent allowed by law.

 11. Before Agreement Start Date, balances on Customer’s account must be current.

 12. Upon delivery of this document signed by Customer to Champagne’s Energy during the
Offer Period, this offer for a supply agreement shall be, and shall remain, a binding contract
enforceable in accordance with its terms.

Acceptance of Offer for a Supply Agreement

Please sign and date where applicable. Please forward the original to our office at your 
earliest convenience. If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to call me.

___________________________________________________  _________________________

Customer Signature (or Representative) Date

Print Name __________________________________________

___________________________________________________  _________________________

, Champagne’s Energy Representative Date

Page 3 of 3CE-006



From: Tony Vigue <tvigue1@gmail.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 12, 2023 5:01 PM

To: Bradley Morin <bmorin@bourqueclegg.com>; Selectmen Board Clerk <selectboard@lyman-me.gov>
Subject: Fwd: Lyman Franchise Agreement

Hi Brad & Lindsay,  
See Shelley's note below. 
I think you were going to look into a cable tv ordinance to adopt before the franchise is signed as required by Maine
Law. 
http://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/statutes/30-A/title30-Asec3008.html  Paragraph 5.

I'm attaching a very simple one from Dayton that Charter won't have a problem with but it doesn't give the town
much for protections.
Soooo, I am including one from Sebago that Charter really doesn't like because of the length and the Penalties.

Maybe you can craft something in between these extremes?
Let me know what you think.
Tony
Tony
(207) 642-5055 (h)
(207) 329-6243 (m)

ITEM #5: (e.) Franchise Agreement updates

http://www.mainelegislature.org/legis/statutes/30-A/title30-Asec3008.html







TOWN OF DAYTON  
CABLE TV FRANCHISING ORDINANCE 


 
 Be it ordained by the Town of Dayton, acting by and through its Board of 
Selectmen, acting as its municipal officers, that the following Cable TV franchising 
ordinance be adopted. 
 
Section 1. Short Title. 
 
 This ordinance shall be known and may be cited as the “Town of Dayton Cable 
TV Franchising Ordinance.” 
 
Section 2. The Cable TV System Franchise. 
 


A. Franchise required:   No person, firm, company, corporation or association 
shall construct, install, maintain or operate within any public street in the Town, or 
within any other public property of the Town, or within any privately owned area 
within the corporate limits of the Town, any equipment of facilities for the 
distribution of television signals, or radio signals or other intelligences either 
analog or digital over a broadband telecommunications network to any subscriber 
unless a franchise authorizing the use of the streets or properties or areas has first 
been obtained pursuant to the provisions of this ordinance, and unless such 
franchise agreement is in full force and effect. 
 
B. Review of qualifications:   Specific permission to operate a Cable TV 
system under the provisions of this ordinance may be granted by the Board of 
Selectmen to any applicant (the “grantee”) after satisfactory review of it legal, 
character, financial and technical qualifications and the adequacy and feasibility of 
the grantee’s construction arrangements, all demonstrated by the grantee to be 
adequate to protect the general public health, safety and welfare, and has approved 
the grantee’s qualifications as a part of a public proceeding affording due process. 
 
C. Duration of franchise:   Upon filing by the grantee of a proper acceptance, 
and such other bond and insurance as the Board of Selectmen may reasonably 
require, the franchise shall take effect as provided herein and shall continue in full 
force and effect for a maximum term of [ fifteen (15) ] years. 


 
Section 3. Applications for a Franchise or Renewal. 
 
 Applications for a franchise or renewal shall be filed with the Town Clerk for 
referral to the Board of Selectmen for action.  Any such application for a franchise or a 
franchise renewal shall contain the following information: 
 







1. Filing fee of [$   ]. 
 
2. Name and address of the applicant. 
 
3. Description of proposed operation including, but not limited to, hours of 
operations, operating staff, maintenance procedures, and its proposed rules of 
operation for public access. 
 
4. Subject to any applicable federal law, a statement of all television and radio 
services to be provided. 
 
5. A statement setting forth a description of any special services to be made 
available to the public, including municipal and education channels. 
 
6. A statement detailing the corporation organization of the applicant, 
identifying the number of stockholders of the company, any intra-company 
relationships with parent or subsidiary companies and a statement setting forth in 
writing any and all understandings between the applicant and any other person, 
firm or organization. 
 
7. A statement detailing the applicant’s financial statement for the two 
previous fiscal years. 
 
8. A written statement detailing the type of network proposed by the applicant 
including, but not limited to, network configuration, network capacity, two-way 
capability and proposed dates of commencement of construction and operation of 
said network. 
 
9. A written statement as to whether the applicant or any of its officers, 
directors or holders of 10% or more of its voting stock have in the past ten (10) 
years been convicted of any crime other than a routine traffic offense and the 
disposition of each such case. 


 
Section 4. Procedural Requirements. 
 
 Before the Town solicits Cable TV franchise proposals or entertains applications 
for renewals, the following procedures shall be required: 
 


A. The Board of Selectmen shall provide public notice and hold a public 
hearing to determine special local needs or interests in Cable TV programming 
and services and shall provide for a period of public comment on the same; 
 







B. Any and all franchise applications and renewal applications, and related 
documents, shall be public records and the Board of Selectmen shall provide 
reasonable notice to the public that such records are available and open to 
inspection at the Town offices during normal business hours; 
 
C. Prior to granting any franchise or franchise renewal, the Board of 
Selectmen shall provide for a public hearing on the same; and 
 
D. The Board of Selectmen shall assess such fees as are reasonably necessary 
to defray the costs of public notice, advertising and other expenses incurred by the 
Town in acting upon franchise applications. 
 


Section 5. Financial Reports. 
 
 The holder of any Cable TV franchise shall file annually with the Town not later 
than three (3) months after the end of its fiscal year two copies of its report to 
stockholders and an income statement identifying expenses and income applicable to its 
operations and the franchise fee required by its franchise agreement. 
 
Section 6. Performance Bond. 
 
 The cable operator shall maintain during the term of the franchise agreement a 
faithful performance bond running in favor of the Town with a corporate surety licensed 
to do business in the State of Maine conditioned upon the faithful performance of the 
cable company and providing for recovery jointly and severally from the principal and 
surety of the bond any damages suffered by the Town as a result of any cost incurred by 
the Town for the removal or abandonment of any property of the cable TV company plus 
a reasonable allowance for attorney’s fees and costs in prosecuting the same.  The 
amount of the bond shall not be less than twenty-five thousand dollars ($25,000), and 
written evidence of the same shall be filed with the Town. 
 
Section 7. Compliance with Law. 
 
 The cable operator shall at all times comply with all applicable federal, State and 
local laws, ordinances and regulations. 
 
Section 8. Separability. 
 
 If any section, clause or phrase of this ordinance is for any reason held invalid by 
any court of competent jurisdiction or by any federal or State regulatory agency, such 
portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct and independent provision and such holding 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.  








TOWN OF SEBAGO CABLE TELEVISION ORDINANCE 
  
Section 1.   Designation of Ordinance. 
  
This Ordinance shall be known as the Town of Sebago Cable Television Ordinance.  It is 
adopted by the Municipal Officers of the Town of Sebago pursuant to 30-A M.R.S.A. 
§3008, effective April 5, 2005. 
  
Section 2.  Definitions. 
  
For the purposes of this Ordinance, the following terms, phrases, words, abbreviations 
and their derivations shall have the meaning given herein.  When not inconsistent with 
the context, words used in the present tense include the future; words in the plural 
number include the singular number, and vice versa.  The word "shall" is always 
mandatory and not merely directory. 
  
            2.1  “Access” or “Access Cablecasting”:  Cablecasting on the Cable System’s 


access channels for the following purposes:  (i) non-commercial and non-
discriminatory use by the public; (ii) carriage of non-commercial educational 
programs or information; and (iii) non-commercial use for governmental purposes 
in accordance with the Cable Act. 


  
            2.2  “Access Channel(s)”:  A video channel(s) which the Cable Operator shall 


make available to the Town of Sebago, without charge, for the purpose of 
transmitting programming by/for members of the public, Town departments, 
boards and agencies, public schools, educational, institutional, non-profit and 
similar organizations in accordance with the Cable Act. 


  
2.3  “Affiliate” or “Affiliated Person”:  An entity that owns or controls is 
owned or controlled by, or is under common ownership with a Cable Operator.   


  
            2.4  “Alphanumeric”:  Consisting of a combination of letters and numbers, used 


in reference to keyboards permitting communication in such form and in 
reference to Channels or Programs transmitting information in such form. 


  
2.5  “Area Outage”:  An area outage occurs when cable or equipment is 
damaged, fails or otherwise malfunctions (collectively called malfunctions”), and 
ten or more Subscribers receiving services from that section of cable or that 
equipment receive unusable or no service as a result of that malfunction. 


  
2.6  “Basic Service”:  The minimum service transmitted to all Subscribers which 
includes, at a minimum, (1) all signals of domestic television broadcast stations 
entitled to “must carry” status under FCC rules, (2) any Public, Educational and 
Governmental programming required by a Franchise Agreement to be carried on 
the basic tier, and (3) any additional video programming signals added to the 
basic tier by the Cable Operator in its sole discretion. 







  
2.7 “Broadcast”:  Over-the-air transmission by a television station. 
  


            2.8  “Cable Act”:  The Cable Communications Policy and Communications Act 
of 1984, as amended by the Cable Consumer Protection and Competition Act of 
1992 and the Telecommunications Act of 1996, and as further amended. 


  
2.9  “Cablecast”:  Programming (exclusive of broadcast signals) carried on the 
Cable System. 


  
2.10 “Cable Programming Service”:  Any video programming provided over 
a Cable System, regardless of service tier, including installation or rental of 
equipment used for the receipt of such video programming, other than (1) video 
programming carried on the Basic Service tier, and (2) video programming 
offered on a pay-per-channel or pay-per-program basis.  
  
2.11 “Cable Service”: The one-way transmission to Subscribers of video 
programming or other programming services, together with Subscriber 
interaction, if any, which is required for the selection or use of such video 
programming or other programming services. 


  
2.12 “Cable Operator”: Any Person or Persons owning, controlling, operating, 
managing or leasing a Cable System within the Town, pursuant to this Ordinance, 
and pursuant to any Franchise granted to it by the Town.  This term shall include 
any lawful successor(s) to the interest of such Person or Persons where consent to 
such successor(s) is approved under the provisions of this Ordinance and under 
any applicable terms of a Franchise Agreement entered into pursuant to this 
Ordinance.  


  
2.13 “Cable System”:  A facility, consisting of a set of closed transmission 
paths and associated signal generation, reception and control equipment that is 
designed to provide Cable Service and other services to Subscribers as defined in 
the Cable Act. 


  
2.14 “Channel” or “Video Channel”:  A portion of the electromagnetic 
frequency spectrum which is used in a Cable System and which is capable of 
delivering a television channel (as defined by the FCC by regulation).   


  
2.15 “Completion of Construction”:  That point when the Cable Operator has 
provided written documentation to the Grantor that a Cable System serving 
Sebago has been fully upgraded in accordance with any applicable requirements 
of this Ordinance and a Franchise Agreement, and service has been made 
available to Subscribers and potential Subscribers pursuant to the Franchise 
Agreement.  


  







2.16 “Converter”:  A special tuner or device attached to the Subscriber’s 
television set which expands reception capacity and/or unscrambles coded signals 
distributed over the Cable System. 


  
2.17 “Downstream Channel”:  A Channel over which signals travel from the 
Cable System Headend or Subheadend to an authorized recipient of 
programming. 


  
2.18 “Downstream Transmissions”:  Signals traveling from a Cable System 
distribution point to an authorized location. 


  
2.19 “Drop” or “Cable Drop”:  The interconnection between each home or 
building and the feeder line of the Cable System. 


  
2.20 “FCC”:  The Federal Communications Commission or any successor 
agency. 


  
2.21 “Grantor”:  The Town of Sebago. 


  
2.22 “Feeder Cable”:  The cable, connected to trunk cable, from which cable 
television signal service is distributed to Subscribers, as distinguished from trunk 
cable (which distributes cable television service throughout the Franchise area) 
and drop cable. 


  
2.23 “Franchise Authority”:  The Board of Selectmen of the Town of Sebago. 


  
2.24 “Franchise”: The right, privilege and franchise to construct, operate and 
maintain a Cable System, and appurtenances or parts thereof, in the Streets, roads, 
alleys, and other Public Ways of the Town. 


  
2.25 “Gross Annual Revenues”:  Any and all payments made to or 
compensation received by a Cable Operator from Subscribers, advertisers or other 
users of the Cable System in connection with the operation of the Cable System to 
provide Cable Service within the municipality, including but not limited to 
revenues from Subscribers or users in payment for programs or signals received 
and/or transmitted, pay and subscription TV, fees paid for pay and/or pay-per-
view services, charges for installation, connection, disconnection, reinstatement, 
downgrade, upgrade and any other similar fees, fees paid for Channels designated 
for commercial use, advertising  revenue less agency fees, all home-shopping 
service(s) revenues, rentals of Local Origination facilities, rentals of converter 
boxes, remote control units and other equipment, revenues from Channel leasing, 
and any other revenues derived from the provision of Cable Service in Sebago.  
Gross revenues shall not include revenues received from cable modem service 
except to the extent that, during the term of this Franchise Agreement, federal law 
is amended, or interpreted by the FCC or a court of competent jurisdiction, to 
permit local franchise authorities to collect franchise fees on revenues a Cable 







Operator or its affiliate collects for the provision of cable modem service in 
Sebago, and in the event of a court interpretation, such interpretation is final.  In 
such an event, unless otherwise agreed to by the Town and the Cable Operator in 
writing, beginning sixty (60) days after the effective date of such amendment or 
interpretation, Gross Annual Revenues shall include such revenues related to 
cable modem service.  In the event that an Affiliate is responsible for advertising, 
advertising revenues shall be deemed to be the pro-rata portion of advertising 
revenues paid to the Cable System by an Affiliate for said Affiliate’s use of the 
Cable System for the carriage of advertising. In computing amounts due to the 
Town with respect to advertising revenue and other revenue not specifically 
attributable to residents of Sebago, such revenue shall be attributed to the Town 
on the basis of the number of Cable System Subscribers in Sebago as a percentage 
of the total number of Subscribers served by the Cable System which serves 
Sebago and other communities, using, for Sebago Subscribers and total system 
Subscribers, respectively, the average numbers of Subscribers for the period for 
which payment is made.  Gross revenues shall include those revenues of a Parent, 
Subsidiary or affiliate of a Cable Operator to the extent such revenues are 
attributable to the operation of the Cable System to provide Cable Service in 
Sebago.  Gross Annual Revenues shall not include security deposits paid to the 
Cable Operator by Subscribers, refunds and credits or any taxes, other than 
franchise fees, imposed on the services furnished by the Cable Operator which are 
imposed on the Subscriber or user by the local or any other governmental unit and 
collected by the Cable Operator on behalf of that governmental unit. 
  
2.26 “Headend”:  The electronic center through which broadcast and cablecast 
signals are electronically translated or modified for distribution over the Cable 
System. 


  
2.27 “Leased Channel” or “Leased Access”:  A video and/or audio or data 
Channel which the Cable Operator shall make available pursuant to Section 612 
of the Cable Act. 


  
2.28 “Local Origination”:  Local programming produced by the Cable 
Operator. 


  
2.29 “Other Programming Service”:  Services that a Cable Operator may 
make available to all Subscribers generally. 


  
2.30 “Outlet”:  An interior cable connection that connects a Subscriber or User 
to the Cable System. 


  
2.31 “Parent”:  When used in reference to a Cable Operator, any Person 
holding direct or indirect ownership or control of twenty percent (20%) or more 
of the rights of control of the Cable Operator; and any Person holding such 
ownership or control of a Parent to the Cable Operator. 


  







2.32 “Pay Cable” or “Premium Service”: Optional additional Program 
services, provided to Subscribers at a monthly charge in addition to the charge for 
Basic Service. 


  
2.33 “Pay-Per-View”:  Programming delivered for a fee or charge to 
Subscribers on a per-program or time basis, in addition to the charge or fee to 
Subscribers for Basic Service, or for such other service tier required by applicable 
law. 


  
2.34 “PEG”:  The acronym for Public, Educational and Governmental, used in 
conjunction with Access Channels, support and facilities. 


  
2.35 “Person”:  Any corporation, partnership, limited partnership, association, 
trust, organization, other business entity, individual or group of individuals acting 
in concert. 


  
2.36 “Video Programming”:  Programming provided by, or generally 
considered comparable to Programming provided by, a television broadcast 
station. 


  
2.37 “Signal”:  Any transmission of electromagnetic or optical energy that 
carries Cable Services from one location to another. 


  
2.38 “State”:  The State of Maine. 


  
2.39 “Street” or “Public Way”:  The surface of, and the space above and 
below, any public Street, highway, bridge, land path, alley, court, boulevard, 
sidewalk, parkway, way, lane, Public Way, drive, circle, or other public right-of-
way, including, but not limited to, public utility easements, dedicated utility strips, 
or rights-of-way dedicated for compatible uses and any temporary or permanent 
fixtures or improvements located thereon now or hereafter held by the Grantor in 
the Town which shall entitle the Cable Operator to the use thereof for the purpose 
of installing, operating, repairing, and maintaining the Cable System.  “Street” or 
“Public Way” shall also mean any easement now or hereafter held by the Grantor 
within the Town for the purpose of public travel, or for utility or public service 
use dedicated for public travel, or for utility or public service use dedicated for 
compatible uses, and shall include other easements or rights-of-way as shall 
within their proper use and meaning entitle the Cable Operator to the use thereof 
for the purposes of installing or transmitting the Cable Operator’s Cable Service 
or other service over poles, wires, cables, conductors, ducts, conduits, vaults, 
manholes, amplifiers, appliances, attachments, and other property as may be 
ordinarily necessary and pertinent to the Cable System.  Reference herein to 
“Public Way” or “Street” shall not be construed to be a representation or 
guarantee by the Grantor that its property rights are sufficient to permit its use for 
any purpose, or that the Grantor shall gain or be permitted to exercise any rights 
to use property in the Town greater than those already possessed by the Town. 







  
2.40 “Subheadend”:  A signed distribution point for part of the Cable System 
linked to the Headend by fiber optic cable, coaxial supertrunk or microwave, and 
also referred to as a “Hub.” 


  
2.41 “Subscriber”:  Any Person or user of the Cable System who lawfully 
receives Cable Services from the Cable System with the Cable Operator’s express 
permission.  


  
2.42  “Town”:  The Town of Sebago organized and existing under the laws of 
the State of Maine and all territory within its existing and future territorial 
corporate limits. 


  
2.43 “Two-way Capability”:  The ability to transmit audio and video signals 
upstream and downstream on the Cable System. 


  
2.44 “Upstream Channel”:  A Channel over which signals travel from an 
authorized location to a Cable System distribution point. 


  
2.45 “Upstream Transmissions”:  Signals traveling from Subscribers or other 
originating points on the Cable System to a cable distribution point. 
  


Section 3.  Franchise Required.   
  
     No Person, firm or corporation shall install, maintain or operate within the Town or 
any of its Public Ways or Streets or other public areas any equipment or facilities for the 
operation of a Cable System unless a Franchise Agreement authorizing the use of said 
Public Ways or Streets or areas has first been obtained pursuant to the provisions of this 
Ordinance and unless said Franchise Agreement is in full force and effect. 
  
Section 4.  Franchise Agreement. 
  
     The Municipal Officers of the Town may contract on such terms, conditions and fees 
as are in the best interest of the Town and its residents with one or more Cable Operators 
for the operation of a Cable System within the Town, including the granting of non-
exclusive Franchise Agreements for the operation thereof. 
  
     Prior to issuing a request for proposals to any Cable Operators for Franchise 
Agreements or renewals, the Town shall hold a public hearing or conduct some other 
process to determine any special local needs or interests with respect to Cable Service 
and shall allow for a period of public comment on the request for proposals. 
  
     Franchise Agreement applications, including renewal applications, and any submittals 
in response to a request for proposals or solicitation of bids and related documents, are 
public records.  Upon the filing of such documents, the Town shall provide reasonable 







notice to the public that such documents are open to public inspection during reasonable 
hours. 
  
     Each Franchise Agreement between the Town and a Cable Operator shall contain but 
is not limited to, the following provisions: 
  


(a) A statement of the area or areas to be served by the Cable Operator; 


(b) A line extension policy; 


(c) A provision for renewal, the term of which may not exceed ten (10) years; 


(d) Procedures for the investigation and resolution of Subscriber complaints by the 
Cable Operator; 


(e) An agreement to comply with the requirements of 30-A M.R.S.A. §3010 regarding 
consumer rights and protection and any amendments thereto; 


(f) Penalty provisions to enforce and compel compliance with Franchise Agreement 
provisions; 


(g) Any other terms and conditions that are in the best interests of the Town; 


(h) A provision for access to, and facilities to make use of, one or more local PEG 
Access Channels; and 


(i) A provision for the assessment of reasonable fees to defray the costs of public 
notice, advertising and other expenses incurred by the Town in acting upon applications 
for initial and renewal Franchise Agreements.  


Section 5.  Town’s Retained Rights and Authority.   
  
(a)  Right to Grant Additional Franchises.  Grantor expressly reserves the right 


to grant other such Franchise Agreements in the Town of Sebago on such terms as it 
deems appropriate and to operate a Town-owned Cable System.  No privilege or power 
of eminent domain is bestowed upon a Cable Operator by the granting of a Franchise. 


  
(b)  Exercise of Police Power.  All rights and privileges granted in any Franchise 


Agreement are subject to the police power of the Town to adopt and enforce local laws, 
ordinances, rules and regulations necessary to the health, safety and general welfare of 
the public.  Expressly reserved to the Town is the right to adopt, in addition to the 
provisions of any Franchise Agreement, this Ordinance and any other existing laws, 
ordinances and regulations (collectively “laws”), such additional laws as it may find 
necessary in the exercise of its police power.  Any conflict between the terms of any 
Franchise Agreement and any present or future exercise of the Town’s police and 
regulatory powers shall be resolved in favor of the latter.    


  







(c)  Use of Public Ways.  The right to use and occupy the Streets, Public Ways 
and public places granted in any Franchise Agreement shall not be exclusive, and the 
Town reserves the right to grant similar or other uses of the said Streets, Public Ways and 
public places to any Persons at any time during the term of any Franchise Agreement. 


  
(d)  Conflict With Public Works.  The rights and privileges granted to a Cable 


Operator in any Franchise Agreement shall not be in preference or hindrance to the right 
of the Town or any other governmental agency, improvement district or other authority 
having jurisdiction, to perform or carry on any public works or public improvement.  
Should a Cable Operator’s Cable System in any way interfere with the construction, 
maintenance or repair of such public works or improvements, the Cable Operator shall, at 
its own expense, protect or relocate its Cable System or part thereof, as directed by the 
Town or other authority having jurisdiction. 


  
(e)  Removal and Relocation.  The Town shall have the power at any time to 


order and require a Cable Operator to remove or relocate any pole, wire, cable or other 
structure machinery or equipment located within a public way that is dangerous to life or 
property.  In the event that a Cable Operator, after notice, fails or refuses to act within a 
reasonable time, the Town shall have the power to remove or relocate the same at the sole 
cost and expense of the Cable Operator. 


  
Section 6.  Bonds, Indemnifications and Insurance. 
  
            (a)   Performance Bond to Town.  Concurrent with the award of a Franchise to 
it, a Cable Operator shall file with the Town Clerk and shall thereafter annually during 
the entire term of such Franchise maintain in full force and effect at its own cost and 
expense a performance bond in the amount of at least  $100,000 to guarantee the faithful 
performance by the Cable Operator of all of its obligations under its Franchise 
Agreement.  Upon completion of any required construction or rebuild of the Cable 
System required by the terms of this Ordinance or the applicable Franchise Agreement, 
the performance bond shall be reduced to fifty thousand dollars ($50,000) for the 
remainder of the term of the Franchise Agreement.   The Town agrees to execute such 
documents as are necessary for said reduction of the Performance Bond. The bond or 
fund shall be so conditioned that in the event that the Cable Operator shall fail to comply 
with any one or more material provisions of this Ordinance or of such Franchise 
Agreement and subsequent to any notice and opportunity to cure provision of this 
Ordinance or the Franchise Agreement, then the Town may recover from the surety any 
penalties assessed in accordance with Section 10 of this Ordinance and any damages or 
costs suffered or incurred by the Town as a consequence of such breach.   Said conditions 
shall be a continuing obligation during the entire term of the Franchise Agreement.  Not 
less than thirty (30) days’ prior notice to the Town shall be provided of the Cable 
Operator’s or the surety’s intention to cancel, materially change, or not to renew the 
performance bond or security fund.  In the event that the Town recovers against any 
portion of the performance bond, the Cable Operator shall be required to replenish the 
original bond in an amount equal to the amount recovered by the Town within 30 days.  







Failure to post an additional bond on a timely basis shall constitute a violation of a 
material provision of this Franchise Agreement.   
  
            (b)  Hold Harmless Agreement.  Any Franchise Agreement shall include 
provisions whereby the Cable Operator agrees to defend, indemnify and hold harmless 
the Town and its agents from claims and liabilities arising out of the Cable Operator’s 
construction, ownership, operation, maintenance, repair and control of the Cable 
System.     
. 
            (c)   Insurance.   Cable Operator shall maintain during the full term of this 
Franchise Agreement such insurance as will protect it and Grantor from any claims which 
may arise directly or indirectly or result from Cable Operator’s ownership, construction, 
repair, operation or maintenance of Cable Operator’s cable system serving Sebago, 
whether such activities are performed by Cable Operator, or by anyone for whose acts 
Cable Operator may be liable, under the following policies: 
 
                        (1)        Workers’ Compensation and any other legally required employee 
                                     benefits, shall be supplied in such amounts as required by law; 
 
                        (2)        Property insurance, all risk, replacement cost basis, on all 
                        insurable Cable Operator assets in the Town; 
 


(3)  General Liability insurance shall be supplied in the following           
amount:  combined single limit for bodily injury, personal injury, 
death or property damage in the amount of at least $3,000,000 per 
occurrence (which may be supplied by a combination of primary 
and excess policy limits). 


  
            (d)   Non-waiver.  Neither the provisions of this Section, nor any bonds accepted 
by the Town pursuant hereto, nor any damage recovered by the Town there under, shall 
be construed to excuse unfaithful performance by the Cable Operator or limit the liability 
of the Cable Operator under this Ordinance or the Franchise Agreement for damages, 
either to the full amount of the bond or otherwise.  
  
Section 7.  Application. 
  
            (a)  Any application for a cable television Franchise Agreement in the Town must 
contain the following information, except that in the case of a renewal Franchise 
Agreement, only the information listed under this Section 7(a)(1) through (2)(A), 2(B) 
and 2(C) shall be required: 
  


(1)  The name, address, and telephone, number of the applicant. 
 
(2)  The most recent 10-Q or 10-K of the Cable Operator or its ultimate parent 


company as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission.  In the 
event the Cable Operator does not, at the time of application, file 10-Q or 







10-K filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, it shall 
instead file with the Town the following:  A detailed statement of the 
corporate or other business entity organization of the applicant, including 
but not limited to, the following and to whatever extent required by the 
Town: 


A.  The names and business addresses of all officers and directors of 
the applicant. 


B.  The names and business addresses of all officers, Persons and 
entities having, controlling, or being entitled to have or control 15% 
or more of the ownership of the applicant and each Parent, Affiliate 
or subsidiary of the applicant and the respective ownership share of 
each such person or entity. 


C.  The names and addresses of any Parent, Affiliate or subsidiary of 
the applicant, namely, any other business entity owning or 
controlling applicant in whole or in part or owned or controlled in 
whole or in part by the applicant, and a statement of the nature of 
any such Parent, Affiliate or subsidiary business entity, including 
but not limited to Cable Systems owned or controlled by the 
applicant, its Parent, Affiliate and subsidiary and the areas served 
thereby.   


D.  A detailed description of all previous experience of the applicant in 
providing Cable Service and in related or similar fields. 


E.  A detailed and complete financial statement of the applicant, its 
Parents, Affiliates and its subsidiaries, prepared by a certified 
public accountant, for the fiscal year next preceding the date of the 
application hereunder, or a letter or other acceptable evidence in 
writing from a recognized lending institution or funding source, 
addressed to both the applicant and the Town’s Board of Selectmen, 
setting forth the basis for a study performed by such lending 
institution or funding source to provide whatever capital shall be 
required by the applicant to construct and operate the proposed  
Cable System in the Town, or a statement from a certified public 
accountant certifying that the applicant has available sufficient free, 
net and uncommitted cash resources to construct and operate the 
proposed Cable System in the Town. 


F.  A statement identifying, by place and date, any other cable 
television Franchise(s) awarded to the applicant, its Parent, Affiliate 
or subsidiary, the status of said Franchise(s) with respect to 
completion thereof; the total cost of completion or such Cable 
System(s); and the amount of applicant's and its Parent's, Affiliate’s 
or subsidiary's resources committed to the completion thereof. 







(3)  In the case of an application for an initial franchise for a new cable system 
serving Sebago, the applicant shall provide a detailed description of the 
proposed plan of operation of the applicant which shall include, but not be 
limited to, the following:  


  
A.  A detailed map indicating all areas proposed to be served, and a 


proposed construction time schedule for the installation of all 
equipment necessary to become operational throughout the entire 
area to be served, and the time of commencement of construction 
and anticipated operation date. 


B.  A statement or schedule setting forth all proposed classifications of 
rates and charges to be made against Subscribers and all rates and 
charges to be made against Subscribers and all rates and charges as 
to each of said classifications, including installation charges and 
service charges and deposit agreement. 


C.  A detailed, informative, and referenced statement describing the 
actual equipment and operational standards proposed by the 
applicant.  In no event shall said operational and performance 
standards be less than those contained in Title 47 C.F.R. Subpart K 
(Sections 76.601, et seq.), of the Rules and Regulations of the FCC, 
as amended in the future, and shall in addition comply with Section 
13 herein. 


D.  A copy of the form of any agreement, undertaking, or other 
instrument proposed to be entered into between the applicant and 
any Subscriber and between the applicant and any lessee of any 
Channel, including provisions for reimbursement in the event of 
interruption of service. 


E.  A detailed statement setting forth in its entirety any and all 
agreements and undertakings, whether formal or informal, written, 
oral, or implied, existing or proposed to exist between the applicant 
and any Persons, firm, or corporation which materially relate or 
pertain to or depend upon the application and the granting of the 
contract.  


(4) A detailed statement setting forth in its entirety the proposed Cable System 
design.  Such statement shall include proposals concerning system architecture, 
Channel capacity, Channel uses, access, programming facilities, studio 
location, point to point service, two-way service, Subscriber privacy, and 
interconnection. 


(5) Such other information as required by the Town at the time of the Franchise 
application. 







(6) No Franchise, including Franchise renewals, will be granted hereunder 
without notice to the public and a public hearing. 


Section 8.  Contract Term, Termination and Renewal. 


(a) Term.  Any Franchise awarded by the Board of Selectmen under this 
Ordinance shall be for a term of not more than ten (10) years.  


  
            Any renewal of a Franchise Agreement shall be upon such terms and conditions 
as the Board of Selectmen and the Cable Operator may mutually agree upon in 
accordance with the Cable Act and applicable federal law.  Such renewal shall be for a 
period of not more than ten (10) years from the expiration of the previous Franchise.   
              
            (b) Termination.  The Franchise Authority may revoke or terminate any 
Franchise awarded pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance and federal law or may 
impose reasonable penalties upon 30 days written notice to the Cable Operator, and after 
hearing in the event that the Cable Operator:  (i) Violates any material provision of its 
Franchise Agreement or any rule, order or determination of the Town made pursuant to 
the Franchise Agreement or this Ordinance where such violation remains uncured for a 
period of thirty days  or such time as is mutually agreed to following notice to the Cable 
Operator by the Town that such violation is deemed to exist; (ii)  Attempts to evade any 
material provision of its Franchise Agreement or practices any fraud or deceit upon the 
Town; or (iii) Fails to provide or maintain in full force and effect the insurance coverages 
and the performance bond  as required by this Ordinance and the terms of the Franchise 
Agreement. 


   
        Any appeal or challenge to a revocation or termination of a Franchise Agreement 
shall be to the Cumberland County Superior Court or the U.S. District Court for the 
District of Maine.  


(c)  Public Hearing - New Franchise and/or Renewal.  Before authorizing the 
issuance of any such Franchise Agreement, including renewals, the Board of Selectmen 
shall review, in accordance with federal law, the applicant’s legal, financial and technical 
qualifications, the proposed agreement’s ability to meet current and future cable-related 
needs and interests of the Town in light of the costs of meeting those needs and interests, 
and the adequacy and feasibility of the applicant’s qualifications to operate a Cable 
System within the Town, and shall conduct a public hearing thereon with at least seven 
days advertised notice prior to said public hearing.  Such public hearing shall provide a 
reasonable opportunity for public input on the proposed Franchise Agreement or renewal.  


(d) Restriction on Transfer or Change of Control.   


(1) Neither this Franchise Agreement, nor any rights or obligations of the Cable 
Operator in or pursuant to this Franchise Agreement or the Cable System shall be 
transferred in part or as a whole, by assignment, trust, lease, sublease, and is not to be 
sold, transferred, leased, assigned, or disposed of in part or as a whole, either by forced 
sale, merger, consolidation, or otherwise, nor shall title thereto, either legal or equitable, 







or any right or interest therein, pass to or vest in any Person, nor shall any change in 
control of the Cable Operator or the Cable System occur, either by any act of the Cable 
Operator or by any parent company of the Cable Operator, by operation of law or 
otherwise, in each such case without the prior consent of the Town, which consent shall 
not be unreasonably withheld or delayed, and which shall be expressed in writing,  
subject to reasonable and lawful conditions, including, but not limited to, curing any 
Franchise non-compliance.  Any assignment or transfer without such prior written 
consent or without “deemed consent” under applicable federal law shall constitute a 
violation of a material provision of any Franchise Agreement  
  


(2) For purposes of this Section, any sale, assignment or any other disposition of a 
twenty percent (20%) ownership interest of the Cable Operator or parent company of the 
Cable Operator to any one Person or group of Persons acting in concert, in one 
transaction or a series of related transactions, shall be deemed to be a change of control of 
the Franchisee. The word "control" as used in this section is not limited to major 
stockholders but includes actual working control in whatever manner exercised. 
  


(3) Neither the Cable Operator nor its parent company shall enter into any third 
party management contract or any other arrangement for the management of the Cable 
System, without the prior written consent of the Town, subject to reasonable and lawful 
conditions, including, but not limited to, curing any Franchise non-compliance. 
  


(4) No consent will be required for a transfer in trust, mortgage or hypothecation to 
secure an indebtedness, provided that such transaction will not in any respect prevent the 
Cable Operator or any successor from complying with all of its obligations under its 
Franchise Agreement, but the exercise of any right to foreclose or seize such pledged 
assets shall be subject to the provisions of this paragraph.  No transfer of control will be 
deemed to have taken place if the transfer is to an entity under common control with the 
Cable Operator provided such entity has equal or greater financial resources than the 
transferor and provided the transfer does not involve a change in the management or day 
to day operations of the Cable Operator. 
  


(5) The Cable Operator shall promptly notify the Town of any action or proposed 
action requiring the consent of the Town pursuant to this Section. 
  


(6) The Cable Operator shall submit to the Town an original and three  (3) copies of 
its FCC Form 394 (or such other or successor form used to request consent to any such 
Transfer or assignment), which form shall fully describe the action or proposed action 
and clearly state the basis on which the Transfer or assignment should be approved. The 
Cable Operator shall include with the application complete responses to the informational 
requests attached to this Ordinance as Exhibit A.  The request for approval of Transfer or 
assignment shall also contain all reasonably appropriate documentation and such 
additional information as the Town may reasonably require, provided that to the extent 
the Town requests additional information other than as described in Exhibit A to this 
Ordinance, the Town shall issue such request to the Cable Operator within 30 days of 
receipt of the application, and the Cable Operator shall respond to such requests for 







additional information within 30 days.  The Transfer or assignment form shall be signed 
by the Cable Operator and by the proposed transferee or by its representative, evidence of 
whose authority shall be submitted with such petition.   
  


 (7) The consent of the Town shall be given only after a public hearing, if such a 
hearing is deemed necessary by either the Town or the transferee, to consider the written 
request for Transfer. The Town shall complete review of the request for Transfer and 
make a decision thereto no later than one hundred twenty (120) days after receipt of the 
request for Transfer. If the Town fails to render a final decision on such request within 
said 120 days, such request shall be deemed granted unless the requesting party and the 
Town agree to an extension of time.  In the event the Town requests additional 
information pursuant to Section 8(d)(6) of this Ordinance and the Cable Operator fails to 
provide responses within thirty (30) days of receipt of such request, the Town’s deadline 
to make a decision on the transfer request, and the date by which such transfer request is 
deemed granted, shall be thirty (30) days after the Town’s receipt of such responses. 
  


(8) For purposes of determining whether it shall consent to any such change of 
control and ownership, the Town shall inquire into the legal, financial, management and 
technical qualifications of the prospective controlling or owning Person, and including, 
but not limited to, such Person's cable-related experience and service record, if any, in 
other communities, the changes, if any, it intends to make in the operations, maintenance, 
technology and services of the Cable System serving Sebago, any and all matters relative 
to the ability and likelihood of such Person adhering to all of the terms and conditions of 
this Franchise Agreement, and whether the proposed change of control and ownership is 
in the public interest. 
  


(9) Any proposed controlling or owning Person or transferee approved by the 
Town shall be subject to all of the terms and conditions contained in the Franchise 
Agreement, including curing any Franchise non-compliance. 
  
            (10) The Cable Operator shall reimburse the Town for its reasonable expenses 
(including attorney’s fees) incurred as a result of the reviewing and acting upon the Cable 
Operator’s request.  The Cable Operator’s liability for reimbursing the Town shall not 
exceed Two Thousand and Five Hundred Dollars ($2,500).  
  
Section 9.  Fees. 
  


(a) Franchise Fee.  As compensation for the rights and privileges granted by any 
Franchise awarded pursuant to the provisions of this Ordinance the Cable Operator shall 
pay to Grantor a franchise fee of up to five percent (5%) of the Cable Operator’s Gross 
Annual Revenues under the Franchise Agreement.  The franchise fee may be changed by 
Grantor subject to the five percent (5%) cap on 90 days notice to the Cable Operator, but 
not more frequently than once each calendar year.   


(b) Method of Computation. Payments due the Town under the terms of the 
Ordinance shall be computed quarterly as of March 31, June 30, September 30 and 
December 31 for the preceding three months and shall be paid on or before the forty-fifth 







calendar day from each said computation date at the office of the Town Treasurer during 
regular business hours.  The Town shall be furnished a statement with each payment, 
prepared by a financial representative of the Cable Operator, and verified as correct, 
reflecting the total amount of Gross Annual Revenues generated by all activities within 
the Town, and the above charges, deductions and computations, for the three month 
payment period covered by the payment.  The Cable Operator shall prepare and maintain 
financial information and records in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles and generally accepted auditing standards in the cable television industry.  At 
Grantor’s option, the information provided by the Cable Operator shall be subject to audit 
by an outside firm of certified public accountants selected by Grantor.  Any such audit 
shall be at Grantor’s expense except unless such audit shall disclose an underpayment of 
any franchise fees of more than four percent (4%) payable for the period of the audit, in 
which event the Cable Operator shall reimburse Grantor for the expense of such audit.  
Repeated failure to pay the franchise fee on a timely basis is a violation of a material 
provision of the Franchise Agreement for purposes of the termination provisions of this 
Ordinance.  Interest shall accrue on any and all overdue franchise fees at the rate of 
twelve percent (12%) simple interest per annum. 


(c) Rights of Recomputation.  No acceptance of any payment shall be construed 
as a release or as an accord and satisfaction of any claim the Town may have for further 
or additional sums payable as a franchise fee under this Ordinance or for the performance 
of any other obligation hereunder. However, there shall be an accord and satisfaction 
with respect to any payment not subject to an audit within thirty-six (36) months 
following the close of the fiscal year to which such payment relates.   


Section 10.  Penalties. 


10.1.  Assessment.   If a Cable Operator fails to observe any obligation under this 
Ordinance or any Franchise Agreement, Grantor may assess the Cable Operator, and the 
Cable Operator agrees to pay to Grantor, a monetary penalty in accordance with the 
Schedule of Penalties set forth in Section 10.8-10.12 below.  Such assessment shall not 
constitute a waiver by Grantor of any other right or remedy it may have under this 
Ordinance or the Franchise Agreement, or under applicable law, including, without 
limitation, its right to recover from the Cable Operator such additional damages, losses, 
costs and expenses as may have been suffered or incurred by Grantor by reason of or 
arising out of such breach of this Ordinance or the Franchise Agreement; provided, that 
any penalties collected by Grantor from the Cable Operator pursuant hereto shall be 
applied against, and reduce accordingly, the amount of any recoveries due Grantor 
pursuant to this sentence for the failure to perform for which such penalties were 
assessed. 
  


10.2.  Notification.  Upon Grantor’s assessing a penalty pursuant to Section 10.1 
above, notice of such assessment shall be sent to the Cable Operator, with a concise 
statement of the reasons therefore.           
  


10.3.  Hearing.  Within ten (10) days after receipt of a notice pursuant to Section 
10.2 above, the Cable Operator may request a hearing before the Grantor’s Town 







Manager or his/her designee.  Such hearing shall be held within thirty (30) days after 
receipt of the request therefore.  The pendency of a request of hearing shall suspend 
payment of the penalty until ten (10) days after receipt by the Cable Operator of the 
decision of the Town Manager or designee confirming the penalty in whole or in part. 
  


10.4.  Payment.  Except as provided in Section 10.3 above, the Cable Operator 
shall pay the full amount of any penalty to Grantor within ten (10) days after receipt of a 
notice pursuant to Section 10.2 above and the cure period has expired. 


  
10.5.  Default.  Subsequent to the notice and opportunity to cure provision herein, 


upon failure of the Cable Operator to make timely payment of an assessed penalty, 
Grantor may recover the amount of any such penalty from the performance bond or 
security fund pursuant to Section 6(a) above.  Failure of the Cable Operator to make 
timely payment of an assessed penalty is a violation of material provision of the 
Franchise Agreement. 
  


10.6.  Disposition.  Amounts received by Grantor as penalties assessed against a 
Cable Operator may be used by Grantor for any purpose it deems fit. 
  


10.7.  Schedule of Penalties.  Pursuant to Section 10.1, 10.2 and 10.3 above, the 
following monetary penalties shall apply, and liability therefore shall accrue from the 
date of receipt of notice pursuant to Section 10.2 above, and upon failure to cure within 
the time period specified below, if any opportunity to cure is provided. 
  


10.8.  $50.00 Per Day.  The penalty for the following violations shall be fifty 
dollars ($50.00) per day until the violation is cured: 
                         


(a)  Failure to maintain the Cable Operator’s required insurance pursuant to 
Section 6(c) with the penalty beginning 30 days after Cable Operator receives written 
notification of the violation. 


  
(b)  Failure to make timely payment of the franchise fee pursuant to Section 


9(b) with the penalty beginning 30 days after Cable Operator receives written notification 
of the violation. 


  
(c) Violation of the privacy restrictions in Sections 12.7(d) of this Ordinance.  


This penalty shall be assessed with the penalty beginning 7 days after Cable Operator 
receives written notification of the violation. 


 
(d)  Failure to restore damaged property within the specified period pursuant 


to Section 11.11 with the penalty beginning 5 days after Cable Operator receives written 
notification of the violation. 


  
(e)  Failure to make and maintain records as required by Section 13.6 with the 


penalty beginning 30 days after Cable Operator receives written notification of the 
violation.  This penalty shall be assessed for each such record not maintained.  







  
(f)  Failure to obtain and maintain the performance bond or security fund 


pursuant to Section 6(a) with the penalty beginning 30 days after Cable Operator receives 
written notification of the violation. 


  
(g)  Failure to remove, relocate or protect the Cable Operator’s system 


pursuant to Sections 5(d), 5(e) and 11.17 with the penalty beginning 7 days after Cable 
Operator receives written notification of the violation.  


  
(h)  Failure to eliminate objectionable interference pursuant to Section 11.18 


with the penalty beginning 14 days after Cable Operator receives written notification of 
the violation. 


  
(i)  Failure to provide reports within the time required by Section 18 assessed 


for each report not provided with the penalty beginning 14 days after Cable Operator 
receives written notification of the violation. 


  
10.9.  $5.00 Per Affected Subscriber Per Day.  The fine for the following 


violations shall be five dollars ($5.00) per Subscriber affected by the violation per day 
until the violation is cured. 
  


(a)  Failure to respond to a request for repair or adjustment within the time 
required by Section 13.4.  This penalty shall begin 24 hours after the Town notifies the 
Cable Operator in writing of the violation. 


  
(b)  Failure to commence service to a Subscriber within the time required by 


Section 14.0 beginning 2 days after the Town notifies Cable Operator in writing of the 
violation. 


  
(c)  Failure to pay a refund due a Subscriber upon termination within the time 


required by Section 15.6.  This penalty shall begin 5 days after the Town notifies the 
Cable Operator in writing of the violation. 


  
(d)  Failure to respond to a billing complaint within the time required by 


Section 16.3.   This penalty shall begin 2 days after the Town notifies the Cable Operator 
in writing of the violation. 


  
(e)  Failure to respond to a service complaint within the time required by 


Section 16.4.  This penalty shall begin 2 days after the Town notifies the Cable Operator 
in writing of the violation. 


  
(f)  Failure to pay a rebate or apply a credit for service loss within the time 


required by Section 13.5.  This penalty shall begin 5 days after the Town notifies the 
Cable Operator in writing of the violation. 
 







10.10.   $500.00 Fine.  The fine shall be five hundred dollars ($500.00) for the 
following violations beginning 60 days after the Grantor notifies the Cable Operator in 
writing of the violation until the violation is cured. 


  
(a)  Failure to complete any system rebuild as required by Section 11.1 and 


the terms of the Franchise Agreement. This penalty shall be assessed per day until 
compliance is achieved. 


  
(b)  Failure to make service available to unserved areas within the time 


required by the terms of the Franchise Agreement. This penalty shall be assessed per day 
until compliance is achieved.  


  
(c)  Failure to provide access channels, facilities and equipment funding in 


accordance with terms of the Franchise Agreement.  This penalty shall be assessed per 
day until compliance. 


                               
10.11.  Violation of Subscriber Privacy.  The fine for a violation of Section 


12.7(e) is one thousand dollars ($1,000) per occurrence of selling or disclosing subscriber 
lists, viewing habits or personally identifiable information (and not per day or per 
affected subscriber).   


  
10.12.   Failure to Provide Emergency Override Capabilities.  The Cable 


System shall incorporate emergency audio override capabilities in accordance with FCC 
Emergency Alert System (EAS) standards and as required by Section 11.3.  The fine for a 
failure of the system to perform as described in the event of a public emergency or vital 
public information situation, shall be one thousand dollars ($1,000) assessed per 
occurrence, except to the extent the Cable System is rendered non-functional due to 
damage caused by factors outside of the Cable Operator’s reasonable control. 
  


10.13.  Force Majeure.  The Cable Operator shall not be assessed any penalties 
for any delay or failure to perform its obligations under the Ordinance if doing so is 
prevented by Act of God, the inability to secure materials despite the use of all 
commercially reasonable efforts by the Cable Operator, flood, storm, fire, explosions, 
strikes, riots, wars whether or not declared, insurrections, epidemics, or any law, rule or 
act of any court of competent jurisdiction or instrumentality of government or any other 
occurrence outside of the control of the Cable Operator when using all commercially 
reasonable efforts. 
  


10.14.  Further Recourse.  In addition to the foregoing penalties, upon the 
failure, refusal or neglect of the Cable Operator to cause any work or other act required 
by law or by this Ordinance or the Franchise Agreement to be properly completed in, on, 
over or under any Street or Public Way within any time prescribed, Grantor may (but 
shall not be required to) cause such work or other act to be performed or completed in 
whole or in part and upon so doing shall submit to the Cable Operator an itemized 
statement of the costs thereof.  The Cable Operator shall, within thirty days after receipt 
of such statement, pay to Grantor the entire amount thereof. 







  
Section 11.  Construction and Operation of Facilities 
  
            11.1  Design.  Except as otherwise provided for in the Franchise Agreement, any 
Cable System serving Sebago shall in any event be designed and built for technical 
quality in conformance with the highest state of the art in the cable television industry for 
Cable Systems of comparable size.  Not later than one year from the effective date of the 
Franchise Agreement the Cable System shall be designed and built for operation at a 
minimum of 750 MHz and a minimum eighty (80) video channel capacity, with full bi-
directional capability.  All downstream and upstream channels shall be activated by such 
date.   
                         


11.2.  Emergency Power.  The Cable System shall incorporate equipment 
capable of providing standby powering of the Headend and all Subheadends for a 
minimum of four hours.   
  
            11.3.    Emergency Override.  The Cable System shall incorporate emergency 
audio override capabilities in accordance with FCC Emergency Alert System (EAS) 
standards. 
  
            11.4.    Subscribers’ Antennae.  Notwithstanding a required disconnection of a 
Subscriber’s existing broadcast antennae and downleads to receivers connected to the 
Cable System, the Cable Operator shall not remove or suggest to the Subscriber the 
removal of such antennae and downleads.  The Cable Operator shall furnish to each 
Subscriber so requesting, at reasonable cost, an A/B switch permitting the Subscriber to 
change from cable reception to home antenna reception, and back, at the option of the 
Subscriber.  Installation of such switches at the time of initial installation of service to a 
Subscriber shall be without charge other than for such purchase cost. 


  
11.5.    Switching.  The Headend or Subheadend shall have the capability of 


accepting programming on the upstream channels of the Cable System and 
simultaneously transmitting such programming on the downstream channels of the 
Cable System. 


  
11.6.    VCR/Cable Compatibility.  In order that Subscribers to the Cable 


System have the capability to simultaneously view and tape any channel and set their 
VCR to record multiple channels remotely, the Cable Operator shall provide to any 
Subscriber, upon request, an A/B switch, installed at reasonable cost. 
  


11.7     General Construction Requirements.  In the construction, 
reconstruction, maintenance and repair of the Cable System, the Cable Operator shall 
utilize materials of good and durable quality and shall perform or cause to be performed 
all work so associated with the system in a safe, thorough and reliable manner. 
  







11.8.    Live Programming Origination Points.  To facilitate live programming 
within the Town of Sebago each Cable Operator shall install Origination Points at the 
public buildings and public locations as are designated in the Franchise Agreement. 
  


11.9.    Compliance With Regulations.  All work, including all working 
conditions and facilities, associated with the construction, operation, maintenance, repair 
and removal of the Cable System shall comply with: 
  


(a)  All applicable Federal and State laws, rules and regulations; 
  
(b)  All applicable laws, codes, ordinances, rules and regulations of 


                       Grantor; and 
  
(c)  The National Electric Code, National Electrical Safety Code, 


                       the National Cable Television Association Standard Code, and the 
                       National Safety Code. 


  
11.10.  Grantor Rights.  Grantor reserves the right to inspect all construction and 


installation work and to make such tests as it shall deem necessary to ensure compliance 
with applicable laws, codes, ordinances and regulations and with provisions of this 
Ordinance and the applicable Franchise Agreement, and may order corrections of any 
violations. 
  


11.11.  Restoration of Damage.  The Cable Operator, at its sole expense, shall 
restore all damage to property, both public and private, caused by the construction, 
operation, maintenance or repair of the Cable System, so as to return the damaged 
property to a condition as good as before the damage was done.  Such restoration shall be 
made as soon as practicable after completion of work necessitating the restoration, and 
shall be done in a manner approved by the owner or tenant in possession.  In no event 
shall such restoration be made later than ten days, weather permitting and subject to force 
majeure, after the Cable Operator’s receipt of notification from the owner of the property 
so damaged unless otherwise mutually agreed by the Cable Operator and the property 
owner; provided, that if any such damage involves streets, water-mains, storm or sanitary 
sewers, or other public facilities, such damage shall be repaired within forty-eight (48) 
hours or as soon as practicable. If the Cable Operator fails to make such restoration on a 
timely basis, Grantor may fix a reasonable time for such restoration and repairs and shall 
notify the Cable Operator in writing of the restoration and repairs required and the time 
fixed for performance hereof.  Upon failure of the Cable Operator to comply within the 
specified time period, Grantor may cause proper restoration and repairs to be made and 
the Cable Operator shall pay the reasonable expense of such work upon demand by 
Grantor. 
  


11.12.  Identification.  Each Cable Operator shall ensure that all of its vehicles 
are clearly identified to the general public as being associated with the Cable Operator, 
and that all of its employees, and the employees of any agents or contractors, who enter 
upon private property wear an employee identification card issued by the Cable Operator, 







which card shall bear a picture of said employee and shall be worn in a conspicuous 
place. 
  


11.13.  Public Ways Hazards.  Any openings or obstructions in streets or other 
municipal or public property made by any Cable Operator shall be guarded and protected 
at all times by the placement of adequate barriers, fences, boarding or other protective 
devices at the sole expense of the Cable Operator.  During the periods of dusk and 
darkness, the protective devices shall be clearly designated by warning lights. 
  


11.14.  Location of Physical Facilities.  Within sixty (60) days after the effective 
date of any Franchise Agreement, the Cable Operator shall provide Grantor with strand 
maps of the Town of Sebago clearly showing the location of all distribution lines 
(indicating underground, where applicable), tower, antennae, receivers, headend, and 
sub-headends.  Revised and corrected strand maps shall be submitted to Grantor not later 
than ninety (90) days after such changes or additions are made. 
  


11.15.  Cable Location.  Insofar as practicable, the distribution system (trunk and 
feeder cable) shall run along public rights-of-way.  Where the cable or wire facilities of 
all public utilities are installed underground, the Cable Operator shall install its cable 
distribution system underground.  Vaults and pedestals shall be suitably landscaped, such 
landscaping to be subject to the approval of the owner or tenant in possession, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  In all areas where public utility lines are 
aerially placed, if subsequently during the term of the Franchise Agreement all such 
utility lines are relocated underground pursuant to applicable law under the Town’s 
police powers, the Cable Operator shall similarly relocate its cable distribution system 
underground at its sole expense.  Wherever possible, the distribution system shall use the 
existing facilities of the public utilities.  Poles shall not be installed for the sole purpose 
of supporting a portion of the distribution system without written justification and 
approval of Grantor, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld, pursuant to 
Grantor’s law, ordinances, rules and regulations.  
  


11.16.  Location of Construction.  All lines, cables and distribution structure, 
and equipment, including poles and towers, erected, installed or maintained by any Cable 
Operator within the Town of Sebago shall be located so as not to obstruct or interfere 
with the proper use of Streets and Public Ways and to cause minimum interference with 
the rights of property owners who abut any of the said Streets and Public Ways, and not 
to interfere with existing public utility installations.  A Cable Operator shall not place 
new poles, towers or other obstructions in Streets or Public Ways, or relocate existing 
poles, towers or other obstructions, without first obtaining Grantor’s approval, which 
approval shall not be unreasonably withheld.  A Cable Operator shall have no vested 
right in any location, and the Cable Operator shall remove such construction at its own 
cost and expense whenever the same restricts or obstructs or interferes with the operation 
or location or any future operation or location of said Streets or Public Ways. 
  


11.17.  Grade or Location Changes.  If at any time during the term of a 
Franchise Agreement Grantor shall elect to alter, or change the grade or location of any 







Street, or shall engage in any construction, reconstruction, widening, repairs or other 
public works in, on or under the Streets, any Cable Operator shall, upon reasonable notice 
by Grantor, remove and relocate its poles, wires, cables, conduits, manholes and other 
fixtures (“fixtures”) at its own expense, and in each instance comply with the Grantor’s 
standards and specifications.  
  


11.18.  No Interference.  A Cable Operator shall not place fixtures above or 
below ground where the same will interfere with any gas, electricity, telephone fixtures, 
water hydrants, or other utility use, and all such fixtures placed in or upon any street shall 
be so placed as to comply with all requirements of Grantor or other applicable authority, 
and fully comply with local regulations, including zoning ordinances.  Each Cable 
System shall be constructed, operated and maintained so that there will be no 
objectionable interference with television reception, radio reception, telephone 
communications or other electronic installations in the Town of Sebago or with the 
operation of any public fire, police, rescue or safety communications system.  Should any 
such interference occur, the Cable Operator shall promptly eliminate it. 
  


11.19.  Temporary Relocation.  A Cable Operator shall, on request of any 
Person holding a permit issued by Grantor or other appropriate authority, temporarily 
move its fixtures to permit the moving or erection of buildings or other objects, with the 
expense of any such temporary removal to be paid in advance by the Person requesting 
same, and the Cable Operator shall be given reasonable notice to arrange for such 
temporary relocation. A Cable Operator shall bear any expense to temporarily move its 
fixtures to permit the moving or erection of Town- owned or constructed buildings or 
other public infrastructure.   
  


11.20.  Tree Trimming.  Each Cable Operator shall have the authority to trim 
any trees upon and overhanging Grantor’s Streets or Public Ways to the minimum extent 
necessary to prevent the branches of such trees from coming in contact with the wires and 
cables of the Cable System; provided that, except for incidental trimming done by the 
Cable Operator employees in the course of performing their other duties, any tree 
trimming done by the Cable Operator shall be subject, in all respects, to Grantor’s prior 
approval.  Except in an emergency, the Cable Operator will notify the abutting property 
owner(s) prior to starting tree trimming work.  In performing tree trimming, the Cable 
Operator shall employ best management practices, shall use its best efforts to avoid any 
unnecessary damage or injury to trees, and shall comply in all respects with any Town 
ordinances governing tree trimming.  Except for incidental trimming performed by a 
Cable Operator’s employees in the course of performing their other duties, Grantor may 
elect to perform tree trimming directly or by agents under Grantor’s supervision and 
direction, at the Cable Operator’s expense. 
  


11.21.  Drops.  In areas where the cable distribution is located underground, drop 
connections to Subscriber’s structure shall be underground; in other areas the drop 
connection shall be aerial unless the Subscriber requests underground installation and 
elects to pay the cost thereof.  Insofar as practicable, the Cable Operator shall adhere to 
the Subscriber’s desire with regard to point of entry of the drop connection into the 







structure.  Within the Subscriber’s structure, drop or cable runs shall be made as 
unobtrusively as possible.  Each drop shall be grounded at the Subscriber’s structure, or, 
at the Cable Operator’s option, at such other location as may be permitted by the National 
Electrical Safety Code. 
  


11.22.  Zoning and Building Codes.  Any and all construction performed by or 
under the auspices of a Cable Operator, and any and all facilities used or operated by the 
Cable Operator, shall comply with all applicable zoning and building ordinances, codes 
or laws of Grantor. 
  


11.23.  Contractors, Subcontractors and Affiliates.  All contractors, 
subcontractors and affiliates of a Cable Operator must be properly licensed under all 
applicable federal, state and local laws and regulations.  Each Cable Operator shall be 
solely and completely responsible for all acts or omissions of any such contractor, 
subcontractor or affiliate, or any employee or agent of any such contractor, subcontractor 
or affiliate in the construction, reconstruction, installation, maintenance, operation or 
removal of the Cable Operator’s cable system. 
  
            11.24. Completion of Work by Grantor.  Upon failure of a Cable Operator to 
commence, pursue or complete any work required by this Ordinance, other applicable 
law or by the provisions of the Franchise Agreement in any Street or other public place 
within the time prescribed and to the satisfaction of the Grantor, Grantor may, at its 
option, cause such work to be done with reasonable expenditures therefore and the Cable 
Operator shall pay to the Grantor the cost thereof in the itemized amounts reported by the 
Grantor to the Cable Operator within thirty (30) days after receipt of such itemized 
report. 
  
            11.25.  Lockout Key.  Each Cable Operator shall make available to any 
Subscribers so requesting, for lease or sale, a “parental control device” or “lockout key” 
which will permit the Subscriber, at his or her option, to eliminate comprehensible 
reception of any or all of the Basic Service or pay cable Channels.  If requested, a lockout 
key will be installed within twenty (20) days of request.   


  
Section 12.  Operation, Service and Maintenance of System. 
  


12.1     Each Cable Operator shall construct, maintain and operate its Cable 
System safely and render efficient service to Subscribers during the term of any 
Franchise. 


12.2     Each Cable Operator shall construct, upgrade, install, operate, maintain 
and remove its Cable System in conformance with Occupational Safety and Health 
Administration regulations, the Maine Electrical Code, the National Electric Code, the 
NCTA Safety Manual, the National Electric Safety Code, the Bell Telephone System 
Code of Pole Line Construction, the rules and regulations of the FCC, all building and 
zoning codes, and all land use restrictions as they may now exist or may be amended or 
adopted hereafter. 







12.3     Any tower constructed for use in a Cable Operator’s Cable System shall 
comply with the standards contained in "Structural Standards for Steel Antenna Towers 
and Antenna Supporting Structures", TIA/EIA-222-F as published by the 
Telecommunications Industry Association, 2500 Wilson Blvd., Arlington, VA  22201. 


12.4     Installation and physical dimensions of any tower constructed for use in a 
Cable Operator’s Cable System shall comply with all appropriate Federal Aviation 
Agency regulations, including, but not limited to, "Objects Affecting Navigable 
Airspace”, 14 C.F.R. 77.1 et seq., as they now exist or may be amended or adopted 
hereafter. 


            12.5     Any antenna structure used, in a Cable Operator’s Cable System shall 
comply with “Construction, Marking, and Lighting of Antenna Structures", 47 C.F.R. 
17.1 et seq., as said regulations now exist or may be amended hereafter. 


            12.6     Each Cable Operator shall install and maintain its wire, cable, mixers and 
other equipment in accordance with the requirements of the generally applicable 
ordinances of the Town as may be amended, and in such a manner which shall not 
interfere with any installations of the Town or any public utility serving the Town.  


           12.7     Privacy. 


       (a) The Cable Operator shall respect the rights of privacy of every Subscriber of the 
Cable Television System and, pursuant to applicable federal law, shall not violate such 
rights through the use of any device or Signal associated with the Cable Television System, 
and as hereafter provided. 
  
           (b) The Cable Operator shall comply with all privacy provisions contained in this 
Ordinance and all other applicable federal and State laws including, but not limited to, the 
provisions of Section 631 of the Cable Act. 
  
           (c) The Cable Operator shall be responsible for carrying out and enforcing the Cable 
System's privacy policy, and shall at all times maintain adequate physical, technical and 
administrative security safeguards to ensure that personal subscriber information is handled 
and protected strictly in accordance with this policy. 
  
           (d) Except as otherwise permitted by applicable law, the Cable Operator shall not tap, 
monitor, arrange for the tapping or monitoring, or permit any other person to tap or monitor, 
any cable, line, Signal, input device, or subscriber Outlet or receiver for any purpose, 
without the prior written authorization of the affected Subscriber; provided, however, that 
the Cable Operator may conduct system-wide or individually addressed "sweeps" solely for 
the purpose of verifying System integrity, checking for illegal taps, controlling return-path 
transmission, or billing for Pay Services. The Cable Operator shall report to the affected 
parties any instances of monitoring or tapping of the Cable Television System, or any part 
thereof, of which it has knowledge, whether or not the Cable Operator has authorized such 
activity, other than as permitted herein. The Cable Operator shall not record or retain any 
information transmitted between a Subscriber and any third party, except as required for 







lawful business purposes. The Franchisee shall destroy all subscriber information of a 
personal nature after a reasonable period of time except as authorized not to do so by the 
affected Subscriber. 
  
           (e) Except as otherwise permitted by applicable law, the Cable Operator shall not sell, 
disclose, or otherwise make available, or permit the use of, lists of the names or addresses of 
its Subscribers or any list or other information which identifies by name or address, 
Subscribers viewing habits, to any Person or agency for any purpose whatsoever without the 
prior written consent of the Subscriber; provided that the Cable Operator may make such 
lists available to Persons performing services for the Cable Operator in connection with 
lawful business purposes hereunder (e.g. a billing service) where the availability of such lists 
is necessary to the performance of such services.  A Subscriber may withdraw said consent 
by providing written notice to the Cable Operator.  Every Cable Operator shall provide 
annual notice to each Subscriber of the right to withdraw such authorization.  In no event 
shall such authorization be obtained as a condition of service or continuation thereof, 
except as necessary to adequately provide particular services.    
  
           (f) Upon request, the Cable Operator shall make available for inspection by a 
Subscriber at a reasonable time and place all personal subscriber information that the Cable 
Operator maintains regarding said Subscriber.  A Subscriber may obtain from the Cable 
Operator a copy of any or all of the personal subscriber information regarding him or her 
maintained by the Cable Operator.  
  
           (g) A Subscriber may challenge the accuracy, completeness, retention, use or 
dissemination of any item of personal subscriber information. Such challenges and related 
inquiries about the handling of subscriber information shall be directed to the Cable 
Operator's General Manager.   


            12.8     Performance Standards 


            (a) Technical Standards. Subject to Section 10.13 above, all signals carried on a 
Cable System shall be transmitted to Subscribers without material degradation and with a 
quality no less than that prescribed by rules of any Federal or State regulatory agencies 
having jurisdiction. Anything contained in a Franchise Agreement to the contrary 
notwithstanding, the technical specifications, operation and performance of the system 
shall, at minimum, conform at all time to the specifications established by any Federal or 
State regulatory agencies having jurisdiction thereof, and such specifications existing on 
the effective date hereof, whichever is of the higher quality.   


            (b) Performance Testing. At such time as the performance monitoring and 
testing, conducted pursuant to requirements of any Federal or State regulatory agencies 
having jurisdiction, provides evidence that the Cable System’s transmissions do not meet 
the prescribed standards, the performance monitoring and testing shall be repeated for all 
segments of the Cable System which do not meet such prescribed standards, upon 
completion of the necessary repair or adjustment, notwithstanding the lack of such 
requirement by the Federal or State agencies, and a report of the second test submitted to 
Grantor; provided, that the Cable Operator shall not be required to furnish any such 







reports with respect to technical problems discovered in the course of the Cable 
Operator’s routine maintenance testing, except as may be specifically requested by 
Grantor in each instance.  The Cable Operator shall provide and keep accurately 
calibrated test equipment on hand at all times for the testing of all services and 
operational standards outlined in this Franchise Agreement. 


Section 13 – Maintenance and Repair. 


13.1  Maintenance Policy.   Each Cable Operator shall promulgate and adhere to 
a preventative maintenance policy directed toward maximizing the reliability (mean-
time-between-malfunctions) and maintainability (mean-time-to-repair) of its Cable 
System with respect to its delivery of Cable Service to Subscribers at or above the 
performance standard set forth herein.  Whenever it is necessary to interrupt service for 
the purpose of making scheduled maintenance or repairs, adjustments, installations or 
other maintenance activities, the Cable Operator shall do so at such a time as will cause 
the least inconvenience to Subscribers.  Except in an emergency, and except for 
interruptions of five minutes or less which may occur during the course of normal 
maintenance, and except during the rebuild of the Cable System, service is to be 
interrupted for planned or scheduled maintenance or repairs between the hours of 
midnight and 7:00 a.m. where practicable. 
  
            13.2  Repair.  Each Cable Operator shall maintain a repair department comprising 
qualified technicians, service vehicles and equipment to provide prompt and efficient 
repair service within the parameters set forth below. 
  
            13.3 Notice.  Except in an emergency, and except for interruptions of five minutes 
or less, each Cable Operator shall give Subscribers at least 24 hours notice of any planned 
interruption of service for purposes of maintenance or repair.  In an emergency, a Cable 
Operator shall give such notice as is reasonable in the circumstances.  Notice given on the 
alphanumeric channels on Basic Service shall be considered sufficient.  During any 
rebuild of the Cable System, a Cable Operator shall not be required to provide 24 hour 
notice of any interruption of service if such interruption is the direct result of rebuild 
work.  However, a Cable Operator shall be required to provide written notification to 
Subscribers of planned rebuild work schedules and when Subscribers may experience 
service interruptions.  A Cable Operator shall use its best efforts to minimize the length 
of any service outage due to a rebuild. 
  


13.4  Repair Procedure.  Each Cable Operator shall have a toll free telephone 
number listed in the local area and so operated that requests for repairs or adjustments 
can be received at any time, twenty-four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days per week.  A 
recording device or answering service may be used during non-business hours. A Cable 
Operator’s responses to such requests shall occur no later than 24 hours after the Cable 
Operator’s receipt of such a request; provided, the response time for service complaints 
other than complaints of no or unusable service shall be computed excluding Sundays 
and holidays. 
  







A Cable Operator shall respond within four (4) hours to any area outage that 
occurs between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 10:00 p.m. of any day, and by not later than 
the following 11:00 a.m. to any area outage that occurs between 10:00 p.m. and 7:00 
a.m.  If a Cable Operator responds to a service complaint as herein required and the 
Subscriber is not satisfied that the problem giving rise to the original complaint has been 
resolved, the Subscriber shall notify the Cable Operator thereof within forty eight (48) 
hours of the repair visit by the Cable Operator personnel, and the Cable Operator shall 
have an additional period of twenty-four (24) hours within which to correct the problem.  
If such second complaint is made to Grantor instead of the Cable Operator, the Cable 
Operator shall have a period of twenty-four (24) hours after receipt of oral or written 
notice from Grantor within which to make the correction.  The requirements for 
maintenance and repair shall not apply to Subscribers’ television or radio receivers or 
other Subscriber-owned equipment. 
  


13.5     Rebate or Credit for Service Loss.  Upon request, for every loss of 
service in excess of six (6) continuous hours, the Cable Operator shall grant a pro rata 
rebate or credit of the regular monthly charge to the Subscriber.  In the event a Subscriber 
reports a loss of service to the Cable Operator, and such outage exceeds six (6) 
continuous hours, the Cable Operator shall grant the credit or rebate whether or not the 
Subscriber specifically requests it.  The credit shall be pro-rated by multiplying the 
applicable monthly service rate by a fraction whose numerator equals the number of days 
of the outage and whose denominator equals the number of days in the month of the 
outage.  In no case shall the refund be less than twenty-four (24) hours’ credit. For 
purposes of this paragraph, loss of Basic Service shall be considered a Subscriber’s 
receipt of less than two-thirds of the respective available channels, and loss of pay Cable 
Service shall be considered the loss of signal on any pay Channel.  The Cable Operator 
shall give the Subscriber a credit no later than the next billing cycle.   
  
            13.6 Records.  Each Cable Operator shall maintain records of all oral and written 
complaints regarding quality of service, equipment malfunctions, billing procedure, and 
similar matters that requires further action on the part of the Cable Operator.  Such 
records shall show the exact date and time of receipt of all such customer complaints, 
identifying the Subscriber, the nature of the complaint and the exact time action was 
taken by the Cable Operator in response thereto, together with a description of such 
action.  Each Cable Operator shall also maintain a record of all whole or partial system 
outages, including the date, approximate time and duration, type and probable cause of 
each outage, except for outages caused by routine testing or maintenance.  Such records 
shall be available at the Cable Operator’s local office for at least two (2) years, for 
inspection by Grantor as it may from time to time request, during regular business hours 
and upon reasonable notice, subject to any privacy restrictions imposed by law.  A Cable 
Operator shall, within ten (10) days after receiving a written request therefore, send a 
written report to Grantor with respect to any complaint.  Such report shall provide a full 
explanation of the investigation, finding(s) and corrective steps taken. 


Section 14.0 - Time of Installation.   







            Service to any Subscriber served by a standard aerial Drop shall commence by not 
later than seven (7) business days after service is requested; service to any Subscriber 
served by a standard underground Drop shall commence by not later than forty-five (45) 
days after service is requested unless additional time is required by severe weather or 
other circumstances outside of Cable Operator’s control.  The Cable Operator shall exert 
every reasonable effort to commence service to a Subscriber served by a non-standard 
Drop as expeditiously as possible.   A standard Drop, for which the Subscriber shall be 
charged the Cable Operator’s standard installation fee, is a drop running not more than 
two hundred (200) feet from feeder cable to the Subscriber’s structure; provided, that any 
installation which requires Cable Operator to cross a street underground shall be 
considered a non-standard installation.  An aerial Drop in excess of two hundred (200) 
feet in length shall be considered a non-standard installation.  If the Cable Operator 
schedules an appointment with a Subscriber for an installation, repair or other service 
call, and the Cable Operator fails to arrive at the Subscriber’s premises within one (1) 
hour of the scheduled time or scheduled window of time (which window shall not exceed 
four (4) hours) for reasons not caused by the Subscriber unless rescheduled in advance by 
the Cable Operator, the Cable Operator shall, in the case of an appointment for a standard 
installation, make no charge to the Subscriber for the standard installation, and in the case 
of a repair or other service call, shall apply a minimum twenty dollar ($20.00) credit to 
the Subscriber’s account to reduce the cost of any make-up or late repair or service call.  


Section 15 – Subscriber Rates and Charges. 


15.1     Regulation.  Grantor shall have the right to regulate charges to 
Subscribers for Cable Service to the extent allowed by law. 
  


15.2     Rate or Service Discriminations:  Special Classifications.  No Cable 
Operator shall subject any person to any prejudice or disadvantage, preference or 
advantage in connection with rates, charges, service facilities, rules or regulations.  
Nothing herein shall prohibit the establishment of a graduated scale of rates for classified 
schedules to which any Subscribers within such classification shall be entitled. 
  


15.3   Connection Charges.  Subscribers shall be assessed no special connection 
charges other than standard installation charges for cable drops from any Cable 
Operator’s distribution plant up to two hundred (200) feet.  Subscribers requiring drops 
over two hundred (200) feet shall be charged only for the incremental cost of extending 
the drop beyond two hundred (200) feet. 
  


15.4   Rates and Programming. 
  


(a)  Each Cable Operator shall give the Town and each Subscriber thirty (30) 
days  written notice of any change in Subscriber rates or charges.  At the Town’s 
request, exercised by the Town giving the Cable Operator at least ten (10) days’ notice 
thereof, the Cable Operator shall attend, and respond to questions, at any public meeting 
held by the Town concerning the rate increase.  Notice to Subscribers of rate changes 
shall be by mail. Each Cable Operator shall also provide each Subscriber at least 
annually with a detailed explanation of downgrade and upgrade policies and the manner 







in which Subscribers may terminate Cable Service.  Subscribers shall have at least thirty 
(30) days from receipt of notification of any rate increase to either downgrade service or 
terminate altogether without any charge.  


  
(b)  Each Cable Operator shall give the Town and each Subscriber thirty (30) 


days written notice of any change, including additions or deletions, or change in 
Channel position, in the programming carried on the Cable System, as well as any 
retiering of such programming, and any other changes in the programming service 
offered by each Cable Operator. At the request of the Town, with at least ten (10) days’ 
notice, each Cable Operator shall meet with the Town at a public meeting to discuss 
programming issues and options and to hear and consider the input of the Town and the 
public.  


  
(c)  Each Cable Operator shall use its best efforts to provide a wide diversity 


of programming options to its Subscribers.  Each Cable Operator shall provide the 
following broad categories of programming: 


(1)     public broadcasting programming; 
(2)     educational programming; 
(3)     news programming; 
(4)     music programming; 
(5)     sports programming; 
(6)     children’s programming; 
(7)     religious programming; 
(8)     arts and/or cultural programming; and 
(9)     family programming. 
  


(d)  Rate schedules shall be provided to Subscribers annually.  
  


15.5  Billing Practices.  Each Cable Operator shall set forth, in writing its billing 
and collection practices and policies, and procedures for ordering changes in or 
termination of services and refund policies, and shall furnish a copy thereof to each new 
Subscriber and to Grantor, and thereafter to Grantor and all Subscribers at such time as 
there is a change in such policies. 
  


15.6  Pro-Rated Service.  In the event a Subscriber’s service is terminated, 
monthly charges for service shall be pro-rated on a daily basis and, where advance 
payment has been made by a Subscriber, the appropriate refund shall be made by the 
Cable Operator to the Subscriber within thirty (30) days of such termination. 
  


15.7  Disconnection for Non-Payment.  A Cable Operator shall have the right to 
disconnect a Subscriber for failure to pay an overdue account; provided, that: 
  


(a)  The Cable Operator’s billing practices and policy statement set forth the 
conditions under which an account will be considered overdue; 


  







(b) At least twelve (12) days prior to the proposed disconnection, the Cable 
Operator mails to the Subscriber written notice of intent to disconnect for delinquency in 
payment; 


  
(c)  The Subscriber’s account is at least sixty (60) days delinquent at the time 


said notice is mailed, and 
  
(d)  The disconnection occurs at least twelve (12) days, and not more than 


sixty (60) days, after the mailing of the above written notice. 
  
15.8  Notice of Rates and Programming. All rates and charges associated with 


the provision of Cable Service and the lease of Channel space shall be published. A 
written schedule of all such rates currently in effect, including special and promotional 
rates, shall be available and obtainable in person or by mail upon request during business 
hours at each Cable Operator’s business office. 
  


(a)  At least once each calendar year, each Cable Operator shall provide to 
each Subscriber and the Town a complete schedule of all services, rates and charges for 
Cable Service provided by the Cable Operator and of the programming offered and 
channel alignment.  Such information shall also be provided to all new or prospective 
Subscribers prior to installation or commencement of service. 


  
(b)  Such information shall be written in plain English and shall include, but 


shall not be limited to, the following:  all services, tiers and rates, deposits, if applicable, 
installation costs, additional television set installation charges, service upgrade or 
downgrade charges, stolen or lost converter charges, charges for lockout devices and for 
connecting video cassette recorders to the Cable System. 
  
            15.9 General Customer Service.  Each Cable Operator shall comply with any 
and all customer service standards provided under Maine law, Federal law, FCC 
regulations, including those regulations found at 47 C.F.R. §76.309, and as promulgated 
by the cable industry, (such as NCTA standards), as well as with the provisions of the 
applicable Franchise Agreement.  To the extent of any difference or conflict in the 
requirements of this Ordinance, the Franchise Agreement, State and federal law, FCC 
regulations and/or cable industry standards, the strictest of such standards shall govern. 


Section 16 – Subscriber Complaints. 


16.1  Complaint Policy.  Each Cable Operator shall promulgate within one 
hundred twenty (120) days a written policy statement setting forth the procedure for 
reporting and resolving Subscriber complaints and shall furnish a copy thereof to each 
new Subscriber and to Grantor, and thereafter, annually, to Grantor and all Subscribers.  
Such notice shall comply in all respects with the Cable Act, FCC Regulations, Maine law 
and this Ordinance. 
  







16.2  Cable Operator Response.  Each Cable Operator shall receive Subscriber 
complaints at its business office serving Grantor and shall handle all such complaints 
promptly but in no event later than as set forth below.           
  


16.3  Billing Complaints.  In the case of a billing complaint, the Cable Operator 
shall respond to the complainant by no later than five (5) business days following receipt 
of the complaint. 
  
            16.4  Service Complaints.  In the case of a service complaint not requesting 
repair or adjustment, the Cable Operator shall respond to complainant within five (5) 
business days following receipt of the complaint. 


Section 17.  Preferential or Discriminatory Practices Prohibited. 
  
            A Cable Operator shall not, as to rates, charges, service, service facilities, rules, 
regulations, or in any other respect, make or grant any undue preference or advantage to 
any person, nor subject any person to any prejudice or disadvantage.   
  
 Section 18.  Reports and Records. 
  
            18.1 General Report Filing Requirements. The Town may require each Cable 
Operator to maintain and file such reports, contracts and statements which are reasonably 
necessary to monitor compliance with this Ordinance and the Franchise Agreement, 
including but not limited to ownership, accounting, auditing and operating statement, 
engineering reports, and other data, which the Town shall deem necessary or appropriate 
to administer the provisions of this Ordinance. 
  
            Records which shall be available for inspection and review by the Town shall 
include, but not be limited to: 
  


(a) All correspondence among the Cable Operator and any of his agents, and 
all regulators or other government agencies pertaining to the operation of the Cable 
System in the Town necessary to monitor compliance. 


(b) All reports, applications, and other documents sent to, or required by, any 
government agency pertaining to the operation of the Cable System in the Town 
necessary to monitor compliance. 


(c) All oral and written complaints received by the Cable Operator or its 
agents from the Subscribers in the Town for the preceding two (2) years of the term of 
the Franchise, and the disposition thereof. 


(d) All financial records reasonably necessary to determine compliance with 
and carry out the provisions of this Ordinance and any Franchise Agreement necessary to 
monitor compliance. 







            18.2 Annual Report.  No later than April 1 of each year during the term of a 
Franchise Agreement, each Cable Operator shall submit an annual report to the Town for 
the prior calendar year, which report shall include at a minimum:  
  


(a) Total number of Subscribers in Sebago, including a breakdown of 
Subscribers  taking basic Cable Service, Cable Programming Service and premium 
services as of December 31 of the prior calendar year. 


(b) The increase or decrease in the number of Subscribers over the prior 
calendar  year for Sebago. 


(c) A specific description of any line extensions in Sebago in the prior 
calendar  year. 


(d)  Any price or programming changes in the prior year. 


(e) A description of any technological upgrades or enhancements in 
Cable Service over the past year. 


(f) A listing of any system outages in Sebago over the prior year in 
excess of one hour, including the affected locations, the date, time, duration, cause of the 
outage, and steps taken to address the outage. 


(g) A summary of customer complaint records for the prior year, 
including an identification of any significant customer service issues raised in Sebago in 
the prior year and any resolution or changes in service resulting. 


In addition, upon written request of the Grantor, Company shall provide not more than 
annually a report listing the following: 


(a) A summary of the most recent FCC proof of performance tests and 
measurement records interpreted in laymen’s language describing the Cable 
System’s compliance or lack of compliance with the FCC Technical Standards set 
forth in 76 C.F.R. §76.601 et seq. as the same may be modified in the future, 
identifying any instances of non-compliance and describing all measures taken or 
under way to achieve compliance; 


(b)  A list of any material violations by the Cable Operator of the technical rules 
of the FCC, including but not limited to violations of rules and regulations 
regarding signal quality and safety during the past 12 months, and describing all 
measures taken or underway to achieve compliance; and 


(c)  A copy of the Cable Operator’s most recent S.E.C. Forms 10 K and 10Q. 


After delivery of the Annual Report, each Cable Operator shall, at the request of the 
Town, attend a meeting with the Town to review and discuss any issues or questions 
raised in the grantor’s review of the Annual Report. 







Section 19.   Rights Reserved to the Town. 


 (a) Nothing herein shall be deemed or construed to impair or affect, in any way, 
to any extent, the right of the Town to acquire the property of the Cable Operator, either 
by purchase or through the exercise of the right of eminent domain and nothing herein 
contained shall be construed to contract away or to modify or abridge, whether for a term 
or in perpetuity, the Town's right of eminent domain. 


(b) Neither the awarding of a franchise nor any provision hereof shall constitute a 
waiver or bar to the exercise of any governmental right or power of the Town.  


  
(c) The Town Manager is hereby authorized and empowered to adjust, settle, or 


compromise any controversy or charge arising from the operations of a Cable Operator 
under this Ordinance, either on behalf of the Town, the Cable Operator, or any 
Subscriber, in the best interest of the public. 


  
(d) The Town shall have the right to inspect all construction of installation work 


for a Cable System and to make such inspections as it shall find necessary to insure 
compliance with the terms of this Ordinance, and Franchise awarded pursuant hereto, and 
any other pertinent provisions of the law. 


  
(e) Upon revocation or denial of a renewal under the formal process of the Cable 


Act of any Cable Franchise, the Town shall have the right to require the Cable Operator 
to remove at its own expense all portions of the Cable System from all Streets and Public 
Ways within the Town. 


  
(f) Nothing in this Ordinance or the Franchise shall encumber or prohibit the 


Town from the collection of property taxes, of whatsoever kind, allowed by state law.  
  
Section 20. - Right to Appeal Reserved to the Cable Operator. 
  
            Should the Cable Operator become dissatisfied with any major decision or ruling 
of any Town official, the Cable Operator may, by written request received by the Town 
within 30 days of the date of the decision or ruling, appeal the matter to the Town’s 
Board of Selectmen.  The Town’s Board of Selectmen may accept, reject or modify the 
decision appealed and may adjust, settle or compromise any controversy or cancel any 
charge arising from the operations of the Cable Operator or from any provision of this 
Ordinance or any Franchise Agreement entered into pursuant to this Ordinance. Any 
further appeal shall be taken to the Cumberland County Superior Court or the United 
States District Court for the District of Maine. 
  
Section 21.  - Rules, Regulations and Procedures. 
 


(a) The Municipal Officers of the Town shall, either directly or through their 
designees conduct public hearings and issue such appropriate orders as it may deem 
necessary to enforce the provisions of this Ordinance and any Franchise Agreements, 







including the revocation of Franchise Agreements and the assessment of penalties for 
violations, as well as to correct any deficiencies in the operation of the system. 


(b) All such orders of the Municipal Officers shall not be in conflict with those 
that have been or may be adopted by the Federal Communications Commission for the 
operation of such Cable Systems, except that unless preempted, such ordinances, 
regulations, rules and orders may be more detailed, more strict or more restrictive than 
applicable FCC regulations. 


(c)  As part of its enforcement authority, the Municipal Officers have the authority 
to bring legal action for damages, penalties and for injunctive relief.  In the event that 
the Town brings legal action to enforce the provisions of this Ordinance or the Franchise 
Agreement, and the Town prevails in the action, the Town shall be entitled to recover its 
costs, including reasonable attorneys fees, incurred in the prosecution of any such 
action. 







EXHIBIT A   


  
INFORMATION TO BE PROVIDED WITH ANY FUTURE REQUESTS FOR 


APPROVALS OF SALES, TRANSFERS, CHANGES IN CONTROL 
  


1.  Identify any circumstances in the past ten years when Buyer/Transferee was 
unable to pay any of its debts when due including the date, creditor, matter at 
issue, amount and current status.   


2.  Provide evidence of Buyer/Transferee’s authority to conduct business in 
Maine, including a copy of all filings made to obtain such authority. 


3.  Describe in detail the ownership and management structure of the 
Seller/Transferor Maine cable systems upon completion of the transaction 
with Buyer/Transferee.  Provide an ownership flowchart that identifies the 
legal entities that will be in the chain of ownership of the Buyer/Transferee 
upon completion of the transaction, including the nature of each entity and 
who will own each such entity. 


4.  Identify all cable systems currently owned, managed or operated by 
Buyer/Transferee, including the locations and numbers of subscribers for 
each, and a list of the name and address of all municipal franchise authorities 
with a contact person with each franchise authority. 


5.  Describe in detail Buyer/Transferee’s plans for any rebuilds or upgrades of the 
cable system serving Sebago after the closing, including (a) the specific time 
schedule for the rebuild or upgrade (b) the anticipated cost of the rebuild or 
upgrade, (c) a detailed description of the nature of the rebuild or upgrade, and 
(d) a detailed description of the architecture of the rebuilt system. 


6.  Provide a copy of the anticipated complete rate schedules and service 
offerings to be offered to subscribers in Sebago by Buyer/Transferee after the 
closing of the transaction.   


7.  Provide a copy of any Buyer/Transferee customer service standards, repair or 
maintenance policies, complaint resolution policies, or other similar customer 
policies or protocols that will be in Sebago after acquisition by 
Buyer/Transferee. 


8.  Describe in detail any and all planned management changes, operational 
changes, technical changes, changes to customer service functions (including 
changes in the telephone, MIS and billing systems), and changes in 
engineering and technical support, for the cable system serving Sebago. 


            9.  Provide a copy of the latest SEC Forms 10-K and 10-Q of Seller/Transferor and     
                Buyer/Transferee. 







 









---------- Forwarded message ---------
From: Winchenbach, Shelley J <Shelley.Winchenbach@charter.com>
Date: Wed, Apr 12, 2023 at 4:36 PM
Subject: RE: Lyman Franchise Agreement
To: Selectmen Board Clerk <selectboard@lyman-me.gov>
Cc: Tony Vigue <tvigue1@gmail.com>, bmorin@bourqueclegg.com <bmorin@bourqueclegg.com>

Thank you, Lindsay.  I’ll review the franchise draft.  In the interim, If you could share the draft ordinance, it
may avoid protracted negotiations.  We feel it’s in the best interest of both parties to review the ordinance at
the same time as the franchise agreement.  Thank you!

From: Selectmen Board Clerk <selectboard@lyman-me.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, March 29, 2023 11:51 AM
To: Winchenbach, Shelley J <Shelley.Winchenbach@charter.com>
Cc: Tony Vigue <tvigue1@gmail.com>; bmorin@bourqueclegg.com
Subject: [EXTERNAL] Lyman Franchise Agreement

CAUTION: The e-mail below is from an external source. Please exercise caution before opening attachments, clicking links, or
following guidance.

Good morning Shelley,

Please see attached cover letter and franchise agreement. If you have any questions or wish to meet with the Board,
please let me know.

Best regards,

Lindsay Gagne

Select Board Clerk
FOAA officer
 

11 So. Waterboro Rd Lyman, ME 04002

207-247-0642 
207-499-7562
selectboard@lyman-me.gov 

   lyman-me.gov

Under Maine’s Freedom of Access (“Right to Know”) law, all e-mail and e-mail attachments received or prepared for use in matters
concerning Town business or containing information relating to Town business are likely to be regarded as public records which
may be inspected by any person upon request, unless otherwise made confidential by law. If you have received this message in
error, please notify us immediately by return e-mail. Thank you for your cooperation.

mailto:Shelley.Winchenbach@charter.com
mailto:selectboard@lyman-me.gov
mailto:tvigue1@gmail.com
mailto:bmorin@bourqueclegg.com
mailto:bmorin@bourqueclegg.com
mailto:selectboard@lyman-me.gov
mailto:Shelley.Winchenbach@charter.com
mailto:tvigue1@gmail.com
mailto:bmorin@bourqueclegg.com
mailto:selectboard@lyman-me.gov
https://lyman-me.gov/


Town of Lyman 

11 South Waterboro Rd 

Lyman, ME 04002 

Tel 207-499-7562 Fax 207-499-7563 

May 11, 2023 

To the Town of Lyman Selectboard: 

I am writing to you to outline what I am asking pertaining to a boat playset to add to Chadbourne Field by 

getting donations. 

Chadbourne Field Fund 

To create an Expendable Trust Fund for the purpose of a Boat Playset to be located at Chadbourne 

Field located on John Street, Lyman Me 04002.  Any funds collected over and above the purchasing and 

installation costs will go to covering anything else that is needed at Chadbourne field. 

To be overseen by Holly Hart 

Thank you. 

______________________ 

Holly Hart 

Accepted and approved on    _________________ 

 Date 

_____________________________ ____________________________________ 

Rusty “Ralph” Blackington -chair    Tom Hatch – Vice Chair 

_________________________________  ____________________________________ 

John Tibbetts      Dave Alves 

__________________________________ 

Jessica Picard 
COPY

ITEM #6: (d.) Parks and Recs request



Report to Selectmen 

Month of April 2023 

2022-2023 Tax Year 

Real Estate Tax Commitment - $7,417,133.10 

Personal Property Tax Commitment – $     41,542.02    

Total Tax Commitment: $7,458,675.12 

Supplemental Taxes YTD: $       4,609.59 

Abatements Granted YTD: $    5,896.80 

Prior Year(s) Abatement(s) YTD: $       968.61 

Real Estate / Personal Property Tax Payments Collected $551,054.84 
Includes Current, Delinquent, Prepayments, and Lien Payments for the month. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

Monthly Excise Tax 

Excise Tax Received 

Vehicles registered here at office:   $125,313.37 

Online Rapid Renewal Service      17,898.68 

Total Vehicle Excise   $143,212.05  

Boat Excise 

Boats registered here at office:   $     1,052.00  

Online Registration Service   $____534.30         

Total Boat Excise    $     1,586.30 

Total Excise   $ 144,798.35 

Excise Tax Reimbursement   10/23/2022    $     9,877.52 

Excise Tax Collected by State 

Year-to-date excise collection   $ 926,872.10 

Respectfully submitted:  Susan J. Bellerose, Tax Collector 

ITEM #6: (e.) Tax Clerk Monthly Report



ITEM #6: (f.) Treasurer Expense Report 5/11/23





















TOWN OF LYMAN 

ANNUAL TOWN MEETING WARRANT 

TO SHIRLEY HARRISON, RESIDENT IN THE TOWN OF LYMAN, COUNTY OF 

YORK, AND THE STATE OF MAINE. 

GREETINGS: In the name of the State of Maine, you are hereby required to notify and warn 

the inhabitants of the Town of Lyman, qualified to vote in Town affairs, to meet at the Lyman 

Town Hall on Tuesday, June 13th, A.D., 2023, at 8:00 AM, then and there to act on Articles 

numbered 1 through 2.   The election of Moderator will take place at 7:50 am. 

ARTICLE 1:  To choose a Moderator to preside at said meeting. 

ARTICLE 2:  To choose, by secret ballot:  

Two  (2)   Selectmen / Overseer of the Poor 3 Year term: 

Two  (2)   Budget Committee Members 3 Year term: 

One (1)     Budget Committee Member 1 Year Term 

One   (1)   RSU #57 School Board Director 3 Year term:  

One  (1)   RSU #57 School Board Director 1 Year term: 

The Select Board hereby give notice that the Registrar of Voters will be in session at the 

Lyman Town Hall the day of said meeting, June 13th, 2023, from 8:00 a.m. until the closing 

of the polls for the purpose of correcting the list of voters. The Polls will open at 8:00 a.m. 

and close at 8:00 p.m. 

After the closing of the polls, the meeting will be recessed until 6:00 p.m., June 15th, 2023 

at the Lyman Elementary School in said Town, at which time the remainder of the 

warrant will be acted upon.  

General Note: As per the Town of Lyman Charter, Article 202 Section 2 – Town Meetings 

“…….Articles concerning appropriations shall contain the statement of fact in addition to 

other information contain three (3) columns: one showing appropriation for the current 

fiscal year, one showing the appropriation proposed by the Budget Committee, and one 

showing the appropriation recommended by the Select Board…..” 

___________________________________________________________________________ 

ARTICLE 3:    To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to transfer available 

funds such as, State Funds and Excise Tax in the amount of $850,000; Surplus in the amount of 

$870,000, and any other funds which might be used to reduce the tax commitment.  

Select Board’s Vote: 5-0-0 Budget Committee Vote: No Vote 

DRAFT
ITEM #7:(a.) Draft Warrant with Article 42 & 43 added



ARTICLE 4:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $10,000 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Computer Equipment 

Reserve 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 10,000 $ 10,000 $ 10,000 

Select Board Vote: 4-0-0        Budget Committee Vote: 4-1-0 

ARTICLE 5:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $10,000 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Town Hall Reserve. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 10,000 $ 10,000 $ 10,000 

Select Board Vote: 4-0-0    Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE  6:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $18,674 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Revaluation Reserve

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 18,688 $ 18,674         $ 18,674 

Select Board Vote: 4-0-0    Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 7:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $50,000 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as South Waterboro Road

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board   

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 0   $ 50,000   $ 50,000 

  Select Board Vote: 4-0-0         Budget Committee Vote: 4-1-0 

ARTICLE 8:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $15,000 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Capital Improvement 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

       Select Board     

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

  $ 15,000 $ 15,000  $ 15,000 

 Select Board Vote: 4-0-0  Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

DRAFT



ARTICLE 9:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $5,000 to be 

deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Resident Disaster Relief.

Current Year  

Appropriation 

Select Board   

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 5,000 $ 5,000  $ 5,000 

         Select Board Vote: 4-0-0   Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0

ARTICLE 10:   To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $4,000 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Fire Hydrants

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board        

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 4,000 $ 4,000 $ 4,000 

Select Board Vote: 4-0-0      Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 11:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $7,715 to be 

deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Employee Benefit Reserve

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board   

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 7,715 $ 7,715       $ 7,715 

Select Board Vote:  4-0-0    Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 12:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $1,000 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as Charter Commission 

Reserve.

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 1,000 $ 1,000 $ 1,000 

 Select Board Vote: 4-0-0   Budget Committee Vote: 4-1-0 

ARTICLE 13:   To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $60,000 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as GMFR Vehicle Reserve 

Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 50,000 $ 60,000 $ 60,000 

Select Board Vote: 4-0-0   Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

DRAFT



ARTICLE 14:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $16,000 to 

be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as GMFR Facility, System 

& Equipment Reserve Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 16,000 $ 16,000      $ 16,000 

 Select Board Vote: 4-0-0   Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 15:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $14,000 

to be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as GMFR Building 

Reserve. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 14,000 $ 14,000 $ 14,000 

         Select Board Vote: 4-0-0 Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 16:  To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of $656,111 

and to vote to appropriate from Excise the sum of $35,650 and to vote to raise and appropriate 

from Taxes the sum of $242,833 for a total of $934,594 for Salaries & Benefits. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $953,967 $934,594 $ 934,594 

 Select Board Vote: 4-1-0 Budget Committee Vote:3-2-0 

ARTICLE 17: To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$136,115 for the General Administration Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 135,436 $ 136,115 $ 136,115 

         Select Board Vote: 4-0-0          Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 18: To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$13,561 for the Elections Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 12,147 $ 13,561 $ 13,561 

         Select Board Vote: 4-0-0                Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

DRAFT



ARTICLE 19:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$43,978 for the General Administration – Insurance Services Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 37,428 $ 43,978 $ 43,978 

Select Board Vote: 4-0-0   Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 20:   To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Surplus the sum of 

$2,500 for the Contingency Account.  

Select Board Vote: 4-0-0        Budget Committee Vote: 4-1-0 

ARTICLE 21:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$8,457 for the Animal Welfare Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 8,957 $ 8,457 $ 8,457 

         Select Board Vote: 4-0-0     Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 22:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$2,131  for Health and Human Services

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 2,086 $ 2,131 $ 2,131 

         Select Board Vote: 4-0-0    Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

Note: Includes General Assistance and a donation to Lifeflight. 

ARTICLE 23: To see if the Town will vote to appropriate from Excise the sum of $814,350 

for the Roads Account.

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 735,600 $ 814,350 $ 814,350 

         Select Board Vote: 4-0-0     Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

       Budget Committee 

       Recommendation 

$0 $ 2,500  $2,500 

DRAFT



ARTICLE 24:   To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$795,511 for the Buildings & Grounds Account.

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 677,588 $ 795,511 $ 795,511 

         Select Board Vote: 4-0-0    Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

Note: Includes care & maintenance, mowing, plowing, waste services, energy, and signage. 

ARTICLE 25:   To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$335,340 for the Transfer Station Account

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$ 305,772 $ 335,340 $ 335,340 

         Select Board Vote: 4-0-0     Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 26:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$8,960 for the Parks and Recreation Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 13,310 $ 8,960 $ 8,960 

 Select Board Vote: 4-0-0     Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE 27:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$194,200 for the Outsourced General Administration Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 165,831  $ 194,200 $ 194,200 

         Select Board Vote: 4-0-0     Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

Note: Includes professional services, legal services, audit services, cemetery, plannings board 

professional services, Springvale/Sanford YMCA, Town Hall next phase, & mapping services 

ARTICLE 28:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$190,389 for the Outsourced Other Account. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 173,272 $ 190,389  $ 190,389 

  Select Board Vote: 4-0-0       Budget Committee Vote: 4-0-1 

Note: Includes Library, Lyman Historical Society, and PSAP’s fees. 

DRAFT



ARTICLE 29: To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$630,191  for the Town of Lyman’s share of Goodwin Mills Fire Rescue Department and said 

sum to be paid to the Treasurer of the Goodwin Mills Fire Rescue pursuant to the Interlocal 

Agreement between the Town of Lyman and the Town of Dayton. Any unused amounts will be 

carried forward. To be effective, the Town of Dayton must also vote to appropriate its share of 

such costs. 

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

 $ 562,050 $ 630,191 $ 630,191 

       Select Board Vote: 4-0-0         Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

Select Board Budget Committee 

Lyman Operating Costs (71.49%) $194,223 $194,223 

Lyman Personnel Costs (71.49%) $435,968 $435,968 

Note: Includes ambulance revenue and FY 22  surplus in the amount of $225,000 and applied 

to total balance of $1,106,509  (of which Lyman’s portion is 71.49% or $630,191). 

ARTICLE  30:  To see if the Town will vote to raise and appropriate from Taxes the sum of 

$44,335 for Capital Improvement Purchases.

Current Year 

Appropriation 

Select Board 

Recommendation 

Budget Committee 

Recommendation 

$20,270 $44,335 $44,335 

      Select Board Vote: 4-0-0        Budget Committee Vote: 5-0-0 

ARTICLE  31:   To see if the Town will vote to carry forward the balance of funds available 

on June 30, 2023 for the project designated as Cemetery Tree Removal into Fiscal Year 2024 

for the completion of said project.  

Note:  Balance as of 4/30/2023 was $35,730.43 

ARTICLE  32:   To see if the Town will vote to authorize funding at last year’s (2022/2023) 

level for all departments/warrants whose new appropriation is not approved by this year’s 

warrant vote, until such time that any new funding is authorized before the next tax 

commitment. DRAFT



ARTICLE 33:   To see if the Town will vote to take from the State of Maine Snowmobile 

Registration Fee Fund a sum of $6.62 per registered snowmobile; said monies to be turned 

over to the Lyman Snowmobile Club for the purpose of maintaining their snowmobile trails to 

be open for use by the public. These funds will be released after the Town is reimbursed for the 

2021-2022 registration, as determined by the State of Maine. 

ARTICLE 34:   To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Tax Collector to accept any 

prepayments of taxes not yet due or assessed. Any taxes paid above the amount finally assessed 

shall be repaid without interest upon request.   

ARTICLE  35:    To see if the Town will vote to set the interest rate to be paid by the Town 

on abated taxes at 3% for the fiscal year.  

ARTICLE 36: To see if the Town will vote to appropriate $55,000 from overlay to pay tax 

abatements and applicable interest granted during the 2024 year. Explanation: Even through 36 

M.R.S.A §710 authorizes assessors to raise overlay, the municipal officers have no authority to

spend the amount of overlay without an appropriation vote.

ARTICLE 37: To see if the Town will vote to set a date for taxes to become due and payable 

and to fix interest rate of 7% for interest charged on taxes unpaid after this or 30 days after the 

bills are mailed out, whichever is later. 

ARTICLE  38:  To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to waive 

foreclosure of a tax lien mortgage and pursuant to state statute if (1) the taxpayer agrees in 

writing to pay outstanding balance within one (1) year; and (2) no such waiver has been 

granted by the Town Select Board within the past three (3) years. 

ARTICLE  39:  To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Select Board to waive 

foreclosure of a tax lien mortgage pursuant to State statue on such terms as may be determined 

by the Select Board to be in the Town’s best interest.  

ARTICLE  40:  To see if the Town will authorize the Select Board to sell any tax-acquired 

property and/or Town-owned property the Select Board deems no longer purposeful for 

municipal use and to issue a quit claim deed for the same. Sales to be by sealed bid, public 

auction or contract with a real estate broker, if to other than the owner of record at the time of 

foreclosure, and no Select Board member during the term of his or her office may acquire from 

the Town any interest in real estate acquired by the Town on account of nonpayment of taxes 

unless the owner of record at the time of foreclosure was the Select Board member or the son, 

daughter, spouse, or parent of the Select Board member. Except that the Municipal Officers 

shall use the special sale process required by 36 M.R.S §943-C for qualifying homestead 

property if they choose to sell to anyone other than the former owner(s).  

DRAFT



ARTICLE  41: To see if the Town will vote to authorize the Selectmen to accept and expend 

State and Federal Grant funds received during the fiscal year.    

ARTICLE  42:  To see if the Town will vote to move from GMFR Special Liability Account 

known as Sale of Fire Truck, in the amount of $2,777.50 from the sale of a 1993 Freightliner into 

the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as GMFR Vehicle Reserve Account. 

 Select Board Vote:        Budget Committee Vote: 

ARTICLE  43:  To see if the Town will vote to carry forward from fiscal year 2022/2023 into 

fiscal year 2023/2024 the unexpended balance in the funds from the sale of SCBA Equipment in 

the amount of $850.00 to be deposited into the existing non-lapsing reserve account known as 

GMFR Facility Capital Fund 

Select Board Vote:        Budget Committee Vote: 

Given under our hand at Lyman, Maine this ____15th ___  day of ___May__, A.D., 2023. 

Ralph “Rusty” Blackington; Chair Thomas Hatch; Vice Chair 

David Alves Jessica Picard 

John Tibbetts DRAFT



From: Brian
To: Selectmen Board Clerk
Subject: Snowmobile club lease
Date: Tuesday, May 2, 2023 11:45:17 AM

It’s been a while sense any mention of the lease for the snowmobile club. We are asking for this to be put on the
agenda, to be discussed at the next select board meeting. 

 Thank you
 Brian Dulong
 Club president

ITEM #7: (b.) Agenda Request - Discussion for Snowmobile Club

mailto:z28dulong@roadrunner.com
mailto:selectboard@lyman-me.gov


From: Angie Lewie
To: Selectmen Board Clerk
Cc: Office Admin
Subject: Davis Rd Lease
Date: Friday, May 5, 2023 2:18:02 PM

Hi Laurie,

We are inquiring to see if we are able to renew our lease of the Davis Road Pit for another 3
year term and are sending the new lease with the hopes of being considered ahead of the lease
expiration on 06/30/23. We are open to a modification of the duration or terms, if required by
the selectboard. Please let us know if this is agreeable, and if anything else is needed from us
at this time.

Have a nice weekend!

Best,
Angie Lewie
Office Manager
Steele Nickel Inc.

207-216-1600
www.steelenickel.com

ITEM #7: (d.) Davis Road Lease inquiry 

mailto:admin@steelenickel.com
mailto:selectboard@lyman-me.gov
mailto:admin@steelenickel.com
http://www.steelenickel.com/


ITEM #7: (e.) Rustic Dreams catering application renewal





























Committee Applications 

Bunganut Park Committee 

William P Single 

Michelle Feliccitti 

Holy Hart 

Karen Kane 

Kevin Veilleux 

IT Committee 

William P Single 

Nigel Sampson 

Michelle Feliccitti 

ITEM #7: (f. & g.) Committee Applications 


	Lyman Audit Proposal.pdf
	Lyman Audit Proposal
	TOWN OF LYMAN, MAINE
	Table of Contents

	LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL
	Town of Lyman
	11 S. Waterboro Road
	Lyman, Maine 04002
	Thank you for the opportunity to submit the following proposal to provide audit services to the Town of Lyman for the years ended June 30, 2024 through June 30, 2028. If chosen as the auditor for the Town, we feel that we will work well with your staf...

	Lyman Audit Proposal


	Account: 29084
	Line1: Town of Lyman
	Line2: 11 South Waterboro Rd
	Line3: Lyman Me 04002
	Line4: 
	Line5: Town of Lyman,
	Line1x: 05/04/2023
	Gallons: 1200
	Type: [Propane]
	Line6: 05/01/2023
	Line7: 04/30/2024
	PricePerGallon: 1.799
	Gallons2: 1200
	Product2: Propane
	AccountP2: 29084
	Date2: 05/11/2023
	AccountP3: 29084
	Print Name: 
	Champagnes Energy Representative: 
	ChampagnesERep2: 
	Date: 
	Date_2: 


